
1 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District  
Board of Education 

"Building a Bright Future for All Learners" 
 

Regular Board Meeting 
October 18, 2023 
6:00 p.m. Closed Session 
7:00 p.m. Open Session 

Galt City Hall Chamber 
380 Civic Drive, Galt, CA 95632 

 
To join the webinar remotely: 

https://galt-k12-ca.zoom.us/j/89280153155 
Or One tap mobile : 

    +16699006833,,89280153155# US (San Jose) 
    +16694449171,,89280153155# US 

Webinar ID: 892 8015 3155 
 

AGENDA 
Anyone may comment publicly on any item within the Board's subject matter jurisdiction to the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District Board 
of Education. However, the Board may not take action on any item not on this Board meeting agenda except as authorized by Government Code 
section 54954.2. 
− Complete a public comment form indicating the item you want to address and give it to the board meeting assistant. 
− Public comment via Zoom teleconference by notifying the board meeting assistant through the chatbox feature in Zoom (please include 

agenda item topic) or by using the raised hand feature in Zoom during the agenda item to be addressed. You will be identified by your Display 
Name in Zoom when called upon to speak.  

− Individual speakers shall be allowed three minutes to address the Board on each agenda or non-agenda item.  
− Public comments emailed to superintendent@galt.k12.ca.us 24 hours before the board meeting will be posted on the GJUESD website with 

the agenda. Email public comment is limited to 450 words. 
− The Board shall limit the total time for public input on each item to 20 minutes. With Board consent, the president may increase or decrease 

the time allowed for public presentation, depending on the topic and the number of persons wishing to be heard.  
 
Board of Education Meetings are recorded. 

 
A. 6:00 p.m. – Closed Session Location: Galt City Hall Conference Room 
   
B. Announce items to be discussed in Closed Session, Adjourn to Closed Session  
    
 1. STUDENT MATTER, Education Code §35146, 48918(c) 

 Case No. 23/24-01 
 

    
 2. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR, Government Code §54957.6 

Agency Negotiator: Lois Yount, Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano, Kuljeet Nijjar, Alejandra Garibay 
 Employee Agency: (GEFA) Galt Elementary Faculty Association 
 Employee Agency: (CSEA) California School Employee Association 
 Non-Represented Employees 

    
 3. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE/DISMISSAL/RELEASE §54957  
    
C. Adjourn Closed Session, Call Meeting to Order, Flag Salute, Announce Action Taken in Closed 

Session 
   

mailto:superintendent@galt.k12.ca.us


2 
 

D. Board Meeting Protocol 
  
E. Presentations & Recognitions 
 1. Student Council, River Oaks Elementary 
 2. Leesa Klotz, Galt Community of Character Coalition: Character Education Month 
 3. Lorenzo Hines Jr., Galt City Manager: Commercial Cannabis 
  
F. Communications 
 1. 2023-2024 LCAP and Adopted Budget Report 
   
G. Public Comments for topics not on the agenda 

Public comment is limited to three minutes or less, pending Board President's approval. 
  
H. Reports  
 LCAP GOAL 1 

Engaging learners in PreK-8 through a focus on equity, access, and academic rigor with inclusive practices in various learning environments. 
 1. Cosumnes River Preserve and Grant Funding  
 2. Professional Development Days: October 12-13, 2023 
   
 LCAP GOAL 2 

Promoting PreK-8 whole learner development through social and emotional learning opportunities in a variety of safe and supportive 
environments. 

 1. 2023 Lights on Afterschool  
    
 OTHER REPORTS  
 1. Uniform Complaint Process (UCP) Quarter 1 Report  
 2. Galt Schools JPA  
 3. School Calendars  
    
I. Routine Matters/New Business  
 232.427 Consent Calendar  
  a. Approval of the Agenda 

At a regular meeting, the Board may act upon an item of business not appearing on the posted 
agenda if, first, the Board publicly identifies the item, and second, one or more of the following 
occurs: 
1) The Board, by a majority vote of the entire Board, decides that an emergency (as defined in 

Government Code section 54956.5) exists or 
2) Upon a decision by a two-thirds vote of the Board, or if less than two-thirds of the Board 

members are present, a unanimous vote of those present, the Board decides that there is a 
need to take immediate action and that the need for action came to the attention of the 
District after the agenda was posted; or  

3) The item was posted on the agenda of a prior meeting of the Board occurring not more than 
five calendar days before the date of this meeting, and at the preceding meeting, the item 
was continued to this meeting. 

MOTION 

     
  b. Minutes  
    September 20, 2023 Regular Meeting  
     
  c. Payment of Warrants 

 Vendor Warrants: 24438252-24438322; 24439611-24439670; 
24441064-24441131; 24442572-24442628 

 Payroll Warrants: 9/29/2023, 10/10/2023 

 

     
     



3 
 

  d. Personnel  
    Resignations/Retirements 

 Leave of Absence Requests 
 New Hires/Reclassifications 

 

     
  e. Donations  
     
  f. Out-of-State Conference Attendance: Vanessa Bridgeman  
     
  g. Out-of-State Conference Attendance: Erika Duenas, Carlos Castillo, 

Heather Nelson, Abby Jones 
 

     
  h. Non-Public Schools and Agencies Master Contracts 

 Maxim Staffing  
 Soliant 

 

     
 232.428 Consent Calendar (Continued) – Items Removed for Later Consideration MOTION 
    
 232.429 Board Action Regarding Student Matter No. 23/24-01 MOTION 
    
 232.430 Public Hearing of Resolution No. 6 Approving the Galt Joint Union 

Elementary School District’s School Facilities Needs Analysis, Adopting 
Residential School Facilities Fees in Compliance with Government Code 
Sections 65995.5 and 65995.6, and Making Related Findings and 
Determinations [Level 2 Fee] 

PUBLIC 
HEARING 

    
 232.431 Board Consideration of Approval of Resolution No. 6 Approving the Galt 

Joint Union Elementary School District’s School Facilities Needs Analysis, 
Adopting Residential School Facilities Fees in Compliance with Government 
Code Sections 65995.5 and 65995.6, and Making Related Findings and 
Determinations [Level 2 Fee] 

MOTION 

    
 232.432 Board Consideration of Approval of Resolution No. 7; Resolution Approving 

a Site Lease, A Sublease, and a Construction Services Agreement Relating to 
the Maintenance and Operations Shop Project 

MOTION 

    
 232.433 Board Consideration of Approval of Resolution No. 8; Authorizing 

Continued Funding Application to the California Department of Education 
MOTION 

    
 232.434 Board Consideration of Approval to Apply for the Bus Rebate Program 

through the US Environmental Protection Agency  
MOTION 

    
J. Public Comments for topics not on the agenda 

Public comment is limited to three minutes or less, pending Board President's approval.  
   
K. Pending Agenda Items  
 1. Acceleration Blocks  
    
L. Adjournment  
    



4 
 

    
    
    

The next regular meeting of the GJUESD Board of Education: November 15, 2023 
  

 
 

Board agenda materials are available for review at the address below. Individuals who require disability-related 
accommodations or modifications, including auxiliary aids and services, to participate in the Board meeting should 

contact the Superintendent or designee in writing. 
 

 Lois Yount, District Superintendent 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 
superintendent@galt.k12.ca.us 

 

 



Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 
  

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 

 

Meeting Date:      October 18, 2023 Agenda Item:  Closed Session 
 

Presenter:            Lois Yount Action Item:  
 Information Item: XX 
  

 
1. STUDENT MATTER, Education Code §35146, 48918(c) 

 Case No. 23/24-01 
  
2. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR, Government Code §54957.6 

Agency Negotiator: Lois Yount, Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano, Kuljeet Nijjar, Alejandra Garibay 
 Employee Agency: (GEFA) Galt Elementary Faculty Association 
 Employee Agency: (CSEA) California School Employee Association 
 Non-Represented Employees 

  
3. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE/DISMISSAL/RELEASE §54957 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

Revised February 9, 2022 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

BOARD MEETING PROTOCOL 

 

 

SESSION INTRODUCTION 

1. The meeting is being recorded. 
2. The meeting is open to the public. 
3. The meeting is being broadcast live through Zoom teleconference. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

1. Public comments are three minutes per agenda item. 
2. The Board shall limit the total time for public comment for each agenda item to 20 

minutes. 
3. With Board consent, the Board President may increase or decrease the time allowed for 

public comment. 
4. To make a public comment via Zoom teleconference, notify the board meeting assistant 

through the chatbox feature in Zoom (please include agenda item topic) or by using the 
raised hand feature in Zoom during the agenda item to be addressed. You will be 
identified by your Display Name in Zoom when called upon to speak. 

5. To make a public comment in person, complete a public comment form indicating the 
item you would like to address and give it to the board meeting assistant. 

Email Public Comment 

1. Public comments emailed to superintendent@galt.k12.ca.us 24 hours before the board 
meeting will be posted to the GJUESD website with the agenda.  

2. Email public comment is limited to 450 words. 

 

BOARD VOTE AND CONNECTIVITY 

1. Each motion will be followed by a roll call vote for action items. 
2. Should a board member attend the meeting remotely and lose connectivity by 

teleconference or phone, the meeting will be delayed five minutes. 

 

REGULAR BOARD MEETINGS SHALL BE ADJOURNED BY 10:30 P.M. 

 

mailto:superintendent@galt.k12.ca.us


Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 
  

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 

 

Meeting Date:      October 18, 2023 Agenda Item: Presentations & Recognitions 
 

Presenter:            Lois Yount Action Item:  
 Information Item: XX 

 
 

1. Student Council, River Oaks Elementary 
 

2. Leesa Klotz, Galt Community of Character Coalition: Character Education Month 
In observance of October as Character Education Month in California, the Galt 
Community of Character Coalition representative, Leesa Klotz will speak in support of 
Character Education that presently exists in Galt schools.   

 
3. Lorenzo Hines Jr., Galt City Manager: Commercial Cannabis 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



220-6712

Galt Voter Attitudes 
Toward Cannabis Issues

Key Findings of a Citywide Survey 
Conducted February 25-March 2, 2023



2

Dates February 25-March 2, 2023

Survey Type Dual-mode Voter Survey

Research Population City of Galt Voters

Total Interviews 361 Registered Voters Including 
347 Voters Likely to Cast a Vote in 2024

Margin of Sampling Error (Full Sample) ±5.2% at the 95% Confidence Level
(Half Sample) ±7.3% at the 95% Confidence Level

Contact Methods

Data Collection Modes

Survey Tracking 2021 & 2022

Languages English and Spanish

(Note: Not All Results Will Sum to 100% Due to Rounding)

Survey Specifics and Methodology

Text
Invitations

Telephone
Calls

Email
Invitations

Telephone
Interviews

Online
Interviews



3

Introducing 
Cannabis Issues



4
Q3.

Legal
20%

Illegal
29%

Unsure/
Don't 
Know
51%

As far as you know, is it legal to sell cannabis products, 
also known as marijuana, in the City of Galt?

Less than one-third of voters are aware that it is 
illegal to sell cannabis products in Galt.



5

36%

22%

7%

29%

6%

Q4. (2023) Do you generally support or oppose allowing retail cannabis businesses within Galt city limits? 
(2021) As you may know, voters in California legalized the recreational use of marijuana and empowered cities to establish local cannabis regulations.  
Proposition 64 also gave cities the choice as to whether to allow commercial cannabis businesses to operate in their cities. Do you generally support or
oppose allowing cannabis businesses within Galt city limits? 

30%

20%

8%

36%

7%

Total 
Support

50%

Total 
Oppose

43%

Strongly support

Somewhat support

Somewhat oppose

Strongly oppose

Don’t know

Total 
Support

58%

Total 
Oppose

36%

2021 2023

A majority of voters support lifting the ban on 
cannabis sales in Galt, with an overall increase in 

support in the past two years.



6

Regulations



7
Q6. 

6%

20%

51%

18%

5%

Between 5 and 6

Between 3 and 4

Between 1 and 2

None

Don't know

Voters are most comfortable with allowing
1-2 cannabis businesses within city limits.

Regardless of whether or not you support allowing retail cannabis within Galt city limits, if the 
City were to allow commercial cannabis businesses within the Galt city limits, what do you 

think is the appropriate number of cannabis retail businesses in Galt? 



8

Q7. I am going to mention different rules and regulations that may be included if retail cannabis businesses were allowed to legally operate within Galt city 
limits. Please tell me whether you support or oppose that particular feature of this ballot measure. 

65%

64%

64%

61%

16%

17%

15%

18%

6%

8%

5%

6%

10%

10%

13%

10%5%

Requiring independent testing to ensure 
cannabis products are free of harmful 

pesticides and other contaminants

Requiring dispensaries to have on-site 
certified security guards during hours of 

operation, safety lighting, and security 
cameras that can be viewed remotely by 

law enforcement

Requiring medical and adult use 
cannabis dispensaries to be located 
at least 600 feet away from schools, 
day care centers, and youth centers

Requiring dispensaries to meet high 
labor standards to protect workers’ 

health and safety, the right to unionize, 
and guarantee a living wage, 

paid sick leave, and healthcare benefits

Strng. Supp. Smwt. Supp. Smwt. Opp. Strng. Opp. Don't Know Total 
Supp.

Total 
Opp.

81% 15%

81% 18%

79% 18%

79% 16%

(Ranked by Total Support)

Voters offer the strongest support for requiring 
independent testing of products and on-site security.



9

Q7. I am going to mention different rules and regulations that may be included if retail cannabis businesses were allowed to legally operate within Galt city 
limits. Please tell me whether you support or oppose that particular feature of this ballot measure. 

56%

53%

51%

43%

42%

34%

18%

21%

23%

21%

21%

18%

6%

8%

7%

9%

9%

13%

17%

16%

15%

25%

25%

27%

5%

7%

Permitting cannabis retail stores 
to sell cannabis products to adults

ages 21 and older

Allowing medical cannabis sales

Limiting medical and adult use cannabis 
dispensaries’ public hours of operation to 
sell cannabis products to 10 AM to 10 PM

Allowing for the delivery of 
cannabis products to adults living in the 

City who are ages 21 and older

Allowing retail cannabis sales

Strng. Supp. Smwt. Supp. Smwt. Opp. Strng. Opp. Don't Know
Total 
Supp.

Total 
Opp.

74% 24%

74% 24%

73% 21%

63% 34%

63% 34%

53% 40%

(Ranked by Total Support)

Prohibiting cannabis cafes and onsite 
consumption receives the least support.

Prohibiting cannabis cafes 
and the onsite consumption of 

cannabis products at medical and 
adult use cannabis dispensaries



10

Support for a 
Cannabis 

Tax Measure



11

Q2. in your personal opinion, do you think the City of Galt has a great need for additional funding, some need, a little need, or no real need for additional funds 
to provide the level of City services that Galt residents need and want? 

28%

24%

35%

44%

43%

33%

10%

11%

9%

11%

12%

14%

6%

9%

9%

2023

2022

2021

Great Need Some Need A Little Need No Real Need Don't Know
Great/
Some 
Need

A Little/
No Real 

Need

72% 22%

68% 23%

68% 24%

Nearly three quarters of voters see 
a need for additional funding.



12
Q5. 

45%

25%

7%

20%

4%

Strongly support

Somewhat support

Somewhat oppose

Strongly oppose

Don't know

Total 
Support

69%

Total 
Oppose

27%

More than two-thirds support a 10% gross 
receipts tax on cannabis businesses, initially.

Regardless of whether you support allowing retail cannabis businesses within Galt city limits, 
if the City were to allow commercial cannabis businesses within the Galt city limits, would you 
support or oppose a gross receipts tax of up to 10% on businesses that dispense cannabis for 

adult recreational use to help funding for general governmental purposes?



13

Ballot Measure Language Tested

Q12. Based on this description, would you vote yes or no on this measure? 

If the City goes ahead with legalizing retail cannabis businesses,
it may place a measure on the ballot for voters to consider in an
upcoming City Election. If the proposition entitled City of Galt
Services Measure is placed on the ballot it may read as follows:

Shall a measure to provide funding to City of Galt for general
government use, such as public safety, parks, roads, and other
services and programs by taxing cannabis retail businesses at a
rate of not more than 10% of gross receipts, raising about
$400,000 annually, until ended by voters, be adopted?



14
Q12. Based on this description, would you vote yes or no on this measure? 

All Voters Likely November 2024 Voters

Three in five say they are likely to 
vote “yes” on a proposed tax measure.

42%
14%

4%

3%
6%

28%

3%

42%
13%

4%

3%
6%

28%

3%

Definitely yes
Probably yes

Undecided, lean yes

Undecided, lean no

Probably no
Definitely no

Undecided

Total 
Yes
60%

Total 
No

37%

Total 
Yes
60%

Total 
No

37%

56% 55%



15

Conclusions
• Galt voters feel positively about the direction of the city, although nearly

three-quarters say there is a need for additional funding.
• They are broadly unaware whether or not cannabis is illegal in Galt.

• However, when told that the City is considering allowing the sales of cannabis
within city limits a majority support the proposal.
 They are most comfortable with allowing 1-2 businesses in the city.

• Support is also durable in the face of educational and critical statements.
• Messages focused on cannabis’s use for medical purposes and the strict

regulations imposed on where businesses can locate are particularly compelling.
• Voters also offer strong support for a measure to tax cannabis businesses,

both in concept and in the form of a proposed ballot question.

• Overall, the findings suggest that the electorate is likely to support allowing
cannabis businesses within city limits and to support a potential tax measure.



Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 
  

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 

 

Meeting Date:      October 18, 2023 Agenda Item:  Communication 
 

Presenter:            Lois Yount Action Item:  
 Information Item: XX 
  

   

1. 2023-2024 LCAP and Adopted Budget Report 
  
  
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 







Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 
  

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 

 

Meeting Date:      October 18, 2023 Agenda Item: Reports 
 

Presenter:            Lois Yount Action Item:  
 Information Item: XX 

 
 

LCAP GOAL 1 
Engaging learners in PreK-8 through a focus on equity, access, and academic rigor with inclusive practices in various learning environments. 
1. Cosumnes River Preserve and Grant Funding  
2. Professional Development Days: October 12-13, 2023 
  
  
LCAP GOAL 2 
Promoting PreK-8 whole learner development through social and emotional learning opportunities in a variety of safe and supportive environments. 
1. 2023 Lights on After School 
  
  
OTHER REPORTS 
1. Uniform Complaint Process (UCP) Quarter 1 Report 
2. Galt Schools JPA 
3. School Calendars 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board of Education Meeting: October 18, 2023 
 

 
LCAP GOAL 1 

 

 
 
 
LCAP GOAL 1 
Engaging learners in PreK-8 through a focus on equity, access, and academic rigor with inclusive practices in a variety of learning 
environments. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

1. Cosumnes River Preserve and Grant Funding 
Lois Yount, Superintendent and Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano 

  
2. Professional Development Days: October 12-13, 2023 

Lois Yount, Superintendent and Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano 
  
  



Cosumnes River Preserve

&

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

October 2023 

Environmental Education 

Update



The United States Bureau of Land Management 

has selected 21 Restoration Landscapes 

across 11 western states.

• restore public lands

 

• strengthen communities and local economies



Cosumnes River 

Preserve 

• only project in 

California 

• budgeted to 

receive $7.6 million

Inflation Reduction Act funding

•     Ecosystem restoration



April 2023 

GJUESD submitted Cooperative Agreement proposal to BLM

• $300,000 

• Increase access for underserved youth and adults

• Provide environmental education and outdoor recreation 

• During school & after-school

• Expand canoe program

• Purchase additional dock &

  ramp with railings

• Purchase safety equipment 

 and paddles

• Fund bus transportation

• Ensure program continuation and 

  continuity



February-June 2023

Ongoing collaboration with

• Wilderness Inquiry

• Bureau of Land Management

• GJUESD 

GJUED signed MOU to purchase large canoes and trailer

• Increase outdoor education and recreation opportunities

Grant funding from 

• Sierra Club

• The Nature Conservancy



June 2023

Drove to MN to take delivery of the custom trailer and 4 canoes



September 25, 2023

Director Tracy Stone-Manning, United States Bureau of Land Management,

Visits the Cosumnes River Preserve

 



Tracy Stone-Manning,

  United States BLM Director

Karen Mouritsen, 

 California State BLM Director

Amy L Fesnock, 

 Cosumnes River Preserve Manager

Lois Yount, 

 GJUESD Superintendent

Pat Hume, 

 Supervisor, 5th District, Sacramento County

Ben Fryer, 

 Project Manager, The Conservation Fund

Liz Bellas, 

 Director of Regional Parks, Sacramento County

Sara Sweet,

 The Nature Conservancy

Caitlin Roddy, 

 CA Dept. Fish & Wildlife Program Manager

Cosumnes River Preserve Education Program Highlighted



Thus far we have had 4 GJUESD school day trips to 

Cosumnes River Preserve serving about 100 students.

1 after school class,

3 teacher workshops, 1 public event

September-December approximate totals:

26 field trips

43 teachers

900+ students



I have introduced myself to all school staff at site meetings to foster 

questions and communication between myself and those interested 

in outdoor education.

A big thank you to GJUESD staff for inviting me to participate in a 

Take Away Tuesday on October 3rd.

I provided outdoor education resources to use in classrooms 

and at school sites.

I am coordinating with GEL at all sites to revive and/or expand site 

gardens at all sites. 

More to come on this at the next board meeting.



Some Activities so Far

Nature Journaling



Acorn 

Collecting





Board Meeting

October 2023

____________________________________________________________________

Report

Report: Professional Development Days

Professional learning opportunities have been designed to grow in our professional practice and ultimately
improve the learning for all students. Our district has identified three professional learning days this year; two
in October and one in March.

October 12th and 13th have been identified as our first two professional learning days for the year. Typically,
the first professional development day involves all staff: classified and certificated. Included in this report is a
general overview of the focus areas for each of the professional development days in October.

Professional Learning Event
Thursday, October 12, 2023

CERTIFICATED STAFF

Building Thinking Classrooms
All Certificated Staff
In Person @ sites

GJUESD Mandatory Trainings
All Certificated Staff
Online

CLASSIFIED STAFF

Positive School Culture
All Staff
In Person @ Marengo Ranch

Positive Conditions of Learning & Homeless
Office Staff
In Person @ Marengo Ranch

GJUESD Mandatory Trainings
All Staff
Online

CPR/ First Aid Skills Assessment
Instructional Assistants, Yard Supervisors, GEL &
Office Staff
In Person @ Fairsite Elementary

Ladder Safety
Custodians, Grounds & Maintenance
Online

Crisis Prevention & Intervention (CPI)
Sped Instructional Assistants
In Person @ McCaffrey Middle



Professional Learning Event
Friday, October 13, 2023

BENCHMARK

PLC
AMSession

8:30 - 11:00 am
PMSession

12:00 - 2:30 pm Location

Grades K-1 Mini Lessons &
Collaborative Conv

Exploring Small Group
Instruction

MarengoRanch
RoomD6

Grade 2-3 Mini Lessons &
Collaborative Conv

Exploring Small Group
Instruction

Lake Canyon
Room 1

Grades 4- 6 Mini Lessons &
Collaborative Conv

Exploring Small Group
Instruction

Greer
BFLC

BENCHMARKADVANCE

PLC
AMSession

8:30 - 10:30 am
PMSession

12:00 - 2:30 pm Location

Grades K- 6 SDC Resources to Sca�old
Intervention

Collaboration Lake Canyon
Room 16

STEPUPTOWRITING

Grades K - 6 Training 8:30 - 2:30 pm Greer Elementary
Room3

PREK, TK and K-DUAL LANGUAGE IMMERSION

Grades PK - TK Various Trainings &
Webinars

8:30 - 2:30 pm Fairsite Elementary

Grade Kindergarten DLI ProgramEval 8:30 - 2:30 pm ValleyOaks

PHYSICALEDUCATIONANDMUSIC

PE: Grades 7-8 Outside Visitations 8:30 - 2:00 pm EG: Harris & Pinkerton

PE: Grades K-6 First Tee Training
ProgramEvaluation

8:30 - 10:30 pm
11:00 - 2:30 pm

(PE)Lake Canyon,BFLC

Music: Grades K-6 ProgramEvaluation 8:30 - 2:30 pm (Music)River Oaks Rm37

McCAFFREYMIDDLE

Core Subjects &
Special Education

Thinking Classrooms
SWAP /MAPAnalysis

8:30 - 2:25 pm McCa�reyMiddle
Rooms P3, E5

Exploratories ProgramEvaluation 8:30 - 2:25 pm McCa�reyMiddle

SPECIALISTS

Speech, Psychologists,
Counselors

ProgramEvaluation 8:30 - 4:00 pm (speech)MMS, Conf Rm
(counselors)VO,Conf Rm

(psychs)LC,Conf Rm



 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board of Education Meeting: October 18, 2023 
 

 
LCAP GOAL 2 

 

 
 
LCAP GOAL 2 
Promoting PreK-8 whole learner development through social and emotional learning opportunities in a variety of safe and supportive 
environments. 

 
1.  2023 Lights on Afterschool 

Kuljeet Nijjar, Educational Services Director 

 
Lights on Afterschool is on October 26th from 4:30-6:00 p.m. at Greer Elementary School. It is 
the only nationwide event celebrating aftershcool programs and their important role in the 
lives of children, families and communities. 

 
 



LIGHTS ON AFTER SCHOOL 2023

Galt Expanded Learning presents

Come join us on October 26th 4:30-6:00 p.m.
at Greer Elementary School where games,

raffle prizes and food will be available!

Li
g

ht
s 

O
n 

Af
te

rsc
hool is the only nationwide event celebrating

af
te

rs
ch

ool programs and their important role 

in
 th

e 
liv

es o
f  c

hildren, families and com

m
unities.

*ALL GJUESD GEL Programs will be closing at 4 p.m. for this event.



 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board of Education Meeting: October 18, 2023 
 

 
OTHER REPORTS 

 

 
 
 
OTHER REPORTS 
 

1. Uniform Complaint Process (UCP) Quarter 1 Report 
Lois Yount, Superintendent 

  
  
2. Galt Schools JPA 

Lois Yount, Superintendent 
  
 The Joint Powers Agreement was executed on December 12, 1990 by Galt Joint Union 

Elementary School District and Galt Joint Union High School District. The purpose of this 
agreement was to provide financing for facilities. Approximately $12 million in bonds were 
issued to fund facility projects. In fiscal year 2020-21, the bonds were refinanced to save $1.7 
million and shortened the final bond term by one year to November 1, 2023. The final bond 
payment has been issued. The agreement states that the JPA no longer owns any interest once 
the bonds are paid in full. On October 9, 2023 the JPA Board approved a Resolution 
acknowledging the termination of the JPA.   
 
For the 2023-24 fiscal year, there is a proposed estimated balance of $1.6 million. Any 
remaining balance after fees and professional services will be split equally between the two 
school districts. These funds can be used for facility projects.  
 

  
  
3. School Calendars 

School Administrators 
 



Quarterly District Report: Williams Uniform Complaint Process (UCP)
Properly submitting this form to SCOE serves as your district’s Williams UCP Quarterly Complaint Report per Education 
Code § 35186(d). All fields are required.

SUBMITTER INFORMATION

     
Name  Job Title  Phone Number
Person submitting form    Include area code

 
E-mail Address

DISTRICT INFORMATION

     
School District  Year Covered by This Report  Quarter Covered by This Report
 

COMPLAINTS
Sufficiency of Textbooks

Total Number of Textbook Complaints
Enter 0 if none.

Number of Textbook Complaints Resolved
Enter 0 if none.

Number of Textbook Complaints Unresolved
Enter 0 if none.

Emergency School Facilities Issues

Total Number of Emergency Facilities Complaints
Enter 0 if none.

Number of Emergency Facilities Complaints Resolved
Enter 0 if none.

Number of Emergency Facilities Complaints Unresolved
Enter 0 if none.

 

Vacancy or Misassignment of Teachers

Total Number of Vacancy/Misassignment Complaints
Enter 0 if none.

Number of Vacancy/Misassignment Complaints Resolved
Enter 0 if none.

Number of Vacancy/Misassignment Complaints Unresolved
Enter 0 if none.

Page 1 of 2



RESOLUTION OF COMPLAINTS

Briefly summarize the nature of complaints and how they were resolved.
Enter “N/A” if no complaints were received. If you need more space, enter “sent by e-mail” and send your summary to Shannon Hansen with your report.

REPORT INCLUDES ALL COMPLAINTS FOR THIS QUARTER
The number of UCP complaints (textbooks, facilities, and teachers categories) filed for the quarter being reported MUST 
be entered in this report. Please check the box below confirming this:

Includes All UCP Complaints
All UCP complaints for the indicated quarter are being reported—from my district office and all school sites in my district.

By submitting this form, you certify that the information is complete and accurate, and that you have verified the accuracy 
of the report information by contacting each school in your district. The report includes ALL UCP complaints in the above 
categories received at school sites in the district, plus the district office.

RETURN INSTRUCTIONS
After completing the form in its entirety, save the file and e-mail it to Erika Franzon at the Sacramento County 
Office of Education (SCOE): efranzon@scoe.net.

Page 2 of 2







Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 

   1 2 

 

Acceleration Blocks 

2:45 

3  
 

 

 

 

End of 1st Trimester 

1:00 pm Dismissal  

4 

5 

 

Daylight Saving  

Time Ends  

6 

 

Acceleration Blocks 

2:45 

7 

MTSS  

 

Acceleration Blocks 

2:45 

8 9 

House Rally  

1:55 PM  

 

Acceleration Blocks 

2:45 

10 

 

 

11 

12 13 

 

Staff Meeting  
2:45 - BFLC   

14 15 

 

Fire Drill 11:00  

 

GJUESD Board 

Meeting 7:00 PM  

16 17 18 

19 20 21 22 23 24 25 

26 27 

 

Acceleration Blocks 

2:45 

28 

 

Acceleration Blocks 

2:45 

29 

Keiser/Page to 

Cosumnes River 

Preserve 
 

5th Wednesday 

30 
 

Shelter in Place  

Drill 8:10  

1  

Lake Canyon Board Calendar  
November 2023 

THANKSGIVING BREAK 
No School November 20 - 24 

Academic Progress Check In   

12:30 PM Dismissal (Grades 1-6)  

NO SCHOOL  

Kinder Dismissal 1:00 



SUN MON TUE WED THU FRI SAT 

    
 

1  
 
 
 
 
 

C O L L E G E  D A Y  

2  
 

R e c y c l i n g   
L e s s o n s -  2 n d  
g r a d e  1 2 : 3 0  

3  
 

E n d  o f   
t r i m e s t e r  

M i n i m u m  d a y  

4  

5  6  
 

M T S S  
 

P T K C  M e e t i n g  
3 p m  

7  
 

V i s i o n   
S c r e e n i n g  

 
Y a r d  M e e t i n g  

8  
 

E m e r g e n c y   
D r i l l  

 

M i s m a t c h  D a y  

9  
 

R e c y c l i n g   
L e s s o n s -  2 n d  
g r a d e  1 2 : 3 0  

1 0  
 

N O  S C H O O L  
V e t e r a n ’ s  D a y  

1 1  

1 2  1 3  
 

1 4  
 

1 5  
 
 
 

C O L L E G E  D A Y  

1 6  
 

R e c y c l i n g   
L e s s o n s -  2 n d  
g r a d e  1 2 : 3 0  

1 7  
 

K i n d e r  1 p m  
D i s m i s s a l  

1 8  

1 9  2 0  
 

2 1  2 2  
 

2 3  
 

T h a n k s g i v i n g  
D a y  

2 4  2 5  

2 6  2 7  2 8  2 9  
 
 
 
 

C O L L E G E  D A Y  

3 0     

November 2023 
Board Calendar– What’s happening this month at Marengo Ranch? 

Important District  

Reminders 

1 1 / 0 2   
A d m i n  M e e t i n g  
 
 
1 1 / 1 4  
N e g o t i a t i o n s  
 
 
1 1 / 1 5   
B o a r d  M e e t i n g  
 
 
1 1 / 1 6   
G E F A  
 
 
1 1 / 2 9   
5 t h  W e d n e s d a y  
 
 
1 1 / 3 0 - 1 2 / 0 1  
P r o g r e s s  
C o n f e r e n c e s  
1 2 : 3 0  d i s m i s s a l  
 
 
F a c i l i t i e s  U s e :  
P a r k s  &  R e c  
B - B a l l  M - T h  
 

SUN MON TUE WED THU FRI SAT 

    
 

1  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

C O L L E G E  D A Y  

2  
 

R e c y c l i n g   
L e s s o n s -  2 n d  
g r a d e  1 2 : 3 0  

3  
E n d  o f   

t r i m e s t e r  
M i n i m u m  d a y  

 
B  B a l l  P r a c t i c e  

4  

5  6  
 

M T S S  
 

P T K C  M e e t i n g  
3 p m  

7  
 

V i s i o n   
S c r e e n i n g  

 
Y a r d  M e e t i n g  

8  
 

M i s m a t c h  D a y  

 
E m e r g e n c y   

D r i l l  

9  
S p e l l i n g  B e e  

8 : 4 5  
 

R e c y c l i n g   
L e s s o n s -  2 n d  
g r a d e  1 2 : 3 0  

1 0  
 

N O  S C H O O L  
V e t e r a n ’ s  D a y  

1 1  

1 2  1 3  
 

1 4  
 
 
 

L e a r n i n g  E v e n t  

1 5  
 
 
 
 

C O L L E G E  D A Y  

1 6  
 

R e c y c l i n g   
L e s s o n s -  2 n d  
g r a d e  1 2 : 3 0  

1 7  
M o r n i n g  S i n g  

 

K i n d e r  1 p m  
D i s m i s s a l  

B  B a l l  P r a c t i c e  

1 8  

1 9  2 0  
 

2 1  2 2  
 

2 3  
 

T h a n k s g i v i n g  
D a y  

2 4  2 5  

2 6  2 7  2 8  
 

A c a d e m i c   
C o n f e r e n c e   

K - 3  
L o c k d o w n  D r i l l  

2 9  
 

C o o k i e  D o u g h  
o r d e r s  d u e !  

 
 

C O L L E G E  D A Y  

3 0  
 

T r i m e s t e r   
A w a r d s  

   



Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 

   1 2 3 4 

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 

19 20 21 22 23 

 

24 25 

26 27 28 29 30   

November 2023 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 

   1 2 

 

3 4 

5 

 

6 7 8 

 

9 

 

10 11 

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 

19 20 21 22 23 24 25 

26 27 28 

 

29 30   

McCaffrey Middle School 

Academic Progress Check-in -  Min Days 

Club Live - Library 
During Lunches 

Club Live - Library 
During Lunches 

Club Live - Library 
During Lunches 

No School -  Nov 20 - Nov 24

No School  
Veteran’s Day 

Observed 

Hearing Testing 
 

Vision Testing 

Fire Drill 2:20pm 

Kona Ice - Lunch Time 

End of 1st Trimester 
Minimum Day 

Staff Meeting 

Board Meeting @ 7pm 

Environmental Club  
to CRP 

Sports:  8th Grade Basketball - Oct 23 - Dec 7  
              Boys Indoor Soccer - Oct 25 - Dec 16 
            Wrestling  - Nov - Jan 
 
Fundraiser: Kona Ice 
   Mac & Cheese / Can Food 

 Make-up Vision Testing  



Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

1 

 

 

2 

 

 

KONA ICE 

 

3         

  

 

End of Trimester 

1:00 Dismissal 

 

4 

5 

 

6 

 

7 

 

 

8 

 

 

9 

 

10 

 

Veteran's Day  

NO SCHOOL 

11 

12 13 

 

 

 

ELAC Meeting 8:30 

 

14 

 

6th Field Trip to  

Consumes Preserve 

 

15 

 

 

 

Board Meeting 7:00 

16 

5th Field  Trip to 

River Bend 

 

GEFA/CSEA 

17 

 

Report Cards go Home 

 

18 

19 20 21 22 23 24 25 

26 27 

 

 

 

28 

 

 

 

 

PTA Meeting 

29 

 

30 

Trait Treat Celebration 

 

Academic Progress 

Check-in  

12:30 Dismissal 

1 2 

River Oaks Elementary 
     November 2023 

Thanksgiving Break 



                                           

                                                                                                                     
Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday 

  1 2 3 

6 7 8 9 10 
 

NO SCHOOL 

13 14 15 16 17 

20 21 22 23 24 

27 28 29 30  

David Nelson 

Principal 

  

Leah Wheeler 

Assistant 
Principal 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Valley Oaks 
Elementary School 

21 C Street 

Galt, CA 95632 

Phone: (209) 745-1564 

Fax: (209) 744-4565 

  

District Office 

1018 C Street, Suite 210 

Galt, CA 95632 

Phone: (209) 744-4545 

  

 

NO SCHOOL: Thanksgiving Break 



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: October 18, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.427 
Board Consideration of Approval of Consent 
Calendar 
 

Presenter: Lois Yount Action Item: XX 
  Information Item: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

a. Approval of the Agenda 
  
b. Minutes 
  September 20, 2023 Regular Board Meeting 
  
c. Payment of Warrants 

 Vendor Warrants: 24438252-24438322; 24439611-24439670; 24441064-24441131; 
24442572-24442628 

 Payroll Warrants: 9/29/2023, 10/10/2023 
  
d. Personnel 
  Resignations/Retirements 

 Leave of Absence Requests 
 New Hires/Reclassifications 

  
e. Donations 
  
f. Out-of-State Conference Attendance: Vanessa Bridgeman 
  
g. Out-of-State Conference Attendance: Erika Duenas, Carlos Castillo, Heather Nelson, Abby Jones 
  
h. Non-Public Schools and Agencies Master Contracts 

 Maxim Staffing 
 Soliant 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



1 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District  
Board of Education Minutes 

 
Regular Board Meeting 
September 20, 2023 
 

Vernon E. Greer Elementary School 
Bright Future Learning Center/Library 

248 West A Street, Galt, CA 95632 
 

Zoom Meeting ID: 
835 2644 4647 

 
Board Member Administration 
Wesley Cagle Lois Yount Carlos Castillo 
Traci Skinner Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano Elaine Trull 
Casey Raboy Kuljeet Nijjar Laura Papineau 
Annette Kunze Alejandra Garibay Leah Wheeler 
Katherine Harper   

 
A. 6:00 p.m. – Closed Session Location: Vernon E. Greer Elementary, Room 3 

Present for closed session: Wesley Cagle, Traci Skinner, Casey Raboy, Annette Kunze, Katherine 
Harper, Lois Yount, Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano, Kuljeet Nijjar, Alejandra Garibay 

   
B. Wesley Cagle called the Closed Session to order at 6:00 p.m. to discuss the following 

items: 
 

    
 1. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR, Government Code §54957.6 

Agency Negotiator: Lois Yount, Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano, Kuljeet Nijjar, Alejandra Garibay 
 Employee Agency: (GEFA) Galt Elementary Faculty Association 
 Employee Agency: (CSEA) California School Employee Association 
 Non-Represented Employees 

    
 2. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE/DISMISSAL/RELEASE §54957  
    
C. Closed Session adjourned at 7:03 p.m. Wesley Cagle announced no action was taken in closed 

session. 
   
D. Lois Yount, Superintendent, shared the Board Meeting Protocol. 
  
E. Presentations & Recognitions 
 1. Robert L. McCaffrey Student Leadership Report 

 
Students Adel Samuels and Michelle Schenone addressed the Board to share what the student 
leadership class has accomplished in the past month. Their focus is the idea of one team in class 
and across campus. They want everyone to know they are one family at McCaffrey. The students 
then shared the leadership team's values, activities and fundraising efforts. 

  
F. Public Comments 

There were no public comments. 



2 
 

  
G. Reports  
 LCAP GOAL 1 

Engaging learners in PreK-8 through a focus on equity, access, and academic rigor with inclusive practices in various learning environments. 
 1. Enrollment Update 

 
Lois Yount reported there are 3,393 students enrolled in the GJUESD. That is up 32 students 
compared to the end of the 2022-2023 school year. She indicated enrollment increased at all 
school sites except for the two schools with only two kindergarten classes. 

   
 LCAP GOAL 2 

Promoting PreK-8 whole learner development through social and emotional learning opportunities in a variety of safe and supportive 
environments. 

 1. Facilities Master Planning 
 
Lois Yount reported Architectural firm 19six is performing site visits this month to 
determine facility needs. They are also in the process of reviewing and evaluating the 
District's existing plans and projects completed to date. The completed Master Plan 
should be presented to the Board by April 2024.  
 
Ms. Yount said the District is in the process of establishing a Steering Committee that 
would meet 3-4 times between October and April. This Committee will review and 
give feedback on the Master Plan and the facility's long-term goals for the District.  
 
The District would like a Board member, 2-3 principals, 2-3 teachers, and 
maintenance staff to participate in this Committee.  
 
Ms. Yount said Carlos Castillo, Jennifer Porter, and David Nelson, Principals, will 
participate.  
 
Traci Skinner said she could participate if needed. 

 

    
 OTHER REPORTS  
 1. Jennings Property Lease 

 
Lois Yount reported District and City staff met on August 23, 2023 to continue 
planning for a potential City lease of the District's Jennings property at 320 W Elm 
Avenue. She indicated the project would take approximately two years to complete. 
 
Summary of topics discussed: 

• The City would prefer a lease term of at least 25 years 
• A lease would include a cancellation clause if the City did not develop the land 

in the time specified 
• Payment to the District for the property- The District's goal is to recover 

attorney fees associated with developing this lease 
• Insurance costs and liability need to be researched for both parties  
• The City would develop two softball fields, a parking lot, and bathrooms  
• Potential City funding sources- Measure Q, Developer Fees and  other 

Financing Options  

 



3 
 

 
Next Steps:  
The District's legal counsel will have a draft agreement for the City and District to 
review by the end of October.  
 
Lois Yount said the GJUESD will work to recover attorney fees from the City associated 
with developing property. The City and GJUESD will research insurance costs and 
liability. The project is estimated to cost between $2 and $4 million. The City plans to 
use Measure Q developer fees and other financing options.  

    
 2. Fentanyl Awareness Community Information Meeting: September 12, 2023 

McCaffrey Middle School 
 
Lois Yount thanked Annette Kunze and the Galt Teen Center for organizing the 
meeting. She indicated it was an excellent presentation. There is a video for parents 
on the GJUESD website. 
 
Annette Kunze thanked the staff for their efforts to host the meeting. 

 

    
 3. School Calendars 

School principals highlighted events from their October 2023 calendars. Lois Yount 
highlighted Fairsite Elementary's calendar. 

 

    
H. Routine Matters/New Business  
 232.412 Consent Calendar 

 
Wesley Cagle pulled item i. Bid for Site Work for Three Portable Classrooms at 
Lake Canyon Elementary School from the Consent Calendar for later 
consideration. 
 
Traci Skinner made a motion to approve the Consent Calendar [minus item i. 
Bid for Site Work for Three Portable Classrooms at Lake Canyon Elementary 
School] seconded by Casey Raboy. The motion carried unanimously.  

 

    
  a. Approval of the Agenda Consent 

Calendar 
     
  b. Minutes  
    August 16, 2023 Regular Board Meeting  
     
  c. Payment of Warrants 

 Vendor Warrants: 24431669-24431732; 24433571-24433649; 
24434741-24434820; 24436107-24436152; 24437009-24437083 

 Payroll Warrants: 8/11/23, 8/31/23, 9/8/23 

 

     
  d. Personnel  
   Resignations/Retirees 

 

Name Position Effective Date Site 

Chikwendu, Rose School Nurse 8/31/23 District Office 

 



Recommend approval of the following:

Resignations/Retirees

Name Position Effective Date Site

Butler, Krista Teacher 10/31/23 Vernon E.Greer

Gray, Jennifer Yard Supervisor 09/28/23 McCaffrey Middle

Velez, Cristina Bilingual Community Outreach
Assistant

10/13/23 Fairsite Preschool

Leave of Absence Requests

Name Position Effective Date Site
Durnell, Anna Teacher 11/1/23 Lake Canyon

Giglia, Sarah Teacher 11/3/23 Vernon E. Greer

Hill, Jessica Teacher 09/28/23 Vernon E. Greer

Ketner, Danielle Teacher 12/11/23 Lake Canyon

LaCayo, Jamie Teacher 12/4/23 River Oaks

Narasky, Amanda Yard Supervisor 9/25/23 Vernon E. Greer

Raygoza-Montes, Neyda Instructional Assistant, Special
Education

9/19/23 Vernon E. Greer

Soria, Veronica Yard Supervisor 9/18/23 Lake Canyon

Suarez, Rosy Instructional Assistant, Special
Education

9/11/23 McCaffrey Middle

Sunde, Brianna Instructional Assistant 9/18/23 Valley Oaks

Valencia, Isabel Health Assistant 2 10/9/23 Marengo Ranch

New Hires/Reclassifications/Status Changes

Name Position Site

Alcamo, Heather Classified Substitute N/A

Antolin, Diana Certificated Substitute N/A

Benxon, Ashley Classified Substitute N/A

Crandell, Alayna Certificated Substitute N/A

Debastiani, Janine Instructional Assistant, Special Education Fairsite Preschool

Derouen, Katie Instructional Assistant Valley Oaks

Heeney, Makayla Certificated Substitute N/A

Hooper, Kelly Classified Substitute N/A

Kellogg, Sheena Classified Substitute N/A

Koch, Reyna Classified Substitute N/A

Lopez De Vera, Fabiola (Status Change) Instructional Assistant, Expanded Learning Valley Oaks

Moe, Stehanie Classified Substitute N/A

Pamplona, Ariana (Status Change) Instructional Assistant, Expanded Learning Marengo Ranch

GJUESD Board Meeting October 18, 2023



Human Resources
Page 2

Pedraza, Samantha (Status Change) Bilingual Instructional Assistant, Expanded
Learning

River Oaks

Plant, Darla Certificated Substitute School Nurse N/A

Ramirez, Alejandro Instructional Assistant, Expanded Learning River Oaks

Reeve, James Instructional Assistant River Oaks

Sharp, Glenna (Status Change) Preschool Instructional Assistant Fairsite Preschool

Torres, Isabel Bilingual Instructional Assistant Fairsite Preschool

Usher, Claire Yard Supervisor River Oaks

Van Valkenburg, Barbara Classified Substitute N/A

Velasquez, Guadlupe Certificated Substitute N/A

Villalobos Hinojosa, Orlando Instructional Assistant, Special Education McCaffrey Middle



6 
 

has sufficient bonding capacity to support a possible bond measure in 
November 2024.  
 
The District recommends Board approval to partner with FM3 Research to 
conduct public opinion research regarding a possible November 2024 bond 
measure. For this project, FM3 recommends conducting a 15 to 20-minute 
dual-mode (telephone and online) survey among a randomized sample of likely 
voters within the GJUESD. FM3 will aim to get as many responses as possible, 
expecting them to complete 500 interviews. 
 
Staff from GJUESD, Galt High School District, and Arcohe Elementary School 
District have been collaborating on the possibility of a joint public opinion 
survey. This could potentially reduce survey costs for each participating District. 
 
Richard Bernard, Partner, FM3, provided additional information. He indicated 
the intent is to survey 500 random likely voters. The randomly selected voters 
would answer the survey by phone, and a portion would answer online. 
Because potential voter selection is random, it ensures that the particular 
District's demographics mirror the respondents'. This gives a statistically high 
likelihood of being able to tell the District the probability of success with a bond 
measure within a margin of error. Mr. Bernard described the survey as asking 
questions related to education finance, educational statements, and other 
critical education statements to see how people react as they learn more about 
the school district and the needs of the District. This allows FM3 to simulate the 
effect of outreach by the District and any opposition. Similarly, they would test 
the high school area to glean information about simultaneously having both 
measures on the ballot. 
 
Annette Kunze asked how FM3 will reach out to voters in the age of mobile 
phones and viruses. She said people are worried about answering unsolicited 
calls. Also, people who live in the area may have area codes from different 
locations. 
 
Mr. Bernard said the registrar of voters knows who is currently registered in the 
District using a multitude of data sources. FM3 will randomly sample by cellular 
phone, landline, email, and text.  
 
Wesley Cagle made a motion to approve FM3 Research (Fairbank, Maslin, 
Maullin, Metz & Associates) Proposal to Conduct Public Opinion Research, 
seconded by Annette Kunze. The motion carried unanimously. 

    
 232.417 Annette Kunze made a motion to approve Resolution No. 3, Authorized 

Signatories for the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District, seconded by 
Traci Skinner. The motion carried unanimously. 

Res 3 Auth 
Sig 

    

 232.418 Annette Kunze asked what role parents have in their children being selected for 
support through acceleration blocks. She also would like to know the 
attendance requirement and how the District ensures these sessions are 
effectively used. Ms. Kunze said she appreciated the limited time being clear in 

GEFA Side 
Letter re 

Accel 
Blocks 



7 
 

the agreement so the District doesn't create a new normal inadvertently 
regarding the $80 per hour versus $55.  
 
Lois Yount responded that parent communication and parent permission are 
required before a student can participate. Typically, teachers communicate 
with parents initially during Parent Conference Week. The goal is for a small 
group of 6 to 8 students. Teachers are asked to take attendance, and principals 
should approve it. If attendance drops to 2, 3, or 4 students, we expect that a 
teacher would invite other students. Teachers can ask students from their 
grade level or even from different grade levels if they desire to do so.  
 
The Board requested a follow-up report to see how the program is going. The 
District will provide multiple reports through the end of the school year 
depending on teacher participation and when the acceleration blocks begin. 
 
Traci Skinner made a motion to approve the Side Letter of Agreement Between 
GJUESD and the Galt Elementary Faculty Association (GEFA) Regarding 
Acceleration Blocks for the 2023-24 School Year, seconded by Wesley Cagle. 
The motion carried unanimously. 

    
 232.419 Luis Murillo, Consulting Actuary, Total Compensation Systems, reported on the 

estimated cost of providing retirement health benefits to employees and the 
requirement for putting this liability on the District financial statements. 
Currently, the District retiree benefits include medical, dental, and vision for 
five years or until age 65, whichever comes first. The District pays about 100% 
of the premium up to a cap. Mr. Murillo said 357 employees and 33 retirees 
were included in the valuation. Every year, the District can expect those 
liabilities to increase by about $300,000, assuming no other changes. He 
indicated a complete evaluation will be conducted next year.  
 
Traci Skinner made a motion to approve the GJUESD Actuarial Study of Retiree 
Health Liabilities Under GASB 74/75 For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2023, 
seconded by Casey Raboy. The motion carried unanimously. 

Actuarial 
Study 

    

 232.420 Alejandra Garibay, Chief Business Official, reported the Unaudited Actuals is 
the annual statement reporting period of actual expenditures as of June 30, 
2023. She presented a summary of the 2022-23 Unaudited Actuals.   
 
Annette Kunze made a motion to approve the 2022-23 Unaudited Actuals, 
seconded by Casey Raboy. The motion carried unanimously. 

Unaudited 
Actuals 

    
 232.421 Wesley Cagle made a motion to approve Resolution No. 4, Resolution of the 

Governing Board to Commit Fund Balance for 2023-24, seconded by Traci 
Skinner. The motion carried unanimously. 

Res 4 
Commit 

Fund 
Balance 

    

 232.422 Katherine Harper made a motion to approve Resolution No. 5, GANN LIMIT, 
seconded by Casey Raboy. The motion carried unanimously. 

Res 5 
GANN 

Limit 
    



8 
 

 232.423 Casey Raboy made a motion to approve a Substitute Teacher Pay Rate Increase, 
seconded by Traci Skinner. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sub 
Teacher 

Pay Rate 
Increase 

    

 232.424 A First Reading of Board Policy 3314.2 Revolving Funds was held. The second 
reading is waived to allow the District to accept donations and fundraisers via 
electronic payment immediately.  
 
Annette Kunze made a motion to approve Board Policy 3314.2, Revolving 
Funds, seconded by Casey Raboy. The motion carried unanimously. 

BP 3314.2 
Revolving 

Funds 

    
 232.425 Casey Raboy made a motion to approve Opening a Venmo Account for the Galt 

Joint Union Elementary District, seconded by Wesley Cagle. The motion carried 
unanimously. 

Venmo 
Account 

    

 232.426 Annette Kunze made a motion to approve the following Board Policies (BP), 
Administrative Regulations (AR) and Bylaw (BB), seconded by Casey Raboy. The 
motion carried unanimously. 
 

Superintendent 
1. BP 1113 - District and School Websites 

AR 1113 - District and School Websites 
2. BP 4140/4240/4340 - Bargaining Units 
3. BB 9322 - Agenda/Meeting Materials 

Curriculum 
4. BP 4112.2 – Certification 

AR 4112.2 – Certification 
5. BP 6174 - Education for English Learners 

AR 6174 - Education for English Learners 
Educational Services 

6. BP 5141.5 - Mental Health 
7. BP 5148 - Child Care and Development 

AR 5148 - Child Care and Development 
8. DELETE: BP 6146.4 - Differential Graduation and Competency Standards 

for Students with Disabilities  
9. BP 6159.2 - Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School and Agency Services for 

Special Education 
AR 6159.2 - Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School and Agency Services for 
Special Education 

Board 
Policies 

    
I. Public Comments for topics not on the agenda 

Public comment is limited to three minutes or less, pending Board President's approval.  
   

 Recommendation Current Rates 

Daily $220 $210 

Multiple Day (15+ days) $240 $230 

Long Term (long-term vacancy or leave of 
absence or 15 or more consecutive days) 

$300 $270 

GJUESD Retirees $240 $230 

 



9 
 

J. Pending Agenda Items  
 1. GEFA Acceleration Blocks  
    
K. Adjournment 8:43 p.m.  
    
    
    
    
 The next regular meeting of the GJUESD Board of Education: October 18, 2023 
  

 
 

Board agenda materials are available for review at the address below. Individuals who require disability-related 
accommodations or modifications, including auxiliary aids and services, to participate in the Board meeting should 

contact the Superintendent or designee in writing. 
 

 Lois Yount, District Superintendent 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 
superintendent@galt.k12.ca.us 

 

 



Recommend approval of the following:

Resignations/Retirees

Name Position Effective Date Site

Gray, Jennifer Yard Supervisor 09/28/23 McCaffrey Middle

Velez, Cristina Bilingual Community Outreach
Assistant

10/13/23 Fairsite Preschool

Leave of Absence Requests

Name Position Effective Date Site
Durnell, Anna Teacher 11/1/23 Lake Canyon

Giglia, Sarah Teacher 11/3/23 Vernon E. Greer

Hill, Jessica Teacher 09/28/23 Vernon E. Greer

Ketner, Danielle Teacher 12/11/23 Lake Canyon

LaCayo, Jamie Teacher 12/4/23 River Oaks

Narasky, Amanda Yard Supervisor 9/25/23 Vernon E. Greer

Raygoza-Montes, Neyda Instructional Assistant, Special
Education

9/19/23 Vernon E. Greer

Soria, Veronica Yard Supervisor 9/18/23 Lake Canyon

Suarez, Rosy Instructional Assistant, Special
Education

9/11/23 McCaffrey Middle

Sunde, Brianna Instructional Assistant 9/18/23 Valley Oaks

Valencia, Isabel Health Assistant 2 10/9/23 Marengo Ranch

New Hires/Reclassifications/Status Changes

Name Position Site

Alcamo, Heather Classified Substitute N/A

Antolin, Diana Certificated Substitute N/A

Benxon, Ashley Classified Substitute N/A

Crandell, Alayna Certificated Substitute N/A

Debastiani, Janine Instructional Assistant, Special Education Fairsite Preschool

Derouen, Katie Instructional Assistant Valley Oaks

Heeney, Makayla Certificated Substitute N/A

Hooper, Kelly Classified Substitute N/A

Kellogg, Sheena Classified Substitute N/A

Koch, Reyna Classified Substitute N/A

Lopez De Vera, Fabiola (Status Change) Instructional Assistant, Expanded Learning Valley Oaks

Moe, Stehanie Classified Substitute N/A

Pamplona, Ariana (Status Change) Instructional Assistant, Expanded Learning Marengo Ranch

GJUESD Board Meeting October 18, 2023



Human Resources
Page 2

Pedraza, Samantha (Status Change) Bilingual Instructional Assistant, Expanded
Learning

River Oaks

Plant, Darla Certificated Substitute School Nurse N/A

Ramirez, Alejandro Instructional Assistant, Expanded Learning River Oaks

Reeve, James Instructional Assistant River Oaks

Sharp, Glenna (Status Change) Preschool Instructional Assistant Fairsite Preschool

Torres, Isabel Bilingual Instructional Assistant Fairsite Preschool

Usher, Claire Yard Supervisor River Oaks

Van Valkenburg, Barbara Classified Substitute N/A

Velasquez, Guadlupe Certificated Substitute N/A

Villalobos Hinojosa, Orlando Instructional Assistant, Special Education McCaffrey Middle



 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board Meeting: October 18, 2023 
 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

Donations 
 

  
 
 

e. Donations 
 

Greer and River Oaks  
• Jordan’s Tree Service donated five trees valued at $1,125.00  

  



 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board Meeting: October 18, 2023 
 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

Out-of-State Conference Attendance 
 

  
 

f. Out-of-State Conference Attendance 
 
 National Association of School Psychologists: Annual Conference 
 

NASP Annual conference will provide participants sessions  on the latest research regarding 
mental health, family supports, academic interventions, assessment and behavioral 
strategies.  Information will be shared with staff and MTSS teams through on site trainings.  
 
Attendees: Vanessa Bridgeman 
 
Conference Dates: February 14- 17 2024 
 
Location: New Orleans, Louisiana 
 
Approximate Cost: $1134.50 
 
Funding Source:  Half through LEA Collaborative and half through personal employee 
contribution 

 
 
 



 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board Meeting: October 18, 2023 
 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

Out-of-State Conference Attendance 
 

  
 

g. Out-of-State Conference Attendance 
 

California Association Directors of Activities State Convention 
 

The CADA State Convention is the largest event in the nation for Activities Directors. The 
CADA organization is the number one organization in the United States for teaching and 
developing leadership skills students will use for the rest of their lives as they learn to serve 
their schools, communities, and families. The convention will provide you with the tools and 
resources necessary to do just that. 
 
Attendees: Erika Duenas, Carlos Castillo, Heather Nelson, Abby Jones 
 
Conference Dates: March 6-9, 2024 
 
Location:  Grand Sierra Resort, Reno, NV 
 
CADA School Membership valid July 1-June 30 each year 
Up to 3 members for one membership plus $75 for each additional person. 
$300+$75=$375 
 
CADA State Convention Fees 
$455/attendee   
$455 x 4 = $1820 
 
Grand Sierra Resort March 6-9 
$469.62/room   
$469.62 x 4 = $1878.48 
 
Mileage (from McCaffrey Middle School to Grand Sierra Resort) 
157 miles one direction   
157 x 2 = 314 miles 
62.5 cents per mile   
0.625 x 314 =$196.25 $196.25 x 4 = $785 
 
Approximate Cost: $4858.48 
Funding Source:  Title 1 
 

 
 



 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board of Education Meeting: October 18, 2023 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

Non Public Schools/Agencies Contracts 
 

 
 

h.  2023-24 Master Contracts for Non Public Schools and Agencies providing services to 
students whose needs cannot be met in the district’s programs. 

 
Master Contracts No. 1 through 6 were adopted at the August 16, 2023 board meeting. 
 
Master Contracts No. 7 through 9 were adopted at the September 20, 2023 board meeting. 

 
 

  10.  Maxim Staffing 

  11.  Soliant 

   

          

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             

 

 

 

 

 























































































































































































Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 

 

Meeting Date:      October 18, 2023 Agenda Item:  232.428 
Consent Calendar (continued)- Items 
Removed For Later Consideration 
 

Presenter:            Lois Yount Action Item: XX 
 Information Item:  

 
 
The Board will have the opportunity to address any items that are moved from the consent 
calendar. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: October 18, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.429  
Board Action Regarding Student Matter No. 
23/34-01 

 
Presenter: Kuljeet Nijjar Action Item: XX 

  Information Item: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: October 18, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.430 
Public Hearing of Resolution No. 6 Approving 
the Galt Joint Union Elementary School 
District’s School Facilities Needs Analysis, 
Adopting Residential School Facilities Fees in 
Compliance with Government Code Sections 
65995.5 and 65995.6, and Making Related 
Findings and Determinations [Level 2 Fee] 
 

Presenter: Alejandra Garibay Public Hearing: XX 
  Information Item: 
 
 

Pursuant to Government Code § 65995.5, the District may levy an alternative fee (“Level 2 fee) to 
the District’s Level 1 fee if certain requirements are met.  The School Facility Needs Analysis 
(“Needs Analysis”), prepared by SCI Consulting Group, is required annually to establish the need for 
and level of the Level 2 Fee.   The District has been made eligible for new construction funding 
under the School Facility Program and satisfies two of the four statutory requirements necessary to 
levy Level 2.  Furthermore, the Needs Analysis has determined that the District is justified in 
imposing a district-wide Level 2 fee at the K-8 rate of $3.85 per square foot for new residential 
development.  The Level 2 fee is increasing by $0.27 per square foot primarily due to construction 
cost inflation. 
 
In order to adopt the School Facility Needs Analysis and impose the Level 2 fees justified in the 
Needs Analysis, the District must conduct a public hearing and adopt Resolution 7 adopting the 
Needs Analysis and the Level 2 fee.  
 
The Level 2 fee takes effect immediately upon adoption and is effective for a period of one year.   
 
Attachments:    Resolution 6 
  School Facility Needs Analysis, October 2023 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



 

GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 

Resolution No. 6 
 

Resolution of the Board of Trustees  
Approving the Galt Joint Elementary School District’s  

School Facilities Needs Analysis, Adopting Residential School Facilities Fees in 
Compliance with Government Code Sections 65995.5 and 65995.6,  

and Making Related Findings and Determinations 
 

 
RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees (the "Board") of the Galt Joint Union Elementary School 
District (the "District"), County of Sacramento, State of California, that:  
 
WHEREAS, this Board has had a School Facility Needs Analysis (“Needs Analysis”) prepared 
as outlined in Section 65995 of the California Government Code; and  
 
WHEREAS, said Need Analysis outlines the shortfall in revenues without levying fees as 
authorized in Sections 65995.5 and 65995.6 of the Government Code.  
 
WHEREAS, the purpose of this Resolution is to approve and adopt fees pursuant to Government 
Code Section 65995.5 and 65995.6 on residential development projects in the amount of $3.85 per 
square foot. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED as follows:  
 

1. The Board hereby receives and approves the School Facility Needs Analysis, October 
2023 as prepared by SCI Consulting Group. 
 

2. Based upon said Needs Analysis, the Board makes the following findings. 
a.) The purpose of the fees is to provide adequate school facilities for the students of the 

District who will be generated by residential development in the District. 
b.) The fees are to be used to finance the construction and reconstruction of school 

facilities for new students generated by residential development. 
c.) There is a reasonable relationship between the need for the fees, the use of the fees, 

and the development projects on which the fees are imposed. 
d.) There is a reasonable relationship between the amount of the fees and the cost of the 

facilities attributable to the development projects on which the fees are imposed. 
 

3. The Board hereby finds and determines the necessity to levy the fees authorized in 
Sections 65995.5 and 65995.6 of the Government Code in the amount of $3.85 per square 
foot of new residential development.   

 
4. The imposition of the fees shall take effect immediately. 

 
 



 

5. The Superintendent or designee shall notify the City of Galt and the County of Sacramento 
having jurisdiction over territory within the District and request that no building permits 
be issued on or after this date without certification from the District that the fees specified 
herein have been paid. 

 
6. The Board hereby finds that prior to the adoption of this Resolution, the Board conducted 

a public hearing at which oral and written presentations were made, as part of the Board's 
regularly scheduled October 18, 2023, meeting. Notice of the time and place of the 
meeting, including a general explanation of the matter to be considered, was published in 
a newspaper in accordance with Sections 65995.5 and 65995.6 of the California 
Government Code and at least 30 days prior to the meeting. A copy of said Needs Analysis 
was mailed to any interested party who had filed a written request with the District for 
mailed notice of the meeting on new fees within the period specified by law.  Additionally, 
at least 30 days prior to the meeting the District made available to the public the final Needs 
Analysis for review.   

 
7. If any portion of this Resolution is found by a Court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, 

such finding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this resolution. 
 

APPROVED, PASSED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of October 2023 by the following vote: 
 
AYES: 
NOES:  
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT: 
 
      ____________________________________ 

President, Board of Trustees 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Secretary, Board of Trustees 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District   



    
 

 

 

 

GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY 

SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS 
 

OCTOBER 2023 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PREPARED FOR: 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PREPARED BY: 

 
 
4745 MANGELS BOULEVARD 
FAIRFIELD, CALIFORNIA  94534 
PHONE  707.430.4300 
www.sci‐cg.com 



    
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK) 

 

 

 



  PAGE i 

  
 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Wesley Cagle, President 

Traci Skinner, Vice President 

Casey Raboy, Clerk 

Katherine Harper, Member 

Annette Kunze, Member 

 

SUPERINTENDENT 

Lois Yount 

 

CHIEF BUSINESS OFFICIAL 

Alejandra Garibay 

 

FACILITY PLANNING CONSULTANT 

SCI Consulting Group 
 

 

 

   



  PAGE ii 

  
 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK) 



  PAGE iii 

  
 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................. 1 

INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................... 1 
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS ......................................................................................... 2 
SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS .......................................................................... 4 

DISTRICT PROFILE .................................................................................................. 5 

DISTRICT PROFILE ................................................................................................. 5 
EXISTING SCHOOL BUILDING CAPACITY AND ENROLLMENT ............................................. 5 

PROJECTIONS AND DEMOGRAPHICS ............................................................................ 6 

PROJECTED DEVELOPMENT ..................................................................................... 6 
STUDENT GENERATION RATES ................................................................................. 7 
ENROLLMENT FROM NEW HOUSING ......................................................................... 8 
UNHOUSED ENROLLMENT ....................................................................................... 8 
NEW RESIDENTIAL BUILDING AREA ........................................................................... 9 

LEVEL 2 FEE DETERMINATION ................................................................................. 10 

ALLOWABLE COSTS ............................................................................................. 10 
LEVEL 2 FEE DETERMINATION ................................................................................ 11 

SCHOOL SITES, FACILITIES, AND LOCAL FUNDING SURPLUSES .......................................... 13 

SURPLUS SCHOOL SITES........................................................................................ 13 
SURPLUS SCHOOL FACILITIES ................................................................................. 13 
SURPLUS LOCAL FUNDS ........................................................................................ 13 

LEVEL 2 & 3 FEE ELIGIBILITY ................................................................................... 16 

LEVEL 2 AND 3 FEES ............................................................................................ 16 
LEVEL 3 FEE DETERMINATION ................................................................................ 17 

NEXUS FINDINGS ................................................................................................. 18 

APPENDICES ....................................................................................................... 20 

APPENDIX A – REQUIREMENTS FOR ADOPTION OF NEEDS ANALYSIS .............................. 21 
APPENDIX B – EXISTING SCHOOL BUILDING CAPACITY DETERMINATION .......................... 22 
APPENDIX D – BONDING CAPACITY CALCULATION...................................................... 23 
 

   



  PAGE iv 

  
 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

LIST OF FIGURES 

FIGURE 1 – EXISTING SCHOOL BUILDING CAPACITY AND ENROLLMENT (2022‐23) ................... 5 

FIGURE 2 – RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT PROJECT LIST, CITY OF GALT .................................... 6 

FIGURE 3 – FIVE‐YEAR PROJECTED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT ........................................... 7 

FIGURE 4 – STUDENT GENERATION RATES FOR NEW HOUSING ............................................. 7 

FIGURE 5 – ENROLLMENT GENERATED FROM NEW HOUSING ............................................... 8 

FIGURE 6 – NEW RESIDENTIAL SQUARE FOOTAGE ............................................................. 9 

FIGURE 7 – ALLOWABLE COSTS FOR CONSTRUCTION AND GENERAL SITE DEVELOPMENT .......... 10 

FIGURE 8 – LEVEL 2 FEE DETERMINATION ...................................................................... 12 

FIGURE 9 – LEVEL 3 FEE DETERMINATION ...................................................................... 17 

 



PAGE 1 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

INTRODUCTION 

This School Facility Needs Analysis (“Needs Analysis”) was prepared pursuant to 

the  requirements  of  Senate  Bill  50,  Chapter  407;  Statues  1998  (hereinafter 

“Chapter 407/98” or “SB 50”), which became effective on November 4, 1998, after 

voters in California supported Proposition 1A.  The purpose of this Needs Analysis 

is  to evaluate  the need  for and  the amount of developer  fees allowed  for new 

residential  construction,  pursuant  to  Chapter  407/98  for  the  Galt  Joint  Union 

Elementary School District (“District”). 

 

Chapter 407/98 authorizes qualifying school districts to levy three different levels 

of developer fees.  These three levels of fees are from Government Code Sections 

65995,  65995.5,  and  65995.7.    Developer  fees  levied  pursuant  to Government 

Code Section 65995 are typically called “Statutory fees,” “Stirling fees,” or “Level 

1 fees,” and the current maximum Stirling fee amounts for K‐12 facilities are $4.79 

per  square  foot  of  residential  construction  and  $0.78  per  square  foot  of 

commercial/industrial construction.  These amounts are adjusted every two years 

in  an  amount  equal  to  the  statewide  cost  index  for  Class  B  construction,  as 

determined by  the  State Allocation Board  (“SAB”)  at  its  January meeting.    The 

District shares the K‐12 commercial/industrial fee with the Galt Joint Union High 

School District.  The District currently collects 60 percent or $0.4686 per square 

foot of new commercial area constructed within the District. 

 

Chapter 407/98 established two new sections, Section 65995.5 and 65995.7, that 

allow  school  districts  to  impose  higher  fees  on  residential  construction  if  the 

school  district  meets  certain  conditions.    Government  Code  Section  65995.5 

provides for an alternative fee (hereinafter the “Level 2 fee”) that may provide 

approximately 50 percent of the cost of school construction and site costs (using 

statewide average costs). 

 

Government  Code  Section  65995.7  provides  for  developer  fees  that would  be 

approximately twice the amounts authorized for Level 2 fees.  This “Level 3 fee” 

may be levied by school districts if State funding becomes unavailable from the 

State Allocation Board.  In essence, Section 65995.7 allows a district to double the 

Level 2 fee effectively.  However, if the district later receives any State funding, 

any amounts collected in excess of Level 2 or 3 fees would have to be reimbursed 

to the developers from whom it was collected. 



PAGE 2 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

In  order  to  impose  such  fees,  this  Needs  Analysis  must  make  the  following 

determinations: 

 Determine  if  the District has been approved as eligible by  the State 

Allocation Board (“SAB”) for new construction grant funds under the 

School Facility Program (“SFP”); and 

 Determine if the District has satisfied two of the four requirements set 

forth in Government Code Section 65995.5(b)(3) and 

 Determine the District’s maximum allowable Level 2 and Level 3 fees 

as  authorized  by  Government  Code  Sections  65995.5  and  65995.7, 

respectively. 

  

In addition  to making  these determinations,  this Needs Analysis must establish 

that a reasonable relationship or “nexus” exists between new development that 

occurs within the District and the need for additional school facilities as a result of 

new development.  More specifically, this Needs Analysis will present findings in 

order to meet the procedural requirements of the Mitigation Fee Act, also known 

as AB 1600, which are as follows: 

1. Identify the purpose of the fee; 

2. Identify the use to which the fee is to be put;   

3. Determine how there  is a reasonable relationship between the fee’s 

use and the type of development project on which the fee is imposed;   

4. Determine how there is a reasonable relationship between the need 

for the public  facility and the type of development project on which 

the fee is imposed;  

5. Determine how there is a reasonable relationship between the amount 

of  the  fee and the cost of  the public  facility or portion of  the public 

facility attributable to the development on which the fee is imposed. 

 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 

1. School  capacity  pursuant  to  SB  50  is  calculated  on  a  teaching  station  basis 

whereby all permanent classrooms are counted.  Portable classrooms are also 

counted, but only up to the amount that equals 25 percent of the number of 

permanent classrooms.  Using this measure of school capacity, the District’s 

State Capacity in FY 2022‐23 is 4,000 K‐8 students. 

2. The District  has  an  enrollment,  as  of October  2022,  of  3,246  K‐8  students.  

Therefore, the District’s enrollment does not currently exceed existing school 

capacity.    However,  the  excess  capacity  is  insufficient  to  house  the  new 



PAGE 3 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

students  generated  by  new  development,  and  new  school  facilities will  be 

required for enrollments generated by the new residential development. 

3. Based on a study of historical residential construction and the City of Galt’s 

current  development  plan  for  new  homes,  approximately  456  new  single‐

family homes and 95 multi‐family units are forecast to be constructed within 

the District over the next five years. 

4. A student generation rate analysis of newly constructed residential units finds 

that each new single‐family home generates an average of 0.448 K‐8 students, 

and each new multi‐family home generates an average of 0.462 K‐8 students. 

5. Over the next five years, 498 additional students are projected from the 456 

new residential homes and 95 multi‐family units. 

6. Based on an average new single‐family residential home size of 2,300 square 

feet  and  a  multi‐family  residential  unit  size  of  850  square  feet,  the  total 

projected new residential area is 1,127,000 square feet. 

7. The current allowable costs for new school construction pursuant to SB 50 are 

$15,983 per elementary student and $16,904 per middle school student. 

8. In addition to new school construction costs, SB 50 states that 50 percent of 

site  acquisition,  site  development  costs,  and  offsite  development  can  be 

included.    The  allowable  site  acquisition  and  site  development  costs  per 

student  for  the District  are  $2,693  per  elementary  student  and  $8,923  per 

middle school student. 

9. The  total  allowable  costs  per  student  for  Level  2  fees  are  $17,589  per 

elementary student and $18,863 per middle school student. 

10. Using  these  cost  factors  and  the  projected  number  of  new  homes,  the 

maximum amount chargeable to residential development for the Level 2 fee 

is  $4,337,481.    Of  this  total  amount,  $3,374,904  is  attributable  to  new 

elementary school facilities, and $962,577 is attributable to new middle school 

facilities. 

11. The District owns the “Jeffery T. Jennings” site for a future elementary school.  

The District has no other “surplus” school sites, surplus facilities, or other local 

funding  for  capital  improvements  that  can  be  used  to  offset  the  cost  of 

facilities needed for students from unmitigated, new residential development 

subject to the Level 2 fee. 

   



PAGE 4 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

12. Based on costs allowable by Government Code § 65995, this Needs Analysis 

determines that the maximum amount chargeable to residential development 

as an alternative “Level 2”  fee  is $3.85 per square  foot of unmitigated new 

residential  area.    Additionally,  if  new  construction  state  funding  becomes 

unavailable,  the  District  is  authorized  to  charge  a  Level  3  fee  of  $7.69  per 

square foot of new, unmitigated residential area.  

13. The District is eligible for new construction funding under the School Facility 
Program  (“SFP”)  and  satisfies  two  of  the  four  statutory  requirements 

necessary  to  levy  Level  2  fees  pursuant  to  Government  Code  Section 

65995.5(b)(3). 

 

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. The District should levy an alternative school facility fee (“Level 2 fee”) at the 

rate of $3.85 per square  foot  for all new residential development, with the 

exception of any residential development that is paying mitigation through a 

developer mitigation agreement, Mello‐Roos special tax or other special tax. 

2. The Level 2 fee should be adopted and implemented pursuant to Government 

Code  Section  65995.5  and  as  generally  summarized  in  Appendix  B  to  this 

Needs Analysis. 

3. It is important to keep in mind that the projections and related facility needs 

presented in this Needs Analysis are based on a State formula for the general 

purpose of legally justifying the need for and amount of the Level 2 fee.  SCI 

Consulting Group recommends that the District rely on more comprehensive 

and  detailed  demographic  analysis  and  facility  plans  for  long‐term  facility 

planning. 



PAGE 5 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

DISTRICT PROFILE 

DISTRICT PROFILE 

The Galt Joint Union Elementary School District encompasses the City of Galt and 

surrounding areas in Sacramento County.  According to the October 2022 CBEDS, 

the District  currently  serves 3,246 K‐8  students  in  regular education programs.  

The District currently operates  five elementary schools and one middle  school: 

Valley Oaks Elementary, River Oaks Elementary, Marengo Ranch Elementary, Lake 

Canyon Elementary, Vernon E. Greer Elementary, and Robert L. McCaffrey Middle 

School. 

 

In  reading  the  enclosed  information,  the  reader  should  be  reminded  that  the 

information presented in the Needs Analysis is relevant to the 2022‐23 school year 

and does not reflect any changes that may occur in the 2022‐23 school year. 

 

EXISTING SCHOOL BUILDING CAPACITY AND ENROLLMENT 

Pursuant to SB 50, existing school building capacity is determined by a teaching 

station methodology whereby each permanent  teaching station  is counted and 

loaded at the rate of 25 students per classroom in grades K‐6 and 27 students per 

classroom  in grades 7‐8.   Pursuant  to Education Code Section 17071.30(b),  the 

maximum number of portable classrooms included within the capacity calculation 

shall not exceed 25 percent of the number of permanent classrooms. 

 

Figure 1 presents an analysis of current enrollment  in comparison to allowable 

state capacity.  By this measure, the District’s capacities exceed enrollment by 754 

K‐12 students.  

 
FIGURE 1 – EXISTING SCHOOL BUILDING CAPACITY AND ENROLLMENT (2022‐23) 

SB50 State Oct‐22 Excess
Capacity Enrollment Capacity

Elementary School (K‐6) 2,824 2,499 325

Middle School (7‐8) 1,176 747 429

Total K ‐ 8 4,000 3,246 754
 

 

(Appendix  C  provides  the  existing  school  building  capacity  calculation  for  the 

District.) 



PAGE 6 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

PROJECTIONS AND DEMOGRAPHICS 

PROJECTED DEVELOPMENT 

Figure 2 below outlines the approved and proposed residential building projects 

registered with the City as of March 2023.  As indicated, these projects represent 

over 3,200 new residential units currently under construction, approved, or in the 

application process.   

 
FIGURE 2 – RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT PROJECT LIST, CITY OF GALT

Total  Permits Remaining  General 

Units 
1

Issued Units Status

Single Family Residential
Fairway Oaks 

2,3
173 0 173 Final Map

Greenwood Cottages 
2

226 0 226 Under Construction
Summerfield at Twin Cities Rd.  204 0 204 Final Map
Simmerhorn Ranch  461 0 461 Annexation Appproved
Veranda at Simmerhorn Ranch 193 0 193 Annexation Appproved
Caterina Estates 67 67 0 For Sale
Morali Estates 50 0 50 Final Map
Ceder Flats Estates 112 112 0 For Sale
Parlin Oaks 

2
144 0 144 Under Construction

Spur Way  4 0 0 Final Map
Oak Avenue Parcel Map 2 0 0 Final Map
Cardoso I Subdivsion 69 69 0 Under Construction
Cardoso II Subdivision 87 87 0 For Sale
First Street Parcel Map 3 0 3 Final Map
Eastview Specific Plan 

3
1,494 0 1,494 Tentative Map

TOTAL SINGLE‐FAMILY 3,289 335 2,948

 Multi Family Residential
Fairfield Res. Townhomes 172 0 172 Under Review
A Street Crossing 9 0 9 Under Review
Parlin Oaks 

2
80 0 80 Approved

Second Street Apartments 8 0 8 Approved

TOTAL MULTI‐FAMILY 269 0 269

GRAND TOTAL 3,558 335 3,217

Notes:  
1 
 Li s t excludes  senior l iving projects .  Excludes  Dry Creek Oaks .

Source: Ci ty of Gal t Planning Department.  Development project l i s t as  of March 2022

2 
Res identia l  development projects  wi thin Community Faci l i ties  Dis trict No. 1 which are not 

subject to the a l ternate Level  2 developer fee.

3
 Projects  under a  development mitigation agreement and are not subject to the Dis tri ct's  

a l ternate Level  2 developer fee.



PAGE 7 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

The  figure below  lists  the  5‐year  projected  residential  development within  the 

District.  Based on historical development, current building projects, and figures 

provided by the City of Galt Planning Department, this Needs Analysis projects 456 

single‐family homes (“SFR”) and 95 multi‐family residential units (“MFR”) will be 

constructed within the next five years.   

 
FIGURE 3 – FIVE‐YEAR PROJECTED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

Housing Type

Total Projected 

Housing Units

Single Family Residential ("SFR") 456

Multi‐Family Residential ("MFR") 95

Total Projected Residential Units 550
 

 

STUDENT GENERATION RATES 

Student  generation  rates,  otherwise  known  as  “yield  factors,”  are  the  average 

number  of  students  that  are  generated  by  each  new  housing  unit.    Student 

generation rates for new housing units were determined by SCI Consulting Group.  

The student generation rate analysis found that new single‐family homes generate 

an average of 0.448 K‐8 students, while multi‐family residential units generate an 

average of 0.462 K‐8 students. 

 
FIGURE 4 – STUDENT GENERATION RATES FOR NEW HOUSING 

Housing Type K‐6 7 ‐ 8 K ‐ 8

New Single Family Residential 0.343 0.105 0.448

New Multi‐Family Residential 0.328 0.134 0.462

 

 

 
  



PAGE 8 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

ENROLLMENT FROM NEW HOUSING 

The figure below lists the number of students projected by grade level from the 

forecasted new homes.    If 550 new housing units are constructed as projected, 

and  each  new  SFR  and  MFR  is  expected  to  yield  0.448  and  0.462  students, 

respectively, then the District enrollments will increase by approximately 249 K‐8 

students. 

 
FIGURE 5 – ENROLLMENT GENERATED FROM NEW HOUSING 

Period SFR MFR K‐6 6‐8 K‐8

5‐Years 456 95 188 61 249

Projected Homes Students Generated

 
 

UNHOUSED ENROLLMENT 

As  shown  in  Figure  1,  existing  capacity  exceeds  elementary  and middle  school 

enrollment  by  754  students.    However,  the District will  experience  enrollment 

growth beyond the five years of this Needs Analysis.  Therefore, the excess school 

capacity  will  be  needed  to  house  students  generated  from  residential  units 

constructed over the next five (5) years and residential units constructed beyond 

the five years of this Needs Analysis.  Therefore, the excess school capacity shown 

in  Figure  1 must  be  allocated  between  the  projected  residential  development 

shown in Figure 4 and residential units to be constructed beyond the following 

five years.  

 

According  to  the  City’s  2030  General  Plan  and  information  obtained  from  the 

California  Department  of  Finance,  the  District  can  expect  an  additional  2,737 

single‐family and 2,915 multi‐family units at buildout of the General Plan.  These 

figures include residential units for the next five years and residential units to be 

constructed  beyond  the  following  five  years.    Allocating  the  excess  capacity 

identified in Figure 1 between the residential units to be constructed over the next 

five years and residential units to be constructed beyond the following five years 

based on the number of students in each group of residential units is expected to 

generate results in 49 student capacity to be allocated over the next five years.  

Therefore, only 200 students of the 249 students generated by new development 

over the next five years are considered unhoused.  

 
  



PAGE 9 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

NEW RESIDENTIAL BUILDING AREA 

SCI Consulting Group analyzed building permits issued within the City of Galt over 

the  past  five  years.    This  analysis  indicates  that  single‐family  homes  were 

developed at an average of 2,300 square feet and multi‐family units at an average 

of 850 square feet.  Using these findings, Figure 6 projects that 1,127,975 square 

feet of new residential area will be developed over the next five years. 

 
FIGURE 6 – NEW RESIDENTIAL SQUARE FOOTAGE 

SFR MFR TOTAL

Average Dwell ing Size (Sq. Ft.) 2,300 850 2,051

Total Units (5 years) 456 95 550

Total Residential Square Footage 1,047,650 80,325 1,127,975

 
 
 



PAGE 10 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

LEVEL 2 FEE DETERMINATION 

Education  Code  Section  17072.10  establishes  allowable  cost  factors  for  school 

construction  that  are  used  to  determine  the  appropriate  Level  2  fee  for  new 

residential development.    These  cost  factors were developed on a per‐student 

basis and are based on approximately 50 percent of statewide school construction 

costs.    It should be noted, however, that the actual cost of school construction 

may be significantly higher than the cost factors indicate.  Any shortfall in funding 

from the State school construction bond program (funded by Proposition 47) and 

the Level 2 fee will need to be addressed by local school districts. 

 

ALLOWABLE COSTS 

Effective January 1, 2023, the allowable cost factors for new school construction 

for  2023  are  $17,589  per  elementary  student  and  $18,863  per  middle  school 

student.  These allowable cost factors include the base per‐pupil grant pursuant 

to Education Code § 17072.10, the auto alarm/detection grant, the sprinkler grant 

required  by  Education  Code  §  17074.56(a)),  labor  compliance  program  grant 

pursuant  to  Labor  Code  §  1771.7(e)  and  the  general  site  development  grant 

pursuant to SAB Regulation 1859.76 for each grade level.  These allowable costs 

are summarized in the figure below. 

 
FIGURE 7 – ALLOWABLE COSTS FOR CONSTRUCTION AND GENERAL SITE DEVELOPMENT 

Allowable Grants K‐6 7‐8

Per Pupil  Base Grants 
1

$15,983 $16,904

Automatic Fire Detection/Alarm System Grants 
1

$19 $25

Automatic Sprinkler System Grants 
1

$268 $319

General Site Development Grant 1 $1,319 $1,615

Total Per Pupil Grants $17,589 $18,863

Source:  State Al location Board

Notes:

1  
Approved January 25, 2023 by the State Al location Board to become 

effective January 1, 2023.  



PAGE 11 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

In  addition,  the  District  can  include  50  percent  of  the  cost  of  site  acquisition, 

offsite  improvements, and site development.   Land acquisition costs within the 

District are assumed to be $368,500 per acre.  Arguments for higher or lower land 

costs  can  be  made;  however,  the  amount  presented  is  appropriate  and 

conservative for the purpose of this Needs Analysis.  Land acquisition costs also 

included an additional 4 percent for appraisal, survey, and escrow costs as allowed 

by SAB Regulation 1859.74(a)(2).  

 

The  District  owns  one  school  site,  the  “Jeffery  T.  Jennings”  site,  for  a  future 

elementary school.  However, according to the District 2015 Facilities Master Plan, 

the next elementary school will likely be located within the Eastview Specific Plan.    

For purposes of this Needs Analysis, no land acquisition costs are assumed for the 

next elementary school since the surplus value of the Jeffrey T. Jennings site would 

offset the land acquisition cost of the Eastview Specific Plan site.   

 

Site development costs are based on the actual site development cost  for new 

elementary  schools  built  in  nearby  Elk  Grove.    Site  development  costs  include 

service site development, offsite development, and utility costs. 

 

As  further  detailed  in  Figure  8  on  the  following  page,  the  site  acquisition  and 

development  costs  equate  to  $2,693  per  elementary  student  and  $8,923  per 

middle school student.  This brings the total SB50 new school construction costs 

per student to $20,282 per elementary student and $27,786 per middle school 

student. 

 

LEVEL 2 FEE DETERMINATION 

The determination of allowable costs and Level 2 fees is presented in Figure 9 on 

the following page.   This table calculates a composite single‐family/multi‐family 

fee based on aggregate SB50 new school facility construction costs.  This fee is the 

amount  that  is  justified  and  should  be  established  for  new  residential 

construction.  As shown, the District can justify a Level 2 single‐family/multi‐family 

fee in the amount of $3.85 per square foot of new residential area. 



PAGE 12 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

FIGURE 8 – LEVEL 2 FEE DETERMINATION 

Grade Level

K ‐ 6 7 ‐ 8 K‐8

Unhoused Enrollment From New Development 166             34               200              

New School Size 650             900            

Schools Needed 0.26            0.04           

Allowable Site Acreage 
1

9.0            20.8           

Total Acreage Required  2.34            0.83            3.2               

Land Acquisition Cost per Acre
 2

$0 $383,200

Site Development Cost per Acre 
3

$389,000 $389,000

Total Site Acquisition/Development Cost/Acre $389,000 $772,200

Allowable Site Acq./Devel. Costs/Acre 
4

$194,500 $386,100

Allowable School Construction Cost per Student 
5

$17,589 $18,863

Allowable Site Acq./Devel. Cost per Student 
6

$2,693 $8,923

School Facil ities Cost  $2,919,774 $641,342 $3,561,116

Site Acquisition and Development Cost  $455,130 $321,235 $776,365

Total Allowable SB50 Costs  $3,374,904 $962,577 $4,337,481

Total New Residential Area (Sq. Ft.) 1,127,975

Alternative ("Level 2") Fee per Square Foot $3.85

Notes:

3  
Es timated per‐acre cost for s i te development, uti l i ties  and infrastructure improvements  

i s  based on actual  costs  of new elementary schools  bui l t in nearby Elk Grove.

4  
Pursuant to SB50, 50% of tota l  s i te acquis i tion and development costs  are a l lowable in 

ca lculating Level  2 fees .
5  
The unhoused pupi l  grant i s  the sum of the base grant, the auto/detection grant, the 

fi re sprinkler grant and the genera l  s i te development grant as  adjusted by the State 

Al location Board on January 25, 2023
.

6  
The a l lowable SB50 s i te acquis i tion and development costs  ca lculated per s tudent 

uti l i zing new school  s i ze and acreage required per campus .

2
 There are no land acquis tion costs  for K‐5 faci l i ties  because the District currently owns  

the s i te for i ts  next school .  Land costs  include an additional  4% for appra isa l , survey 

and escrow costs  per SAB Regulation 1859.74(a)(2).  

1
 Based on the 1998 edition of “School  Si te Analys is  and Development” publ ished by the 

CDE pursuant to Govt. Code § 65995.5(h). 

 



PAGE 13 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

SCHOOL SITES, FACILITIES, AND LOCAL FUNDING SURPLUSES 

This  section evaluates and  considers  surplus  school  sites,  surplus  facilities,  and 

other local funding for capital improvements that can be used to offset the cost of 

facilities  needed  for  students  from  new  residential  development.    More 

specifically, pursuant to Government Code Section 65995.6(b), the District must 

“identify and consider (a) any surplus property owned by the school district that 

can be used as a school site or that is available for sale to finance school facilities, 

(b)  the extent  to which projected enrollment growth can be accommodated at 

existing surplus school facilities, and (c) local sources of revenue that are available 

or  dedicated  to  finance  the  construction  or  reconstruction  of  school  facilities 

needed  to  accommodate  any  growth  in  enrollments  attributable  to  new 

residential development.” 

 

SURPLUS SCHOOL SITES  

The District owns one elementary school site, the “Jeffery T. Jennings” site, for a 

future  elementary  school.    However,  according  to  the  District  2015  Facilities 

Master Plan, the next elementary school will likely be located within the Eastview 

Specific  Plan  and  the  Liberty  Ranch Development.    For  purposes  of  this Needs 

Analysis, no land acquisition cost is assumed for the next elementary school since 

the surplus value of the Jeffrey T. Jennings site would offset the land acquisition 

cost of the Eastview Specific Plan site.   

 

The District owns no other school sites for future schools. 

 

SURPLUS SCHOOL FACILITIES 

The District  has no existing  surplus  school  facilities  to  accommodate projected 
enrollment growth from new development. 
 

SURPLUS LOCAL FUNDS  

The  following  is  an  evaluation  of  other  local  funding  sources  that  might  be 

available or could be dedicated to financing the construction or reconstruction of 

school facilities needed to accommodate enrollment growth attributable to new 

residential development. 
  



PAGE 14 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

MELLO‐ROOS COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICTS 

The District, under the Galt Schools Joint Powers Authority, currently has Mello‐

Roos Community Facilities Districts (“CFDs”).   Properties  included in these CFDs 

are levied special taxes for new school construction.  These special taxes must be 

used exclusively to provide additional school facilities for enrollments generated 

by homes in the CFD.  Therefore, these revenues are not available to offset the 

cost of facilities required for students generated by development subject to the 

Level 2 fee. 

 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 

The District passed a $19,700,000 General Obligation Bond on November 8, 2016, 

and issued a series in 2022 for $9,300,000. 

 

CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION 

Special  Tax  Certificates  of  Participation  Bonds  (“COPs”)  were  authorized  and 

issued by  the District  under  a  Joint  Powers Agreement  in  1992  for Mello‐Roos 

District CFD No. 1.   The bond proceeds were used  to construct  school  facilities 

required  for  enrollments  generated  by  new  development  within  CFD  No.  1.  

Therefore, there are no COP proceeds available to offset the Level 2 fee. 

 

GENERAL FUND REVENUE 

The District needs the District’s general funds to provide for the operation of its 

instructional  program.    There  are  no  unencumbered  funds  in  the  District  that 

could be used to construct new facilities or reconstruct existing facilities. 

 

LOTTERY REVENUE 

Government  Code  Section  8880.5(m)  states  that  “all  funds  from  the  California 

State Lottery Education Fund shall be used exclusively for the education of pupils 

and  students  and  no  funds  shall  be  spent  for  acquisition  of  real  property, 

construction  of  facilities,  financing  research,  or  any  other  non‐instructional 

purpose.” 

 

COMMERCIAL / INDUSTRIAL STATUTORY FEES 

Commercial  and  industrial  statutory  fees  levied pursuant  to Government Code 

Section 65995 continue to be justified for the District.   These fees offset only a 

portion  of  the  cost  of  new  school  facilities  and will  continue  to  be  needed  to 

provide additional school facilities for enrollments generated by employees from 

new commercial and industrial businesses. 

 



PAGE 15 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

OTHER LOCAL FUNDING SOURCES 

Any other  local  funding sources  that may become available will be  required  to 

provide additional school capacity for current unhoused enrollments. 



PAGE 16 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

LEVEL 2 & 3 FEE ELIGIBILITY 

LEVEL 2 AND 3 FEES 

This section frames the District’s eligibility to continue to levy alternative school 

facility fees (“Level 2 fees”)  in terms of the statutory requirements pursuant to 

Government Code Sections 65995.5(1)  and 65995.5(3).    In  general,  the District 

must make  a  “timely”  application  to  the  State  Facilities  Program  and  satisfy  a 

certain  number  of  statutory  requirements  in  order  to  levy  Level  2  fees.    The 

specific requirements and findings for both fees are discussed below. 

 

THE  SCHOOL  DISTRICT  MUST  MAKE  A  TIMELY  APPLICATION  FOR  STATE  FUNDING  FOR  NEW 

CONSTRUCTION UNDER THE STATE FACILITIES PROGRAM. 

This statutory requirement has been met for the District.  The District is eligible to 

receive new construction funding under the School Facilities Program.  On January 

29, 1999, the District submitted eligibility documents to the State to participate in 

the State Facilities Program.  SAB forms the State Allocation Board approved 50‐

01, 50‐02, and 50‐03 on April 28, 1999.  As of March 4, 2014, the District is eligible 

for new construction funding for 1,356 students for grades K‐6. 

 

UNTIL  JANUARY  1,  2000,  SATISFY  ONE  OF  THE  FOLLOWING  CONDITIONS  AND,  ON  OR  AFTER 

JANUARY 1, 2000, MEET TWO OF THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS: 

1. Attempt to pass a local bond at least once within the past four years and get 

the approval of 50 percent plus one of the voters. 

The District has not met this statutory condition.  The District’s $19.7 million 

general obligation bond measure (Measure K) was approved by the voters on 

November 8, 2016.  

2. Have  at  least  30  percent  of  K‐6  enrollment  on  year‐round  multi‐track 

education, or at least 40 percent of public‐school students in grades K‐12 are 

on  multi‐track  year‐round  education  schedules  within  the  high  school 

attendance area for which the district is applying for funding. 

The District has not met this statutory condition.  The District does not provide 

a multi‐track year‐round education at any school. 



PAGE 17 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

3. Have  issued  debt  or  incurred  obligations  for  capital  outlay  in  an  amount 

equivalent to 15 percent of the District’s local bonding capacity (30 percent if 

post‐November  1998  landowner‐approved  Mello‐Roos  special  taxes  are 

included). 

The District has met this statutory condition.  The Galt Joint Powers Authority’s 

current debt level for capital outlay is 36.13% of the District’s bonding capacity 

and thus is greater than the 15 percent required. 

4.  At  least  20  percent  of  the  teaching  stations  in  the  District  are  relocatable 

classrooms. 

This  statutory  condition  has  been met  for  the  District.    The  District’s  total 

classroom inventory is 47.5 percent of relocatable classrooms. 

 

The District has made a timely application for state funding, has over 20 percent 

of teaching stations in relocatable classrooms, and has bond indebtedness greater 

than  15  percent  of  the  District’s  total  local  bonding  capacity.    Therefore,  the 

District meets two of the four statutory prerequisites for levying Level 2 fees. 

 

LEVEL 3 FEE DETERMINATION 

If State school construction funding becomes unavailable due to a  lack of State 

school construction bonds, the District would be eligible to levy fees pursuant to 

Government  Code  Section  65995.7  at  twice  the  currently  justified  amount  for 

Level 2 fees.  The amounts of these Level 3 fees for residential construction would 

be as shown below. 

 

It should be noted that if the District  levies a Level 3 fee and later receives any 

State funding, any amounts collected in excess of the Level 3 fee would have to be 

refunded  to  the  property  owners  from  whom  it  was  collected.    If  such 

reimbursement were to occur,  the District could deduct  from the reimbursable 

amount  its  expenditures  for  interim housing  for  students  from new  residential 

development.  

 
FIGURE 9 – LEVEL 3 FEE DETERMINATION 

Cost and Fee Categories Amount

Allowable Cost per Elementary Student $40,564

Allowable Cost per Middle School Student $55,572

Alternate Level 3 Fee per Square Foot $7.69
 



PAGE 18 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

NEXUS FINDINGS 

This  section  frames  the  results  of  the  Needs  Analysis  in  terms  of  the  nexus 

requirements pursuant  to AB 1600, which  is  codified  in California Government 

Code § 660001.  In general, it must be demonstrated that a reasonable relationship 

or “nexus” exists between new development that occurs within the District and 

the need for additional school facilities as a result of new residential development.  

The specific nexus requirements and findings for the fee are discussed below. 

 

IDENTIFY THE PURPOSE OF FEE 

The  purpose  of  the  fee  is  to  provide  funding  for  the  construction  and 

reconstruction  of  school  facilities  for  new  students  generated  by  residential 

development. 

 

IDENTIFY THE USE OF FEE 

As outlined in the Needs Analysis, the general purpose of the fee is to fund the 

construction of additional school facilities.  The District may need to purchase or 

lease portable classrooms to use  for  interim housing while permanent  facilities 

are being constructed. 

 

Revenue from fees collected for residential development may be used to pay for 

any of the following:   

 Construction or reconstruction of school facilities; 

 Acquisition or leasing of land for school facilities; 

 Design of school facilities; 

 Permit and plan checking fees; 

 Testing and inspection of school sites and buildings; 

 Furniture for use in new school facilities; 

 Purchased or leased interim school facilities; 

 Legal and administrative costs associated with providing school facilities to 

students generated by new development; 

 Administration of the justification and collection of developer fees; 

 Other  miscellaneous  costs  resulting  from  student  enrollment  growth 

caused by new development. 

 
 
1  Otherwise known as the Mitigation Fee Act. 
 



PAGE 19 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

DETERMINE HOW THERE IS A REASONABLE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE FEE’S USE AND THE TYPE OF 

DEVELOPMENT PROJECT ON WHICH THE FEE IS IMPOSED. 

New residential development will cause families to move into the District and will, 

consequently,  generate  additional  students  in  the  District.    As  previously 

discussed,  adequate  school  facilities  do  not  exist  for  all  these  students.    New 

residential development, therefore, creates a need for additional school facilities.  

The fee’s use (acquiring new facilities) is, therefore, reasonably related to the type 

of project (new residential development) upon which it is imposed. 

 

DETERMINE HOW THERE IS A REASONABLE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE NEED FOR PUBLIC FACILITIES 

AND THE TYPE OF DEVELOPMENT ON WHICH THE FEE IS IMPOSED. 

As  previously  discussed  in  this  Needs  Analysis,  the  District  has  insufficient 

permanent  capacity  to  house  all  additional  students  projected  to  enroll  in  the 

District.    New  residential  development,  therefore,  will  generate  “unhoused 

students” and, consequently, create a need for additional school facilities.  

 

DETERMINE HOW THERE IS A REASONABLE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE AMOUNT OF THE FEE AND 

THE  COST  OF  THE  PUBLIC  FACILITY  ATTRIBUTABLE  TO  THE  DEVELOPMENT  ON WHICH  THE  FEE  IS 

IMPOSED. 

The relationship between the amount of the Level 2 fee and the cost of the school 

facilities attributable to new residential development is detailed in Figure 8.  As 

shown,  the  cost  of  school  facilities  attributable  to  each  square  foot  of  new 

residential housing units is $3.85 per square foot. 



PAGE 20 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A – Requirements for Adoption of Needs Analysis 

Appendix B – Existing School Building Capacity Determination 

Appendix C – Bonding Capacity Calculation 

 

 
  



PAGE 21 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

APPENDIX A – REQUIREMENTS FOR ADOPTION OF NEEDS ANALYSIS 

To levy Alternate (“Level 2”) fees, a school district must perform the following 

tasks: 

1. Prepare a Needs Analysis as described by Government Code Section 65995.5. 

2. The final Needs Analysis must be made available for public review for a 

period of at least 30 days. 

3. Publish notice of hearing for the Needs Analysis and fee increase in a 

newspaper of general circulation at least 30 days prior to the hearing. 

4. Mail a copy of the Needs Analysis 30 days prior to the hearing to any party 

that has submitted a written request for such copies at least 45 days prior to 

the hearing. 

5. Notify and provide a copy of the Needs Analysis to the local planning and 

land use agencies at least 45 days prior to the hearing as required by 

Government Code Section 65232.2. 

6. The Governing Board must respond to any written comments received on 

the Needs Analysis. 

7. Conduct a public hearing after the 30‐day review period.   

8. Pass a resolution adopting the Needs Analysis and Level 2 or Level 3 fee, as 

applicable. 

9. The fees take effect immediately upon adoption and are effective for a 

period of one year.  Level 1 fees take effect 60 days after adoption by the 

Board. 

10. Annually update Needs Analysis.    
 

   



PAGE 22 

 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

APPENDIX B – EXISTING SCHOOL BUILDING CAPACITY DETERMINATION 

EXISTING SCHOOL BUILDING CAPACITY  

Total Maximum Total

Grade Permanent Portable 25% Port. Teaching Total

Levels Classrooms T. Stations T. Stations
1

Stations Capacity
2

Fairsite PreK ‐ K 11  14  3  14  350 

Greer Elementary K‐6 8  27  2  10  250 

Lake Canyon K‐6 27  0  0  27  675 

Marengo Ranch K‐6 12  26  3  15  375 

River Oaks TK‐6 12  21  3  15  375 

Valley Oaks K‐6 23  15  6  29  725 

Elementary School Total 93  103  17  110  2,750 

Robert L. McCaffrey 7‐8 34  12  9  43  1,161 

Middle School Total 34  12  9  43  1,161 

Classroom Capacity 127 115 26  153 3,911

SER Adjustment ‐ Elementary School 74

SER Adjustment ‐ Middle School 15

Existing School Building Capacity  4,000

Notes:
1  Pursuant to SB50, portable classrooms are included in school capacity  calculations for SB50 fees at a rate of 25% times 

the number of permanent classrooms at the school site.
2  Capacity  is equal to the counted number of total teaching stations times 25 students per station for grades K-6 and 27 

students per station for grades 7-12.



PAGE 23 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

APPENDIX D – BONDING CAPACITY CALCULATION 

Assessed Value Calculation

District Assessed Value (July 2022) $3,339,799,222

Maximum Bonding Percentage 1.25%

District Maximum Bonding Capacity $41,747,490

Outstanding Debt Obligation 
1

General Obligation Bonds $22,388,378

Jt. Powers Bond (60%) $317,741

Total Debt Obligation $22,706,119

Percentage of Bonding Capacity 54.39%

Notes:
1
 Remaining principa l  amount only as  of June 30, 2023.

Galt JUESD Bonded Indebtness Calculation

2 
A CFD Specia l  Tax was  approved by the landowners  in 

1990 wi th the Dis trict receiving a  60% share of the Specia l  

Tax
.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PAGE 24 

SCHOOL FACILITY NEEDS ANALYSIS, 2023 
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK) 

 



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: October 18, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.431 
Board Consideration of Approval of 
Resolution No. 6 Approving the Galt Joint 
Union Elementary School District’s School 
Facilities Needs Analysis, Adopting 
Residential School Facilities Fees in 
Compliance with Government Code Sections 
65995.5 and 65995.6, and Making Related 
Findings and Determinations [Level 2 Fee] 
 

Presenter: Alejandra Garibay Action Item: XX 
  Information Item: 
 
 

 
Pursuant to Government Code § 65995.5, the District may levy an alternative fee (“Level 2 fee) to 
the District’s Level 1 fee if certain requirements are met.  The School Facility Needs Analysis 
(“Needs Analysis”), prepared by SCI Consulting Group, is required annually to establish the need for 
and level of the Level 2 Fee.   The District has been made eligible for new construction funding 
under the School Facility Program and satisfies two of the four statutory requirements necessary to 
levy Level 2.  Furthermore, the Needs Analysis has determined that the District is justified in 
imposing a district-wide Level 2 fee at the K-8 rate of $3.85 per square foot for new residential 
development.  The Level 2 fee is increasing by $0.27 per square foot primarily due to construction 
cost inflation. 
 
In order to adopt the School Facility Needs Analysis and impose the Level 2 fees justified in the 
Needs Analysis, the District must conduct a public hearing and adopt Resolution 7 adopting the 
Needs Analysis and the Level 2 fee.  
 
The Level 2 fee takes effect immediately upon adoption and is effective for a period of one year.   
 
Attachments:    Resolution 6 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



 

GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 

Resolution No. 6 
 

Resolution of the Board of Trustees  
Approving the Galt Joint Elementary School District’s  

School Facilities Needs Analysis, Adopting Residential School Facilities Fees in 
Compliance with Government Code Sections 65995.5 and 65995.6,  

and Making Related Findings and Determinations 
 

 
RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees (the "Board") of the Galt Joint Union Elementary School 
District (the "District"), County of Sacramento, State of California, that:  
 
WHEREAS, this Board has had a School Facility Needs Analysis (“Needs Analysis”) prepared 
as outlined in Section 65995 of the California Government Code; and  
 
WHEREAS, said Need Analysis outlines the shortfall in revenues without levying fees as 
authorized in Sections 65995.5 and 65995.6 of the Government Code.  
 
WHEREAS, the purpose of this Resolution is to approve and adopt fees pursuant to Government 
Code Section 65995.5 and 65995.6 on residential development projects in the amount of $3.85 per 
square foot. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED as follows:  
 

1. The Board hereby receives and approves the School Facility Needs Analysis, October 
2023 as prepared by SCI Consulting Group. 
 

2. Based upon said Needs Analysis, the Board makes the following findings. 
a.) The purpose of the fees is to provide adequate school facilities for the students of the 

District who will be generated by residential development in the District. 
b.) The fees are to be used to finance the construction and reconstruction of school 

facilities for new students generated by residential development. 
c.) There is a reasonable relationship between the need for the fees, the use of the fees, 

and the development projects on which the fees are imposed. 
d.) There is a reasonable relationship between the amount of the fees and the cost of the 

facilities attributable to the development projects on which the fees are imposed. 
 

3. The Board hereby finds and determines the necessity to levy the fees authorized in 
Sections 65995.5 and 65995.6 of the Government Code in the amount of $3.85 per square 
foot of new residential development.   

 
4. The imposition of the fees shall take effect immediately. 

 
 



 

5. The Superintendent or designee shall notify the City of Galt and the County of Sacramento 
having jurisdiction over territory within the District and request that no building permits 
be issued on or after this date without certification from the District that the fees specified 
herein have been paid. 

 
6. The Board hereby finds that prior to the adoption of this Resolution, the Board conducted 

a public hearing at which oral and written presentations were made, as part of the Board's 
regularly scheduled October 18, 2023, meeting. Notice of the time and place of the 
meeting, including a general explanation of the matter to be considered, was published in 
a newspaper in accordance with Sections 65995.5 and 65995.6 of the California 
Government Code and at least 30 days prior to the meeting. A copy of said Needs Analysis 
was mailed to any interested party who had filed a written request with the District for 
mailed notice of the meeting on new fees within the period specified by law.  Additionally, 
at least 30 days prior to the meeting the District made available to the public the final Needs 
Analysis for review.   

 
7. If any portion of this Resolution is found by a Court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, 

such finding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this resolution. 
 

APPROVED, PASSED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of October 2023 by the following vote: 
 
AYES: 
NOES:  
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT: 
 
      ____________________________________ 

President, Board of Trustees 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Secretary, Board of Trustees 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District   



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: October 18, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.432 
Board Consideration of Approval of Resolution 
No. 7; Resolution Approving a Site Lease, A 
Sublease, and a Construction Services 
Agreement Relating to the Maintenance and 
Operations Shop Project 
 

Presenter: Lois Yount Action Item: XX 
  Information Item:      
 
 

S+B James Construction of California Inc. will perform the Lease Leaseback Agreements to provide 
construction services for the Maintenance and Operations Shop Project to be located at 1019 
Beaver Park Way.  
 
The project consists of the construction of a 60 ft. x 100 ft. (6,000 SF) pre-engineered metal building 
and site improvements to house the new school District Maintenance and Operations Shop. The 
scope will include two maintenance bays, welding equipment, shop area, office and restroom. Site 
improvements include underground utilities, grading and asphalt paving for vehicle circulation and 
parking. Domestic water, sanitary sewer, and storm drain shall be extended from existing services. 
A new water service from the main will be provided to serve the building’s automatic fire sprinkler 
system and the additional site fire hydrant. 
 
Attachments: 

• Resolution No. 7 
• Project Site Lease Agreement  
• Project Sublease Agreement  
• Construction Services Agreement  

 
Fiscal impact: $2,299,760 using Board committed funds for facilities and State Facility Funds  
 
Board approval is recommended.  

 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



78615v1 / GAJUSD.45.6 

RESOLUTION NO. 7 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE  
GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

APPROVING A SITE LEASE, A SUBLEASE, AND 
A CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT  

RELATING TO THE MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS SHOP PROJECT  
 

WHEREAS, the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District (the “District”) has 
previously identified significant facility needs throughout the District in its Facilities Master Plan, 
including the need to undertake construction for a maintenance and operations shop (the “Project”) 
at the District’s transportation, maintenance and operations yard (the “Site”); 
 

WHEREAS, Section 17406 of the Education Code provides for the construction 
and modernization of buildings on property owned by a school district and the lease to a school 
district of the site and such improvements pursuant to an agreement calling for such construction; 

 
WHEREAS, by way of previous Resolution No. 12, adopted February 28, 2018, 

the Board has authorized the use of the lease-leaseback construction delivery method on certain 
projects deemed appropriate for such process; 

 
WHEREAS, the Board is authorized under Section 17406 of the Education Code 

to lease the Site for the development, construction and installation of the Project on the Site and to 
have the Site and the improvements leased back to the Board; 
 

WHEREAS, consistent with the requirements of Education Code Sections 17400 
et seq., the Board seeks to enter into the necessary building agreements and lease agreements with 
an outside entity that will provide for the development, construction and installation of facilities 
improvements on the Site;  

 
WHEREAS, consistent with the Board’s desire to provide for the development, 

construction, installation and lease of the Project in accordance with the provisions of Education 
Code Sections 17400 et seq., District staff previously evaluated firms capable of providing services 
to the Board for the Project, using a competitive solicitation process, including procedures and 
guidelines previously adopted by the Board and utilizing a best-value method; 

 
WHEREAS, after taking into consideration the demonstrated competence and 

professional qualifications, with the best-value to the District, it was determined that S+B James 
Construction California Inc. (“S+B”) was qualified to undertake the Project on the Site and to lease 
the completed Project to the Board consistent with the requirements of Education Code Sections 
17400 et seq.;  

 
WHEREAS, the Site is owned by the Board in accordance with the provisions of 

Education Code Sections 17400 et seq.;  
 
 



78615v1 / GAJUSD.45.6 

  WHEREAS, a proposed Site Lease, Sublease, and Construction Services 
Agreement between the Board and S+B James (collectively referred to herein as the “Documents”) 
and attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein, have been prepared, and it is the intent 
of the Board to approve such documents in substantially final form and to authorize the execution 
of such documents by the Board’s Superintendent, or her designee, in the manner provided for 
herein. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the Galt 
Joint Union Elementary School District as follows: 
 

Section 1.  Recitals.  The foregoing recitals are true and correct. 

Section 2.  Consistency of Process and Compliance with Law.  The Board 
hereby finds that the process undertaken by the District to date to solicit proposals for the Project, 
and to draft the Documents have all been undertaken and performed in a manner consistent with 
the requirements of Education Code Sections 17400 et seq. and that the Board is now authorized 
to proceed with the commencement of the Project in the manner set forth in the Documents. 

Section 3. Approval of the Documents.  The Board hereby approves the 
Documents in substantially final form with such additional changes or revisions as may be 
necessary to be implemented by the Superintendent, or her designee, to complete such agreements 
consistent with the terms and conditions of this Resolution and the provisions of Education Code 
Sections 17400 et seq.  

Section 4. Approval of Guaranteed Maximum Price. The Board hereby 
approves the Guaranteed Maximum Price of the Project consistent with the terms and conditions 
of the Documents.  

 Section 5.  Additional Authorization.  The Superintendent or the Designated 
Officer is hereby further authorized and directed to prepare, on behalf of the Board, any other 
documentation necessary to carry out the terms for the Project, as set forth in the Documents, 
consistent with the terms and conditions of this Resolution.  Any action heretofore taken by the 
Superintendent, the Designated Officer, or the Chief Business Official, on behalf of the Board, that 
is in conformity with the purposes and intent of this Resolution and with the provisions of 
Education Code Sections 17400 et seq. with respect to the Project is hereby approved and 
confirmed. 

Section 6. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 
its adoption. 



78615v1 / GAJUSD.45.6 

APPROVED, PASSED, AND ADOPTED on October 18, 2023, by the following vote: 

AYES:    
 

  NOES:    
 

  ABSTAIN:   
 

  ABSENT:   
 

 
        
Wesley Cagle  
President of the Board of Trustees 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
        
Lois Yount 
Secretary of the Board of Trustees 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
 



78615v1 / GAJUSD.45.6 

EXHIBIT A 

Site Lease, Sublease, and Construction Services Agreement  
between the Board and S+B James Construction California Inc.   

  



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS SHOP PROJECT  
 
 

SITE LEASE 
 

Dated as of   
 

____________ 

Between 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

and 

S+B James Construction California Inc.  

 



1 
 

 
Maintenance and Operations Shop Project   

 
SITE LEASE 

 
This site lease (“Site Lease”) is dated as of __________ by and between the Galt Joint Union 

Elementary School District, a school district duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of 
California (“District”) as lessor, and S+B James Construction California Inc., a [corporation] organized 
and operating under the laws of the State of California and holding in good standing California State 
Contractors Licensing Board License #1048064 (“Lessee”).  

 
RECITALS 

 
WHEREAS, the District owns the Transportation, Maintenance and Operations Yard, located at 

1019 Beaver Park Way, Galt, California, 95632 (the “Property”);  
 
WHEREAS, the District desires to construct certain improvements at this property. Scope of work is 
(together, the “Project”);  

 
WHEREAS, the plans and specifications for the construction portion of the Project are 

pending approval by the Division of the State Architect (“DSA”) DSA Application No. 02-121503 
and have been approved by the District; 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the District (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the 

best interest of the District and for the common benefit of the citizens it serves to construct the Project 
using the lease-leaseback project delivery method pursuant to California Education Code section 
17406 (“Section 17406”), which permits the Board, after completion of a competitive solicitation 
process, to lease to the proposer providing the best value to the District, taking into consideration 
the proposer’s demonstrated competence and professional qualifications necessary for the 
satisfactory performance of the services required, and in accordance with the guidelines adopted 
and published by the District, real property owned by the District if the instrument by which 
property is leased requires the lessee to construct on that property, or provide for the construction 
thereon of, a facility for the use of the District during the term of the lease, providing that title to 
that facility shall vest in the District at the expiration of that lease;  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Education Code section 17406, the District may enter into (i) a 

construction services agreement for the construction of a project by the selected proposer; (ii) a 
site lease under which the District leases to the selected proposer the construction site and contracts 
with the selected proposer to perform preconstruction services before written approval is obtained 
from the DSA; and (iii) a sublease agreement under which the District is required to make 
payments to the selected proposer for the use and occupancy of the Project Site;  

 
WHEREAS, the District has provided for a competitive solicitation process with respect 

to the Project, in accordance with Section 17406 and District’s written procedures and 
guidelines;  

 



2 
 

WHEREAS, the District prepared a request for sealed proposals (“RFP”) seeking qualified 
proposers who have been determined by the District to be prequalified, consistent with Public 
Contract Code section 20111.6 and District’s written procedures and guidelines, to provide 
construction services for the Project;  

 
WHEREAS, the District gave notice of the RFP in the manner required by Public Contract 

Code section 20112;  
 
WHEREAS, after evaluating the submitted proposals, the District selected Lessee as the 

successful proposer, determining that it is in the best interest of the District to do so, and represents 
the best value to the District, taking into consideration Lessee’s demonstrated competence and 
professional qualifications necessary for the satisfactory performance of the services required;  
 

WHEREAS, the District and Lessee have entered into a preconstruction services agreement, 
attached hereto as Exhibit “A” (“Agreement for Preliminary Services for the Construction of 
Improvements”) and by this reference incorporated herein, for Lessee to provide certain consulting 
services in preparation for the development of the Project, including establishing a guaranteed 
maximum price (“GMP”) for the Project; 

 
WHEREAS, the Project is scheduled for completion on or before May 31, 2024, and the 

District has awarded Lessee the Project based upon the negotiated GMP consistent with Lessee's 
estimated GMP;  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 17406, the District desires to lease to Lessee the site at which 

the Project is to be constructed for the Project, as more specifically described in Exhibit “B,” (“Site”), 
and subleasing from Lessee the Site and the Project under a sublease agreement, attached hereto as 
Exhibit “C” (“Sublease”), and both incorporated herein by this reference;  

 
WHEREAS, Lessee desires to lease the Site from the District pursuant to this Site Lease and 

to sublease the Site and the Project from the District pursuant to the Sublease;  
 
WHEREAS, Lessee is registered with the Department of Industrial Relations, as required by 

Labor Code section 1725.5;  
 
WHEREAS, the District and Lessee have entered into a construction services agreement, 

attached hereto as Exhibit “D” (“Construction Services Agreement”) and by this reference incorporated 
herein, to ensure that the Project will meet District’s expectations;  
 

WHEREAS, the Board further determines that it has entered into this Site Lease, Sublease and 
Construction Services Agreement as the best available and most expeditious means for the District to 
satisfy its substantial need for the facilities to be provided by the Project and to accommodate and 
educate the District students;  
 

WHEREAS, the Board has duly authorized the execution of this Site Lease; and 
 



3 
 

WHEREAS, Lessee is authorized to lease the Site and to construct the Project on such Site, 
and has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Site Lease. 

 
WITNESSETH 

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants hereinafter set forth, the District and 

Lessee agree as follows: 
 
SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS. 
 

Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms defined in this section shall, for all purposes of 
this Site Lease, have the meanings as herein specified. 
 

A. “Construction Budget” means the budget amount established by the District, 
representing the maximum authorized cost for construction of the Project.  The Construction Budget 
does not include fees for professional architectural and engineering services, District inspection, or 
testing and inspection services. 

 
B. “Construction Documents” means the approved final working drawings and 

specifications, and the conditions under the Construction Services Agreement for construction of 
improvements on the Site, including general, special (if any), and supplementary, that set forth in detail 
all of the requirements for construction of the Project. 

 
C. “Construction Services Agreement” means the construction services agreement 

for construction of the Project by and between the District and Lessee dated as of  ________ 2023. 
 

D. “Contract Documents” means the Construction Services Agreement, this Site 
Lease, and the Sublease. 

 
E. “Deliverable” means any tangible item provided or to be provided under the Site 

Lease or the Construction Services Agreement. A Deliverable does not include services.  
 
F. “District” means the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District, a school district 

duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of California. 
 
G. “Effective Date” means the day on which the District issues a Notice to Proceed for 

the Project in accordance with Section 5 of the Construction Services Agreement. 
 
H. “Lessee” shall mean S+B James Construction California Inc. and its successors and 

assigns. 
 

I. “Project” means the construction of improvements and equipment to be constructed 
and installed by Lessee, as more particularly described in Exhibit “C” of the Sublease. 
 

J. “Site” means that certain parcel of real property and improvements thereon comprising 
the Project as more particularly described in Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 



4 
 

 
K. “Site Lease” means this Site Lease together with any duly authorized and executed 

amendment hereto, under which the District leases the Site to Lessee for purposes of constructing the 
Project. 
 

L. “Sublease” means the Sublease Agreement dated as of ________, 2023 by and 
between the District and Lessee together with any duly authorized and executed amendment thereto. 
 

M. “Sublease Payment” means any payment required to be made by the District pursuant 
to Section 7 and Exhibit “C” of the Sublease. 

 
N. "Tenant Improvement Payments" means the payments required to be made by the 

District pursuant to the Construction Services Agreement and Exhibit “C” of the Sublease. 
 
O. “Term of this Site Lease” or “Term” means the time during which this Site Lease is 

in effect, as provided for in Section 3 of this Site Lease. 
 

SECTION 2. SITE LEASE. 
 

District leases to Lessee, and Lessee leases from the District, on the terms and conditions set 
forth herein, the Site situated in the City of Galt, County of Sacramento, State of California, more 
specifically described in Exhibit “B” attached hereto, including any real property improvements now 
or hereafter affixed thereto. 
 
SECTION 3. TERM. 
 

The Term of this Site Lease commences on the Effective Date. The Term of this Site Lease shall 
terminate as of the last day of the Sublease, provided the District has paid to Lessee, or its assignee, all 
payments that may be due under the Construction Services Agreement and Sublease, and provided that 
this Site Lease has not been terminated pursuant to the termination provisions of the Sublease. Without 
limiting any other term or provision of the Construction Services Agreement or Sublease between the 
parties, at the termination of this Site Lease, natural or otherwise, title to the Site and any improvements 
constructed thereon by Lessee shall vest in the District, in accordance with Section 17406. 
 
SECTION 4. REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS, AND WARRANTIES OF THE 

DISTRICT. 
 

The District represents, covenants, and warrants to Lessee that: 
 

A. The District has good and merchantable fee title to the Site and has authority to enter into 
and perform its obligations under this Site Lease. 
 

B. There are no liens on the Site other than Permitted Encumbrances, as defined below. 
 

C. All taxes, assessments, or impositions of any kind with respect to the Site, if applicable, 
except current taxes, have been paid in full. 



5 
 

 
D. The Site is properly zoned for the intended purposes and utilization of the Site or the 

District intends to render zoning inapplicable pursuant to Government Code section 53094. 
 

E. The District is in compliance with all laws, regulations, ordinances, and orders of 
public authorities applicable to the Site. 
 

F. There is no litigation of any kind currently pending or, to the best knowledge of the 
District, threatened regarding the Site or the District’s use of the Site for the purposes contemplated 
by this Site Lease. 

 
G. To the best of the District’s knowledge, after actual inquiry: 

 
1. No dangerous, toxic, or hazardous pollutants, contaminants, chemicals, 

waste, materials, or substances, as defined in or governed by the provisions of any state or federal law 
relating thereto (hereinafter collectively called “Environmental Regulations”), and also including, but 
not limited to, urea-formaldehyde, polychlorinated biphenyls, asbestos, asbestos-containing materials, 
nuclear fuel or waste, radioactive materials, explosives, carcinogens and petroleum products, or any 
other waste, material, substance, pollutant, or containment that would subject the owner of the  Site, 
Lessee, or Lessee’s subcontractors to any damages, penalties, or liabilities under any applicable 
Environmental Regulation (collectively called “Hazardous Substances”), are now or have been stored, 
located, generated, produced, processed, treated, transported, incorporated, discharged, emitted, 
released, deposited, or disposed of in, upon, under, over, or from the  Site. 
 

2. No threat exists of a discharge, release, or emission of a Hazardous Substance 
upon or from the Site into the environment. 
 

3. The Site has not been used as or for a mine, a landfill, a dump, or other 
disposal facility, industrial or manufacturing facility, or a gasoline service station. 
 

4. No underground storage tank is now located in the Site or has previously been 
located therein. 
 

5. No violation of any Environmental Regulations now exists relating to the 
Site, no notice of any violation or any alleged violation thereof has been issued or given by any 
governmental entity or agency, and there is not now any investigation or report involving the Site by 
any governmental entity or agency that in any way relates to Hazardous Substances. 
 

6. No person, party, or private or governmental agency or entity has given any 
notice of or asserted any claim, cause of action, penalty, cost, or demand for payment or compensation, 
whether or not involving any injury or threatened injury to human health, the environment, or natural 
resources, resulting or allegedly resulting from any activity or event described in Subsection G.1., 
above. 
 

7. There are not now any actions, suits, proceedings, or damage settlements 
relating in any way to Hazardous Substances in, upon, under, over, or from the Site. 



6 
 

 
8. The Site is not listed in the United States Environmental Protection Agency’s 

National Priorities List of Hazardous Waste Sites or any other list of Hazardous Substances sites 
maintained by any federal, state, or local governmental agency or entity. 
 

9. The Site is not subject to any lien, claim for lien, or threat of lien in favor of 
any governmental agency or entity as a result of any release or threatened release of any Hazardous 
Substances. 
 

H. To the extent permitted by law, the District shall not abandon use of the Site for the 
use currently intended by the District and shall not seek to substitute or acquire property to be used as 
a substitute for the use intended pursuant to this Site Lease. 

 
I. The term “Permitted Encumbrances,” as used herein shall mean, as of any particular 

time: 
 

1. Liens for general ad valorem taxes and assessments, if any, not then 
delinquent. 
 

2. This Site Lease; the Sublease; any right or claim of any mechanic, laborer, 
materialman, supplier, or vendor, if applicable, not filed or perfected in the manner prescribed by 
law; easements, rights of way, mineral rights, drilling rights, and other rights, reservations, covenants, 
conditions, or restrictions that exist of record as of the date of this Site Lease and that will not materially 
impair the use of the Site. 
 

3. Easements, rights of way, mineral rights, drilling rights, and other rights, 
reservations, covenants, conditions, or restrictions established following the date of this Site Lease and 
to which the District and Lessee consent in writing that will not impair or impede the operation of the 
Site. 
 
SECTION 5. REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS, AND WARRANTIES OF LESSEE.  

 
Lessee represents, covenants, and warrants to the District that: 

 
A. Lessee is duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of 

the State of California, with full corporate power and authority to lease and own real and personal 
property. 

B. Lessee has full power, authority, and legal right to enter into and perform its 
obligations under this Site Lease, and the execution, delivery, and performance of this Site Lease has 
been duly authorized by all necessary corporate actions on the part of Lessee and does not require any 
further approvals or consents. 
 

C. Execution, delivery, and performance of this Site Lease does not and will not result in 
any breach of or constitute a default under any indenture, mortgage, contract, agreement, or 
instrument to which Lessee is a party or by which Lessee or its property is bound. 

 



7 
 

D. There is no pending or, to the best knowledge of Lessee, threatened action or 
proceeding before any court or administrative agency that could materially or adversely affect the 
ability of Lessee to perform its obligations under this Site Lease. 
 
SECTION 6. SITE RENTAL. 
 

In consideration for the lease of the Site by the District to Lessee and for other good and 
valuable consideration, Lessee shall pay to the District one dollar ($1.00) per year, or any portion of 
a year that this Site Lease is in effect, within thirty (30) days of the end of the Term of this Site Lease.  
Lessee shall have no obligation to make rental payments hereunder in the event of the District’s 
inability to issue the necessary Notice to Proceed for the Project pursuant to the provisions of Section 
5 of the Construction Services Agreement. 

 
SECTION 7. USE OF SITE. 

 
Lessee shall use the Site solely for the purpose of constructing the Project thereon and for 

subleasing the Site and the Project to the District, provided that, upon the occurrence of an Event of 
Default by the District as defined under the Sublease, Lessee may exercise the remedies provided for 
in the Construction Services Agreement or the Sublease. 

 
SECTION 8. TERMINATION. 
 

A. Lessee agrees, upon termination of the Term of this Site Lease: 
 

1. To quit and surrender the Site in the same good order and condition as it was 
at the time of commencement of the Term of this Site Lease, reasonable wear and tear expected; 
 

2. To release any liens and encumbrances created or caused by Lessee; and 
 

3. To relinquish any permanent improvements and structures existing upon the 
Site at the time of the termination of this Site Lease, which shall remain thereon, and title thereto shall 
vest in the District. 
 

B. Notwithstanding the District’s foregoing rights in the event of a dispute or termination, 
Lessee shall retain the right to full compensation for all undisputed services rendered prior to the 
termination of this Site Lease, including all rights Lessee has under the Construction Services 
Agreement and the Sublease, as well as all recourse provided by California law, including common law, 
for the value of the work performed on the Site and/or the Project. 
 

C. In the event the Construction Services Agreement is terminated pursuant to the 
provisions therein, this Site Lease shall immediately terminate. 

 
D. If the District exercises its option to purchase the Project pursuant to the Sublease, this 

Site Lease shall terminate concurrently with the District's buy out and termination of the Sublease. 
 



8 
 

SECTION 9. QUIET ENJOYMENT. 
 

Subject to the terms of the Sublease, the District covenants and agrees that it will not take any 
action to prevent Lessee’s quiet enjoyment of the  Site during the Term of this Site Lease and that, in the 
event the District’s fee title to the Site is ever challenged so as to interfere with Lessee’s right to occupy, 
use, and enjoy the  Site, the District will use all governmental powers at its disposal, including the power 
of eminent domain, to obtain unencumbered fee title to the  Site and to defend Lessee’s right to occupy, 
use, and enjoy the  Site.  The District, however, retains the right, throughout the Term of this Site Lease, 
to use the Site for District purposes, pursuant to the terms of the Sublease. 
 
SECTION 10. NO LIENS. 
 

The District shall not mortgage, sell, assign, transfer, or convey the Site or any part thereof to 
any person during the Term of this Site Lease without the written consent of Lessee.  Nothing in this 
Site Lease shall preclude the District from granting utility easements across the Site to facilitate the use 
and operation of the Project. 
 
SECTION 11. RIGHT OF ENTRY. 
 

The District reserves the right for any of its duly authorized representatives to enter upon the 
Site at any reasonable time to inspect the same or to make any repairs, improvements, or changes 
necessary for the preservation thereof, but, in doing so, shall not interfere with Lessee’s operations 
regarding the Project. 
 
SECTION 12. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASING. 
 

Lessee will not assign or otherwise dispose of or encumber the Site or this Site Lease 
without the prior written consent of the District. 

 
SECTION 13. NO WASTE OR ILLEGAL ACTIVITY. 

 
Lessee agrees that at all times it is in possession of the Site, Lessee will not commit, suffer, or 

permit any waste on the Site, and Lessee will not willfully or knowingly use or permit the use of the 
Site for any illegal act or purpose. 
 
SECTION 14. DEFAULT. 
 

In the event Lessee shall be in default in the performance of any of its obligations under the 
terms of the Construction Services Agreement or this Site Lease, which default continues for thirty (30) 
days following notice and demand for correction thereof to Lessee, the District may exercise any and 
all remedies granted by law or equity. 
 
SECTION 15. TITLE. 

 
During the Term of this Site Lease, the District shall hold title to the Site and obtain title to 

the that portion of the Project constructed as part of  from the Lessee, including any and all additions 



9 
 

that comprise improvements, fixtures, repairs, replacements, or modifications, as payments are made 
under the terms of the Construction Services Agreement and Sublease, provided, however, that full 
title shall not vest in the District until the end of the Term of the Sublease and Site Lease. 
 
SECTION 16. EMINENT DOMAIN. 
 
 In the event the whole or any part of the Site or the improvements thereon, including, but 
not limited to, the Project, is taken by eminent domain, the financial interest of Lessee shall be 
recognized and is hereby determined to be the amount of all Sublease Payments and Tenant 
Improvement Payments less any unearned interest as of the date Lessee receives payment in full.  
The balance of the award in such eminent domain action, if any, shall be paid to the District. 

 
SECTION 17. TAXES. 
 

The terms of this Site Lease may result in the creation of a possessory interest.  If such a 
possessory interest is vested in a private party to this document, the private party may be subjected to 
the payment of personal property taxes levied on such interest.  In the event a possessory tax is levied 
against the Lessee, it shall be the District’s responsibility to pay or otherwise satisfy such a tax 
assessment. 

 
SECTION 18. INDEMNIFICATION. 
 

A. By the District.   
 

The District covenants and agrees to indemnify and defend Lessee, and to hold 
Lessee harmless, from and against any and all losses, claims, suits, damages, and expenses (including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees) arising out of the condition of the  Site, including, but not limited to, all 
costs required to be incurred by Lessee as a result of any condition described in Section 4.G. of this Site 
Lease, unless the condition is caused or created by Lessee, whether or not known to the District on the 
date of execution of this Site Lease, or unless such cost is contemplated to be paid by Lessee pursuant 
to the provisions of the Construction Services Agreement. 

  
B. By Lessee.   
 

1. Lessee covenants and agrees to indemnify and defend the District, and 
to hold the District and its Board, administrators,  employees, and agents (“Indemnitees”) harmless 
from any and all losses, claims, suits, damages, and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, 
and collectively referred to as “Claim”) arising from or in connection with any negligent or intentional 
acts or omissions of Lessee, its agents, employees, and consultants relating to Lessee’s performance 
of its obligations under this Site Lease, unless it is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction 
that such Claim was caused by the sole negligence or willful misconduct of any Indemnitee. 

 
2. Lessee shall indemnify and defend the District, and hold the District 

harmless, from any claim for employment benefits, workers’ compensation, or other benefits by any 
agent or employee of Lessee, or any consultant or sub consultant. 

 



10 
 

3. The District may retain, to the extent it deems necessary, the money 
due to Lessee under and by virtue of the Contract Documents until disposition has been made of any 
Claim specified above. 

 
C. All other indemnification issues related to this Site Lease, the Site, or the 

progress and prosecution of the Project shall be governed by the Construction Services Agreement 
and Sublease. 
 
SECTION 19. NOTICES. 
 

Any notices or filings required to be given or made under this Site Lease shall be given or made 
in writing, by personal delivery or registered mail, to the respective addresses given below or at such 
other address as such party may provide in accordance with the provisions of this Section. Any change 
in address shall not be binding upon the other party unless preceded by written notice of no less than 
thirty (30) days. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been received by the addressee if delivered 
to the person for whom it is intended or if sent by registered mail, return receipt requested, or fax 
followed by regular mail, addressed as follows: 

 
If to Lessee: S+B James Construction California Inc. 
 1450 Halyard Drive, Suite #11A 
 West Sacramento, CA 95691 
 Attn:  Silas Nigam 
  
                        
If to District: Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
 1018 C Street, Suite 210 
 Galt, CA 95632 
 Attn: Lois Yount, Superintendent  
With a Copy to: 
   Parker & Covert LLP 
   2520 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 190 
   Sacramento, CA 95833 
   Attn:  Addison Covert 

 
SECTION 20. NO THIRD PARTY RIGHTS.   
 

Nothing contained in this Site Lease shall create a contractual relationship with, or cause of 
action in favor of, any third party against either the District or Lessee. 
 
SECTION 21. BINDING EFFECT. 
 

This Site Lease shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the District, Lessee, and 
their respective successors in interest and assigns. 

 
SECTION 22.    SEVERABILITY. 
 



11 
 

 In the event any provision of this Site Lease shall be held invalid or unenforceable by any court 
of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any other provision 
hereof, unless elimination of such invalid provision materially alters the rights and obligations 
embodied in this Site Lease, the Sublease, or the Construction Services Agreement. 
 
SECTION 23. AMENDMENTS AND MODIFICATIONS. 
 

This Site Lease shall not be effectively amended, changed, modified, altered, or terminated 
without the written agreement of the District and Lessee. 
 
SECTION 24. EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS. 
 

This Site Lease may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original, 
and all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 
 
SECTION 25. LAWS, VENUE, AND ATTORNEYS’ FEES. 
 
 The terms and provisions of this Site Lease shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the 
State of California. If any action is brought in a court of law to enforce any term of this Site Lease, 
such action shall be brought in a state court situated in the County of Sacramento, State of 
California, unless a court finds jurisdiction or venue is only proper in a federal court, or a court 
outside this county.  If either party brings an action or proceeding involving the Site, to enforce the terms 
of this Site Lease, or to declare rights hereunder, each party shall bear the cost of its own attorneys’ fees. 

 
SECTION 26. INTEGRATION. 
 

This Site Lease represents the entire understanding of the District and Lessee as to those 
matters contained herein, and supersedes and cancels any prior oral or written understanding, promise, 
or representation with respect to those matters covered herein. 

 
SECTION 27. HEADINGS AND RECITALS. 
 

The captions or headings in this Site Lease are for convenience only and in no way define, 
limit, or describe the scope or intent of any provision or section of this Site Lease.  The recitals set forth 
at the beginning of this Site Lease are hereby incorporated herein by this reference. 

 
SECTION 28. TIME. 
 

Time is of the essence with respect to this Site Lease and each and all of its provisions. 



12 
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Site Lease by their 

authorized officers as of the day and year first written above. 

 
 
LESSEE: DISTRICT: 
 
S+B James Construction Galt Joint Union 
California Inc.                                                                Elementary School District 
   
 
By:   By:   
         
         
Its:             Its: ______________________________ 
        



13 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA    ) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF SACRAMENTO) 

 
 
 On ________________, 2023, before me, ____________________, a Notary Public in and 
for said County and State, personally appeared _________________, who proved to me on the 
basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within 
instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized 
capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity 
upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 
 
 I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 
 
 WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 
Signature _______________________ (Seal) 
 
 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual 
who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, 
or validity of that document. 



14 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA    ) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF SACRAMENTO) 
 
 
 On ________________, 2023, before me, ____________________, a Notary Public in and 
for said County and State, personally appeared _________________, who proved to me on the 
basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within 
instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized 
capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity 
upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 
 
 I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 
 
 WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 
Signature _______________________ (Seal) 
 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual 
who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or 
validity of that document. 



EXHIBIT “A” 

Agreement for Preliminary Services for the Construction of Improvements 

Board Approved May 17, 2023



Preliminary Services Agreement 
GJUESD & S+B James Construction California Inc. 

AGREEMENT FOR PRELIMINARY SERVICES 
FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVEMENTS 

This Agreement is made and entered into this 17th day of May, 2023, between the Galt 
Joint Union Elementary School District hereinafter referred to as “DISTRICT” and S+B James 
Construction California Inc. hereinafter referred to as “DEVELOPER,” for the purposes of 
providing preliminary consulting services to facilitate and manage the District Maintenance 
and Operations Shop Project. 

WHEREAS, DISTRICT has selected DEVELOPER to provide all facets needed to 
complete development of the Project pursuant to Education Code section 17406, including 
the preliminary consulting services detailed in this Agreement; 

WHEREAS, DEVELOPER desires to provide certain consulting services to the 
DISTRICT with respect to reviewing the Plans and Specifications for the Project, prepare 
cost estimates, prepare construction schedules, obtain proposals from trade contractors, 
and other related services in preparation for the Project’s development; 

WHEREAS, DEVELOPER represents that it and its referenced consultants are properly 
licensed and have the expertise and experience to obtain pricing from contractors, develop 
construction schedules, identify and order long lead items, coordinate construction activities, 
review and execute lease documents and perform the other development services set forth in 
this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, DISTRICT and DEVELOPER plan to enter into lease agreements which include 
construction provisions and related exhibits for the development of the Project pursuant to 
Education Code section 17406 (collectively, the “Lease Agreements”) after DEVELOPER’s 
performance of its duties as set forth in this Agreement. 

WHEREAS, the DISTRICT is authorized by Section 53060 of the California 
Government Code to contract with and employ any persons for the furnishing of special 
services and advice in financial, economic, accounting, engineering, legal or administrative 
matters, if those persons are specially trained and experienced and competent to perform 
the special services required; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I. -- SCOPE OF DEVELOPER SERVICES 

A. Scope. DEVELOPER, as the DISTRICT’s development consultant and authorized
representative as contemplated by Business and Professions Code 7040, agrees to
perform the services described in Exhibit B.

B. Warranty. DEVELOPER agrees and represents that it is qualified to properly provide
the services set forth in this Agreement in a manner which is consistent with the
generally accepted standards of DEVELOPER’s profession. DEVELOPER further
represents and agrees that it will perform said services in a legally adequate manner



Preliminary Services Agreement 
GJUESD & S+B James Construction California Inc.  

 

in conformance with applicable federal, state and local laws and guidelines, including, 
but not limited to, State Allocation Board guidelines for school construction and labor 
compliance programs. 

 
C. Schedule. Services outlined above will commence on the date the DISTRICT issues a 

notice to proceed for the Agreement, and conclude on or about July 1, 2023. It is 
anticipated that construction will commence on or about September 1, 2023. A more 
detailed schedule will be provided in the construction provisions. Any extension shall be 
subject to reasonable approval in writing by the parties. 

 
D. Limited Authority. The duties, responsibilities and limitations of authority of 

DEVELOPER shall not be restricted, modified or extended without written agreement 
between the DISTRICT and DEVELOPER. 

 
E. Construction. Upon agreement on the Guaranteed Maximum Price (“GMP”) and DSA 

approval of the Plans and Specifications, the DISTRICT and DEVELOPER plan to enter 
into the formal Lease Agreements to provide for the development of the Project; 
therefore, DEVELOPER shall perform the services described herein in a timely manner, 
consistent with the commencement dates stated herein. The formal Lease Agreements 
shall govern the construction and delivery of the Project. 

 
ARTICLE II. -- DISTRICT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

The DISTRICT has and shall continue to provide to DEVELOPER information regarding 
requirements for the Project, including information regarding the DISTRICT's objectives, 
schedule, constraints and criteria. DISTRICT will retain the firm of Parker and Covert LLP to 
represent the DISTRICT in negotiations and preparation of all legal documents, including the 
formal Lease Agreements in accordance with Education Code section 17406. 

 
ARTICLE III. -- TERMINATION 

 

A. Termination by DEVELOPER. This Agreement may be terminated by DEVELOPER 
upon fourteen (14) days written notice to DISTRICT in the event of an uncured 
substantial failure of performance by DISTRICT, unless the DISTRICT has acted to 
commence cure efforts in any case where a reasonable cure can not be concluded 
within the fourteen (14) day notice period. 

 
B. Termination by DISTRICT. This Agreement may be terminated at any time without 

cause by DISTRICT upon fourteen (14) days written notice to DEVELOPER. In the event 
of such a termination by DISTRICT, the DISTRICT shall pay DEVELOPER for all 
undisputed services performed and expenses incurred per this Agreement, supported 
by documentary evidence, including, but not limited to, payroll records, invoices from 
third parties retained by DEVELOPER pursuant to this Agreement, and expense reports 
up until the date of notice of termination plus any sums due DEVELOPER for Board 
approved extra services. In ascertaining the services actually rendered hereunder up 
to the date of termination of this Agreement, consideration shall be given to both 
completed work and work in process that would best serve the DISTRICT if a completed 
product was presented. 



Preliminary Services Agreement 
GJUESD & S+B James Construction California Inc.  

 

C. Ownership of Records. It is mutually agreed that all materials prepared by 
DEVELOPER under this Agreement shall become the property of the DISTRICT and 
DEVELOPER shall have no property right therein whatsoever. DEVELOPER hereby 
assigns to DISTRICT any copyrights associated with the materials prepared pursuant 
to the Agreement. Immediately upon termination and upon written request, the 
DISTRICT shall be entitled to, and DEVELOPER shall deliver to the DEVELOPER, all 
data, drawings, specifications, reports, estimates, summaries and such other materials 
and commissions as may have been prepared or accumulated to date by 
the DISTRICT in performing the Agreement (the “Termination Material”) which is not 
DEVELOPER privileged information, as defined by law, or DEVELOPER’s personnel 
information. 

 
ARTICLE IV. -- COMPENSATION TO DEVELOPER 

 

In consideration of DEVELOPER performance of services hereunder, DISTRICT agrees to: 
 

Reimburse DEVELOPER in the amount not to exceed Two Thousand Six Hundred and Ten 
Dollars ($2,610) for the performance of services contemplated by this Agreement. 
DEVELOPER shall be paid monthly for the actual fees incurred in line with the hourly fee 
schedule attached hereto as Exhibit C as well as for the allowed costs and expenses for all 
time and materials required and expended for work requested and specified by the DISTRICT 
as completed. Said amount shall be paid within thirty (30) days upon submittal to (and 
verification by) the DISTRICT of a monthly billing statement showing completion of the tasks 
for that month on a line item basis. When DEVELOPER and DISTRICT enter into the 
lease/leaseback agreements for the development of the Project, this compensation for services 
rendered will be included as part of the Guaranteed Maximum Price to be paid to DEVELOPER 
by DISTRICT. 

 
DEVELOPER shall be responsible for any and all costs and expenses incurred by DEVELOPER, 
including but not limited to the costs of hiring sub-consultants, contractors and other 
professionals, review of the Project, Plans and Specifications, review and preparation of 
necessary documentation relating to the development of the Project, all travel-related 
expenses, as well as for meetings with DISTRICT and its representatives, long distance 
telephone charges, copying expenses, salaries of DEVELOPER staff and employees working 
on the Project, overhead, and any other reasonable expenses incurred by DEVELOPER in 
performance of the services contemplated by this Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE V. -- LEASE DOCUMENTS 

 

Provided that an acceptable GMP is agreed to by the DISTRICT, DISTRICT and 
DEVELOPER shall enter into formal Lease Agreements which will govern the lease, 
construction and delivery of the Project subsequent to approval of the Plans and Specifications 
and DEVELOPER obtaining bids for delivery of a GMP for the Project which is acceptable to the 
DISTRICT. Parties anticipate entering into said documents on or about August 16, 2023. 

 
ARTICLE VI. -- MISCELLANEOUS 

 

A. Indemnity. DEVELOPER shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless DISTRICT, its 
administrators, Board and employees from all claims, liabilities, lawsuits, costs, losses, 
expenses, damages or judgments arising from any negligent or intentional acts or 



Preliminary Services Agreement 
GJUESD & S+B James Construction California Inc. 

omissions of DEVELOPER, its agents, employees and consultants relating to 
DEVELOPER performance of its obligations under this Agreement. DEVELOPER shall 
also defend, indemnify and hold harmless the DISTRICT from any claim for 
employment benefits, worker’s compensation or other benefits, by any agent or 
employee of DEVELOPER. In addition to the foregoing, each party shall indemnify, 
defend and hold harmless the other from all claims, demands, liabilities and actions 
arising out of claims for payment of fees, costs or expenses incurred by the 
indemnifying party with third parties in connection with their respective activities under 
this Agreement. 

B. Insurance. DEVELOPER shall not commence any work before obtaining and shall
maintain in force at all times during the duration and performance of this Agreement
and the Project the policies of insurance specified in this Section. Such insurance must
have the approval of the DISTRICT as to limit, form, and amount, and shall be placed
with insurers with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A: VII.

1. Prior to execution of this Agreement and prior to commencement of any work,
DEVELOPER shall furnish the DISTRICT with original endorsements effecting
coverage for all policies required by the Agreement. The endorsements shall be
signed by a person authorized by the insurer to bind coverage on its behalf.
Subject to acceptance by the DISTRICT, DEVELOPER’s insurer will provide
complete certificates of insurance and upon request certified copies of all
required insurance policies, including endorsements effecting the coverage
required by this Section. DEVELOPER agrees to furnish one copy of each
required policy to the DISTRICT, and additional copies as requested in writing,
certified by an authorized representative of the insurer. Approval of the
insurance by the DISTRICT shall not relieve or decrease any liability of
DEVELOPER.

2. In addition to any other remedy the DISTRICT may have, if DEVELOPER fails
to maintain the insurance coverage as required in this Section, the DISTRICT
may obtain such insurance coverage as is not being maintained, in form and
amount substantially the same as is required herein, and the DISTRICT may
deduct the cost of such insurance from any amounts due or which may become
due under this Agreement.

3. Each insurance policy required by this Agreement shall be endorsed to state
that coverage shall not be suspended, voided, canceled, terminated by either
party, reduced in coverage or in limits except after thirty (30) days’ prior
written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, has been given to the
DISTRICT.

4. Any deductibles must be declared to, and approved by, the DISTRICT.

5. The requirement as to types, limits, and the DISTRICT’s approval of insurance
coverage to be maintained by DEVELOPER are not intended to, and shall not in
any manner, limit or qualify the liabilities and obligations assumed by
DEVELOPER under the Agreement.



Preliminary Services Agreement 
GJUESD & S+B James Construction California Inc.  

 

6. DEVELOPER and its subconsultants and subcontractors shall, at their expense, 
maintain in effect at all times during the performance or work on the Project 
not less than the following coverage and limits of insurance, which shall be 
maintained with insurers and under forms of policy satisfactory to the 
DISTRICT. The maintenance by DEVELOPER and its subconsultants and 
subcontractors of the following coverage and limits of insurance is a material 
element of this Agreement. The failure of DEVELOPER or of any of its 
contractors or subcontractors to maintain or renew coverage or to provide 
evidence of renewal may be treated by the DISTRICT as a material breach of 
this Agreement. 

7. Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance. 
 

a. Worker’s Compensation - Insurance to protect DEVELOPER, its 
contractors, subconsultants and subcontractors from all claims under 
Worker’s  Compensation and Employer’s  Liability Acts, including 
Longshoremen’s and Harbor Worker’s Act (“Acts”), if applicable. Such 
coverage shall be maintained, in type and amount, in strict compliance 
with all applicable state and federal statutes and regulations. 
DEVELOPER shall execute a certificate in compliance with Labor Code 
Section 3700, on the form attached to this Agreement. 

 
b. Claims Against DISTRICT - If an injury occurs to any employee of 

DEVELOPER for which the employee or his/her dependents, in the event 
of his death, may be entitled to compensation from the DISTRICT under 
the provisions of said Act, for which compensation is claimed from the 
DISTRICT, and if such injury is a compensable injury under said Acts, 
there will be retained out of the sums due DEVELOPER under this 
Agreement, an amount sufficient to cover such compensation as fixed 
by said Acts, until such compensation is paid or it is determined that no 
compensation is due. If the DISTRICT is required to pay such 
compensation, the amount so paid will be deducted and retained from 
any sums due, or to become due to DEVELOPER. 

 
8. Commercial General and any Auto Automobile Liability Insurance. 

 
a. The insurance shall include, but shall not be limited to, protection 

against claims arising from death, bodily or personal injury, or damage 
to property resulting from actions, failures to act, or operations of the 
insured, or by its employees or agents, or by anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by the insured. The amount of insurance coverage 
shall not be less than $1,000,000 per occurrence. 

 
b. The Commercial general and any auto automobile liability insurance 

coverage shall also include, or be endorsed to include, the following: 
 

(i) Provision or endorsement naming the DISTRICT and each of its 
officers, officials, employees, agents, and volunteers as 
additional insureds in regards to: liability arising out of the 
performance of or failure to perform any work under the 
Agreement or on the Project; liability arising out of activities 



Preliminary Services Agreement 
GJUESD & S+B James Construction California Inc.  

 

performed by or on behalf of DEVELOPER; premises owned, 
occupied or used by DEVELOPER; or automobiles owned, leased, 
hired or borrowed by DEVELOPER. The coverage shall contain no 
special limitations on the scope of protection afforded to the 
DISTRICT, its officers, officials, employees, agents or volunteers. 

 
(ii) Provision or endorsement stating that for any claims related to 

this Project, DEVELOPER’s insurance coverage shall be primary 
insurance as respects the DISTRICT, its officers, officials, 
employees, agents, and volunteers to the extent the DISTRICT 
is an additional insured.  Any insurance or self-insurance 
maintained by the DISTRICT, its officers, officials, employees, 
agents or volunteers shall be in excess of DEVELOPER’s 
insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

 
(iii) Provision or endorsement stating that DEVELOPER’s failure to 

comply with reporting or other provisions of the policies including 
breaches of representations shall not affect coverage provided to 
the DISTRICT, its officers, officials, employees, agents, or 
volunteers. 

 
(iv) Provision or endorsement stating that DEVELOPER’s insurance 

shall apply separately to each insured against whom claim is 
made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of the 
insurer’s liability. 

 
(v) Provision or endorsement stating that such insurance, subject to 

all of its other terms and conditions, applies to the liability 
assumed by DEVELOPER under the Agreement, including, 
without limitation, that set forth in Article VI, Section A, 
Indemnity. 

 
C. No Design Responsibility. DISTRICT acknowledges that DEVELOPER, in performing 

those services set forth in this Agreement, will be acting as a knowledgeable and 
experienced contractor in carrying out its duties under this Agreement and is not 
acting, and does not purport to act, as a design professional and is assuming no design 
responsibility under this Agreement. 

 
D. Limitation of Liability. DEVELOPER’s liability arising out of the performance of the 

work hereunder shall be limited to the aggregate of (1) the insurance coverage limits 
required under this Agreement; (2) any additional insurance coverage provided by 
DEVELOPER’s policies for any such loss or damage; and (3) the amount of fees and 
expenses paid by DISTRICT to DEVELOPER in connection with this Agreement. 

 
E. Independent Contractor. DEVELOPER, in the performance of this Agreement, is and 

shall be and an independent Contractor. DEVELOPER understands and agrees that 
DEVELOPER and all of DEVELOPER’s employees, agents, contractors, subcontractors, 
consultants, and subconsultants shall not be considered officers, officials, employees 
or agents of the DISTRICT. 



Preliminary Services Agreement 
GJUESD & S+B James Construction California Inc. 

F. No Third Party Rights. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a contractual
relationship with or a cause of action in favor of any third party that is not a party to
this agreement against either the DISTRICT or DEVELOPER.

G. Binding on Successors. The DISTRICT and DEVELOPER, respectively, bind
themselves, their partners, officers, successors, assigns and legal representatives to
the other party to this Agreement with respect to the terms of this Agreement.
DEVELOPER shall not assign this Agreement.

H. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of
California, and venue for any action to enforce shall be in the County in which the
Project is located.

I. Modifications. This Agreement may be amended or modified only by an agreement
in writing signed by both the DISTRICT and DEVELOPER.

This Agreement has been entered into as of the day and year first written above. 

“DISTRICT” “DEVELOPER” 

      

By: By:  

Name: Lois Yount Name: 
Title: Superintendent Title: 

GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY 
SCHOOL DISTRICT  

S&B JAMES CONSTRUCTION 
CALIFORNIA INC 



Exhibit A 

Workers’ Compensation Certificate 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH LABOR CODE § 3700 

I am aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the Labor Code which require 

every employer to be insured against liability for workers’ compensation or to undertake self-

insurance in accordance with the provisions of that code, and I will comply with such 

provisions before commencing the performance of the work of this Agreement. 

By:  

Title:  



Exhibit B 

Scope of Services 

DEVELOPER shall provide all usual and all reasonable services as needed in the 
circumstances and such services shall include without limitation: 

A. Site Evaluation and Coordination

1. Evaluate existing site to determine access requirements, undocumented
utility appurtenances, condition of salvage items and impacts from
observable soil conditions.

2. Provide recommendations relating to soil investigations and utility
locations and capacities.

3. Develop written report capturing observations and subsequent
recommendations and submit to DISTRICT.

B. Plan Review

1. Review initial conceptual design and make recommendations to assist in
achieving conformance with DISTRICT’s construction budget.

2. Review plans and specifications for each design increment at 100% DD
phase and CD Phase (prior to DSA submittal) and evaluate design
concepts, systems and details for construction and sequence feasibility.

3. Develop written report capturing observations and subsequent
recommendations and submit to DISTRICT.

4. Meet and work with DISTRICT’s design team to insure that project design
is consistent with DISTRICT’s current design standards and incorporates
relevant recommendations.

C. Meetings

1. Attend weekly Design Team meetings, DISTRICT and site staff meetings,
and other community and stakeholder meetings as required.

D. Accounting and Budget Management System

1. In concert with DISTRICT staff and consultants, develop the Project
accounting and budget management systems. A process of providing up
to date costs is required. During construction, monthly reporting will be
required.



E. Value Engineering

1. Review plans and specifications and make recommendations for each
design increment and evaluate design concepts, systems and details
for cost effectiveness, space usage, and schedule efficiencies.

2. Provide DISTRICT with two (2) written evaluations of plan review at
two different design stages (stages to be determined) and provide
subsequent recommendations, including written analysis of long lead
purchases with associated recommendations.

F. CPM Scheduling/Methodology and Strategic Plan

1. Develop one conceptual schedule (at design stage to be determined)
for each design increment detailing projected sequence of work and
duration.

2. Develop a master conceptual schedule for incorporating sequence and
durations for scope of each design increment. Overall sequence of
construction will be based on the information received from the
DISTRICT, the Project architect and site staffs reflecting the school’s
schedule and potential construction conflicts from work of other
contracts.

3. Prepare written narrative reflecting construction methodology and
outlining strategic plan to be submitted with master schedule.

4. Develop cash flow projections in association with master conceptual
schedules.

G. Preliminary and Detailed Estimating

1. Develop detailed estimates of probable construction costs for each design
increment at the following stages of design:

a. 100% Completion - Conceptual Design Phase

b. 100% Completion – Design Development Phase

c. 50% Completion – Construction Document Phase

d. 90% Completion – Construction Document Phase/Submittal to
DSA

2. Develop one detailed master estimate for complete site scope of work at
minimum Design Development Phase.

3. Cost estimates will follow a unit price format broken down by
Construction Specification Institute sections of work.



H. Construction Planning

1. Develop Construction Staging and Phasing plan consistent with design
documents, Increment Submittals and DISTRICT’s bond program execution
schedule.

2. Indicate contractor lay-down areas, access points, temporary construction
facilities (trailers, site fencing, etc).

3. Indicate campus traffic sequencing and special controls impacting campus
operations.

4. Prepare a Construction Staging and Phasing plan and submit to DISTRICT.

I. Procurement/GMP Development

1. Prior to and in preparation of final GMP development, develop detailed
scopes of work for each trade in each design increment.

2. Develop and initiate subcontractor pre-qualification process as required
and evaluate responses.

3. Advertise and solicit subcontractor and vendor proposals for each
applicable trade for each design increment proposal stage utilizing vendor
databases and local resources for solicitation.

4. Evaluate subcontractor and vendor proposals for price, completeness,
responsiveness and qualifications giving significant consideration to local
subcontractors and vendors and negotiate with successful bidders as
required.

5. In coordination with DISTRICT and Design Team, review subcontractor and
vendor proposals to finalize selection of subcontractors and material
vendors.

6. Develop final GMP proposals for each design increment utilizing selected
subcontractors and material vendors and submit to DISTRICT in final cost
proposal formats.

J. Schedule for Construction

Construction is anticipated to start on September 1, 2023 and be completed by 
March 1, 2024. 



Exhibit C 

Preconstruction Services Budget 
See Attached  





EXHIBIT “B” 

Description of the Site 
Site Map 





EXHIBIT “C” 

Sublease 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS SHOP PROJECT   
 
 
 

SUBLEASE AGREEMENT 
 

Dated as of ________ 
 

Between 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
 

and 
 

S+B James Construction California Inc. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



1 
 

 
 

Maintenance and Operations Shop Project   
 

SUBLEASE AGREEMENT 
 

This Sublease Agreement (“Sublease”) is dated as of _________2023, and is by and between 
the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District, a school district duly organized and existing under 
the laws of the State of California (“District”), and S+B James Construction California Inc. (“Lessor”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 17400 et seq. of the Education Code, District may enter into 
leases and agreements relating to real property and buildings to be used by District;  
 
 WHEREAS, District deems it essential for its own governmental purpose, to finance the 
construction and installation of certain improvements at the transportation, maintenance and 
operations yard. Scope of work consists of Construction of a 60 ft. x 100 ft. (6,000 SF) pre-
engineered metal building and site improvements to house the new school district Maintenance 
and Operations Shop. The scope will include two maintenance bays, shop area, office, and 
restroom. Site improvements include underground utilities, grading, and asphalt paving for 
vehicle circulation and parking.  Domestic water, sanitary sewer, and storm drain shall be 
extended from existing services.  A new water service from the main will be provided to serve 
the building’s automatic fire sprinkler system and the additional site fire hydrant, Exhibit “A” 
(together, the “Project”) attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference and situated at 
District’s, transportation, maintenance and operations yard as shown on Exhibit “B” (“Site”), 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference;  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 17406 of the Education Code, District is leasing the Site to 
Lessor under a lease agreement dated as of _______ 2023 (“Site Lease”) in consideration of Lessor 
leasing and subleasing the Project and the Site to District pursuant to the terms of this Sublease;  
 

WHEREAS, District owns the Site and pursuant to that certain Construction Services 
Agreement entered into by and between District and Lessor dated as of ________ 2023 (“Construction 
Services Agreement”), District has adopted plans and specifications pending approval by the Division 
of the State Architect (“DSA”) for the completion of the Project;  

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Education of the District (the “Board”) has determined that it is in 

the best interests of the District and for the common benefit of the citizens in the District to construct 
the Project by leasing the Site to Lessor and by simultaneously entering into this Sublease under which 
the District will lease back the Site and the Project from Lessor and if necessary, make Sublease 
Payments as indicated in Section 4.2 and Exhibit “C”, attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
reference;  

 
WHEREAS, the District further acknowledges and agrees that it has entered into the Site Lease 

and Sublease pursuant to Education Code Section 17406 as the best available and most expeditious 



2 
 

means for the District to satisfy its substantial need for the facilities to be provided by the Project and 
to accommodate and educate District students; and 
 

WHEREAS, District and Lessor agree to mutually cooperate now or hereafter, to the extent 
possible, in order to sustain the intent of this Sublease and the bargain of both parties hereto, and to 
provide Sublease Payments to be made on the dates and in the amount set forth herein. 
 

WITNESSETH 
 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, District 
and Lessor agree as follows: 

 
SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS.  

 
Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms defined in this Section shall, for all purposes 

of this Sublease, have the meanings as herein specified. 
 

A. “Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of Completion” mean those certificates 
signed by a District Representative to the effect that the Project has been substantially completed. 
 

B. “Construction Costs” means any and all reasonable and necessary costs incurred by 
Lessor with respect to the construction and equipping, as the case may be, of the Project, including, 
without limitation, costs for the Site preparation, the construction of the  Project and related facilities 
and improvements, and all other work in connection therewith; all costs of financing, including, without 
limitation, the cost of consultant, accounting and legal services, other expenses necessary or incident to 
determining the feasibility of the Project, contractors’ and developers’ overhead and supervisors’ fees, 
and costs directly allocable to the Project; and all costs and expenses including any taxes or insurance 
premiums paid by Lessor with respect to the Property, administrative and other expenses necessary or 
incident to the Project and the financing thereof (including reimbursement to any municipality, District, 
or other entity for expenditures made, with the prior approval of District, for the Project). 

 
C. “Construction Services Agreement” means the Construction Services Agreement for 

construction of site work improvements involving ground improvements, construction of dense 
aggregate columns, excavation and re-compaction of soils and installation of Site utilities as part of the 
Project related to the construction of certain improvement at the transportation, maintenance and 
operations yard, by and between District and Lessor, dated as of _____________2023. 
 

D. “Contract Documents” means the Construction Services Agreement, this Sublease, 
and the Site Lease. 
 

E. “District” means the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District, a school district 
duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of California. 
 

F. “Effective Date” shall mean the day on which District issues a Notice to Proceed for 
the Project in accordance with Section 5 of the Construction Services Agreement. 
 



3 
 

G. “Event of Default” means one or more events of default as defined in Section 20 of 
this Sublease. 
 

H. “Guaranteed Maximum Price” or “GMP” means the Guaranteed Maximum Price 
established pursuant to Section 4 of the Construction Services Agreement, consisting of the combined 
“Tenant Improvement Payments” and “Sublease Payments” as such terms are defined in Exhibit “C” 
of this Sublease. 

 
I. “Lessor” shall mean S+B James Construction California Inc. and its successors and 

assigns. 
 
J. “Site” means that certain parcel of real property and improvements thereon (if any) 

more particularly described in Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 
 

K. “Project” means the construction of improvements and equipment to be constructed 
and installed by Lessor at the Site, as more particularly described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto. 
 

L. “Site Lease” means the Site Lease dated as of ______________2023, by and between 
District and Lessor, together with any duly authorized and executed amendment thereto under which 
District leases the Site to Lessor. 
 

M. “Sublease” means this Sublease together with any duly authorized and executed 
amendment hereto. 

 
N. “Sublease Payment” means any payment required to be made by District pursuant to 

Section 4.2 and Exhibit “C” of this Sublease. 
 
O. "Tenant Improvement Payments" means any payment required to be made by 

District pursuant to the Construction Services Agreement and Exhibit “C” of this Sublease. 
 

P. “Term of this Sublease” or “Term” means the time during which this Sublease is in 
effect, as provided for in Section 3 of this Sublease. 
 
SECTION 2. SUBLEASE. 
 

Lessor hereby leases and subleases to District, and District hereby leases and subleases from 
Lessor the Project and the Site, including any real property improvements now or hereafter affixed 
thereto in accordance with the provisions herein for the full term of this Sublease. The leasing by Lessor 
to District of the Site shall not effect or result in a merger of District’s leasehold estate pursuant to this 
Sublease and its fee estate as Lessor under the Site Lease, and Lessor shall continue to have and hold 
a leasehold estate in said Site pursuant to the Site Lease throughout the term thereof and the term of 
this Sublease. 

 



4 
 

SECTION 3. TERM OF THE SUBLEASE. 
 

A. The terms and conditions of this Sublease shall become effective upon the Effective 
Date.  The term of this Sublease for the purposes of District's obligation to make Sublease Payments 
shall commence on the earlier of the following two (2) events (“Commencement Date”) and shall 
terminate three (3) months after the Commencement Date  
(the “Term”): 
 

1. The date the District takes beneficial occupancy of the Project; or 
 
2. The date of Project Completion, as defined in Section 12 of this Sublease. 
 

B. On the Commencement Date, the parties shall execute the Memorandum of 
Commencement attached hereto as Exhibit “D” to memorialize the commencement and expiration 
dates of the Term.  Notwithstanding this Term, the parties hereby acknowledge that each has 
obligations, duties, and rights under this Sublease that exist upon the Effective Date and prior to the 
beginning of the Term. 

 
C. Adjustment of Term. The Term may be extended or shortened upon the occurrence 

of any of the following events: 
 

1. An Event of Default, as specified below, and non-defaulting party’s election 
to terminate this Sublease; 
 

2. A third-party taking of the Project under Eminent Domain, only if the Term is 
ended as indicated in Section 15 of the Site Lease; or 
 

3. The exercise of District’s Purchase Option under Section 7, below. 
 

SECTION 4. REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS, AND WARRANTIES OF 
DISTRICT.  

 
District represents, covenants, and warrants to Lessor that: 

 
A. District is a political subdivision duly organized and existing under the Constitution 

and laws of the State of California with authority to enter into this Sublease and to perform all of its 
obligations hereunder; 

 
B. District’s governing body has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this 

Sublease and further represents and warrants that all requirements have been met and procedures 
followed to ensure its enforceability; 
 

C. The execution, delivery, and performance of this Sublease does not and will not 
result in any breach of or constitute a default under any indenture, mortgage, contract, agreement, or 
instrument to which District is a party by which it or its property is bound; 
 



5 
 

D. There is no pending or, to the knowledge of District, threatened action or proceeding 
before any court or administrative agency which will materially adversely affect the ability of 
District to perform its obligations under this Sublease; 
 

E. The Project and the Site are essential to District in the performance of its 
governmental functions and their estimated useful life to District exceeds the term of this Sublease; 
 

F. District shall take such action as may be necessary to include all Sublease Payments 
in its annual budget and annually to appropriate an amount necessary to make such Sublease 
Payments; 

 
G. District shall not abandon the Site for the use for which it is currently required by 

District and, to the extent permitted by law, District shall not seek to substitute or acquire property 
to be used as a substitute for the uses for which the Site is maintained under the Sublease; and 
 

H. District shall not allow any Hazardous Substances (as such term is defined in the 
Site Lease and limited by that which shall be disclosed by District prior to the commencement date 
for the Project in the Notice to Proceed) to be used or stored on, under, or about the  Site. 
 
SECTION 5.  REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS,  AND WARRANTIES OF LESSOR.  
 

Lessor represents, covenants, and warrants to District that: 
 

A. Lessor is duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing as a corporation 
under the laws of the State of California, with full power and authority to lease and own real and 
personal property in California; 
 

B. Lessor has full power, authority, and legal right to enter into and perform its 
obligations under this Sublease, and the execution, delivery, and performance of this Sublease has 
been duly authorized by all necessary company actions on the part of Lessor and does not require 
any further approvals or consents; 
 

C. The execution, delivery, and performance of this Sublease does not and will not 
result in any breach of or constitute a default under any indenture, mortgage, contract, agreement, 
or instrument to which Lessor is a party by which it or its property is bound; 
 

D. There is no pending or, to the knowledge of Lessor, threatened action or proceeding 
before any court or administrative agency which will materially adversely affect the ability of 
Lessor to perform its obligations under this Sublease; 

 
E. Lessor will not mortgage or encumber the Site or sublease or assign this Sublease 

or its rights to receive Sublease Payments hereunder, except as permitted herein; and 
 
F. Lessor shall not allow any Hazardous Substances (as such term is defined in the 

Site Lease) to be used or stored on, under, or about the Site. 
 



6 
 

SECTION 6. CONSTRUCTION/ACQUISITION. 
 

A. District has entered into a Construction Services Agreement and a Site Lease with 
Lessor in order to acquire and construct the Project. The cost of the construction and installation 
of the Project is determined by the GMP as set forth in Section 4 of the Construction Services 
Agreement. 
 

B. In order to ensure that moneys sufficient to pay all costs will be available for this 
purpose when required, District shall maintain funds on deposit in its general fund and shall 
annually appropriate funds sufficient to make all Sublease Payments which become due to Lessor 
under this Sublease Agreement. 

 
SECTION 7. SUBLEASE PAYMENTS. 
 

A. District shall pay Lessor sublease payments (“Sublease Payments”) in accordance 
with the provisions in Exhibit “C” of this Sublease. The District shall have no obligation to make 
Sublease Payments hereunder in the event the Effective Date of this Sublease does not occur as a 
result of District’s inability to issue a Notice to Proceed for the  Project pursuant to the provisions 
of Section 5 of the Construction Services Agreement. 

 
B. Should District fail to pay any part of the Sublease Payments not otherwise 

excused pursuant to this Section or Section 9, below, within fifteen (15) business days from the 
due date thereof, District shall, upon Lessor’s written request, pay interest on such delinquent 
payment from the date said payment was due until paid at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per 
annum or the maximum legal rate, whichever is less. 

 
C. Purchase Option.  If District is not in default hereunder, District shall be granted 

the option to purchase not less than the entire Project in its “as-is” condition and terminate the 
Sublease.  Under no circumstances can the purchase option occur on or before one-half of the 
Sublease Payments, in accordance with the terms of Exhibit “C,” have been made by the District.  
If the District exercises this option, the District shall pay directly to Lessor all remaining Sublease 
Payments and Tenant Improvement Payments, not previously paid. 

 
D. Each Payment Constitutes a Current Expense of District. 
 

1. The District and Contractor understand and intent that the obligation of the 
District to pay Sublease Payments and other payments hereunder constitutes a current expense of 
the District and shall not in any way be construed to be a debt of the District in contravention of 
any applicable constitutional or statutory limitation or requirement concerning the creation of 
indebtedness by the District, nor shall anything contained herein constitute a pledge of the general 
tax revenues, funds or moneys of the District. 

 
2. Sublease Payments due hereunder shall be payable only from current funds 

which are budgeted and appropriated or otherwise made legally available for this purpose.  This 
Sublease shall not create an immediate indebtedness for any aggregate payments that may become 
due hereunder. 



7 
 

 
3. The District covenants to take all necessary actions to include the estimated 

Sublease Payments in each of its final approved annual budgets. 
 
4. The District further covenants to make all necessary appropriations 

(including any supplemental appropriations) from any source of legally available funds of the 
District for the actual amount of Sublease Payments that come due and payable during the period 
covered by each such budget.  Contractor acknowledges that the District has not pledged the full 
faith and credit of the District, State of California or any state agency or state department to the 
payment of Sublease Payments or any other payments due hereunder.  The covenants on the part 
of District contained in this Sublease constitute duties imposed by law and it shall be the duty of 
each and every public official of the District to take such action and do such things as are required 
by law in the performance of the official duty of such officials to enable the District to carry out 
and perform the covenants and agreements in this Sublease agreed to be carried out and performed 
by the District. 

 
5. The Contractor cannot, under any circumstances, accelerate the District’s 

payments under the Sublease. 
 

SECTION 8. FAIR RENTAL VALUE. 
 

“Sublease Payments” as defined in Exhibit “C” of this Sublease shall be paid by District in 
consideration of the right of possession of, and the continued quiet use and enjoyment of, the Project 
and the Site during the Term.  Title to the tenant improvements shall vest progressively as Tenant 
Improvement Payments are made under the Construction Services Agreement and Sublease Payments 
are made under the Sublease, but title shall not fully vest until the end of the Term of this Sublease and 
payment of any amounts owed under this Sublease.  The parties hereto have agreed and determined 
that such total rental is not in excess of the fair rental value for the Project and the Site.  In making such 
determination, consideration has been given to the fair market value for the Project and the Site; other 
obligations of the parties under this Sublease (including, but not limited to, costs of maintenance, taxes, 
and insurance); the uses and purposes which may be served by the Project and the Site, and the benefits 
therefrom which will accrue to District and the general public; and the ability of District to make 
additions, modifications, and improvements to the Project and the Site which are not inconsistent with 
the Construction Services Agreement and which do not interfere with Lessor’s work on the Project 
and the Site. 
 
SECTION 9. SUBLEASE PAYMENT ABATEMENT. 
 

In addition to delay of Sublease Payments provided in Section 7, above, Sublease Payments 
due hereunder with respect to the Project and the Site shall be subject to abatement prior to the 
commencement of the use of the Project and the Site by District or during any period in which, by 
reason of material damage to or destruction of the Project or the Site, there is substantial interference 
with the use and right of possession by District of the Project and the Site or any substantial portion 
thereof. For each potential incident of substantial interference, decisions to be made on i) whether or 
not abatement shall apply; ii) the date upon which abatement shall commence; iii) the applicable 
portion of Sublease Payments to be abated; and iv) the concluding date of the particular abatement 



8 
 

shall all be subject to determinations by District. The amount of Sublease abatement shall be such that 
the Sublease Payments paid by District during the period of the Project and Site restoration do not 
exceed the fair rental value of the usable portions of the Project and  Site. In the event of any damage 
or destruction to the Project or the Site, this Sublease shall continue in full force and effect. If, after the 
parties have executed the Memorandum of Commencement Date attached as Exhibit “D”, the Project 
is destroyed or damaged beyond repair, the District may determine to abate its use of the Project, and 
upon written notice to Lessor, the Term shall cease.  Thereafter, the District shall have no obligation 
to make, nor shall Lessor have the right to demand, any future Sublease Payments as indicated in the 
GMP provisions of Exhibit “C” to this Sublease. 

 
SECTION 10. USE OF  SITE AND  PROJECT. 
 

Lessor acknowledges that portions of the property shall, at all times, be occupied by the District 
as an operating property for the District. During the term of this Sublease, Lessor shall provide District 
with quiet use and enjoyment of such occupied portions of the Site without suit, or hindrance from 
Lessor or its assigns, provided District is in compliance with its duties under this Sublease. District will 
not use, operate, or maintain the Site or Project improperly, carelessly, in violation of any applicable 
law, or in a manner contrary to that contemplated by this Sublease. District shall provide all permits 
and licenses, if any, necessary for the operation of the Project and Site. In addition, District agrees to 
comply in all respects (including, without limitation, with respect to the time, maintenance, and 
operation of the Project and Site) with laws of all jurisdictions in which its operations involving the 
Project and Site may extend and any legislative, executive, administrative, or judicial body exercising 
any power or jurisdiction over the Site or Project; provided, however, that District may contest in good 
faith the validity or application of any such law or rule in any reasonable manner which does not, in 
the opinion of Lessor, adversely affect the estate of Lessor in and to the Site or Project or its interest or 
rights under this Sublease. Upon substantial completion of the Project or severable portions hereof, 
Lessor shall provide District with quiet use and enjoyment of the Site and Project without suit or 
hindrance from Lessor or its assigns, subject to reasonable interference from ongoing construction 
operations on any remaining portion of the Site under construction by Lessor. 
 
SECTION 11. LESSOR’S INSPECTION/ACCESS TO THE  SITE. 
 

District agrees that, with prior written approval of District, Lessor and any of Lessor’s 
representatives shall have the right at reasonable times to enter upon the Site or any portion thereof to 
construct and improve the Project, to examine and inspect the Site and Project, and to exercise its 
remedies pursuant to the section in this Sublease entitled “Remedies on Default.” 

 
SECTION 12.  PROJECT COMPLETION AND ACCEPTANCE. 
 

District shall acknowledge final inspection and completion of the Project by executing a 
Certificate of Acceptance approved by the governing board (“Project Completion”), and recording a 
Notice of Completion. 
 



9 
 

SECTION 13. CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT AND SITE LEASE. 
 
 All of the terms and conditions of the Site Lease and Construction Services Agreement apply 
to this Sublease as if they were contained in this Sublease. 
 
SECTION 14. ALTERATIONS AND ATTACHMENTS.  
 

All permanent additions and improvements that are made to the Project shall belong to and 
become the property of Lessor, subject to the provisions of the Site Lease. Separately identifiable 
attachments added to the Project by District shall remain the property of District. 

 
SECTION 15. MAINTENANCE. 

 
Once the Project is substantially complete and occupied by the District, the District shall have 

responsibility for maintenance and repair of the entire Project and the  Site, except for warranty or other 
obligations of Lessor relating to the improvements as set forth in the Construction Services Agreement. 

 
SECTION 16. UTILITIES. 

 
Unless otherwise so specified in the Construction Services Agreement, District shall, in its own 

name, contract for and pay the expenses of all utility services required for the Project once constructed.  
Such utilities include but are not limited to, all air conditioning, heating, electrical, gas, refuse 
collection, water, and sewer units. District shall be liable for payment as well as maintenance of all 
utility services received. 

 
SECTION 17. PHYSICAL DAMAGE; PUBLIC LIABILITY INSURANCE. 
 
 Lessor and District shall maintain such damage and public liability insurance policies with 
respect to the Project and Site as required by the Construction Services Agreement.  
 
SECTION 18. TAXES. 
 

District shall keep the Project and the  Site free and clear of all levies, liens, and encumbrances 
and shall pay all license fees, registration fees, assessments, charges, and taxes (municipal, state, and 
federal) if applicable, which may now or hereafter be imposed upon the ownership, leasing, renting, 
sale, possession, or use of the  Project and the  Site, excluding, however, all taxes on or measured by 
Lessor’s income. 

 
SECTION 19. INDEMNITY. 
 

In addition to the indemnification set forth in Section 35 of the Construction Services 
Agreement and Section 18 of the Site Lease, to the extent permitted by law, the parties shall, with 
respect to the  Project and the  Site, indemnify each other against and hold each other harmless from 
any and all claims, actions, suits, proceedings, costs, expenses, damages, and liabilities, including 
attorneys’ fees, arising out of, connected with, or resulting from any acts of omission or commission 
by the indemnifying party’s employees and Sublease aspects of the  Project and third parties on the  



10 
 

Site, including, without limitation, the construction, possession, use or operation of the  Project 
including any and all claims, actions, suits, proceedings, costs, expenses, damages, and liabilities 
brought by third parties under the supervision, direction, or control of the indemnifying party. 
 
SECTION 20. EVENTS  OF  DEFAULT.  
 

The term “Event of Default,” as used in this Sublease means the occurrence of any one or more 
of the following events: 

 
A. District fails to make any unexcused Sublease Payment (or any other payment) 

within fifteen (15) days after the due date thereof or District fails to perform or observe any other 
covenant, condition, or agreement to be performed or observed by it hereunder and such failure to 
either make the payment or perform the covenant, condition, or agreement is not cured within ten 
(10) days after written notice thereof by Lessor. 
 

B. Lessor discovers that any statement, representation, or warranty made by District 
in this Sublease, or in any document ever delivered by District pursuant hereto or in connection 
herewith is misleading or erroneous in any material respect. 
 

C. District becomes insolvent, is unable to pay its debts as they become due, makes an 
assignment for the benefit of creditors, applies or consents to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, 
conservator, or liquidator of District or of all or a substantial part of its assets, or a petition for 
relief is filed by District under federal bankruptcy, insolvency, or similar laws. 

 
D. Lessor fails to perform or observe any covenant, condition, or agreement to be 

performed or observed by it hereunder and such failure to perform the covenant, condition, or 
agreement is not cured within ten (10) days after written notice thereof by District. 

 
E. District discovers that any statement, representation, or warranty made by Lessor 

in this Sublease, or in any document ever delivered by Lessor pursuant hereto or in connection 
herewith is misleading or erroneous in any material respect. 

 
F. Lessor becomes insolvent, is unable to pay its debts as they become due, makes an 

assignment for the benefit of creditors, applies or consents to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, 
conservator, or liquidator of Lessor or of all or a substantial part of its assets, or a petition for relief 
is filed by Lessor under federal bankruptcy, insolvency, or similar laws. 

 
SECTION 21. REMEDIES  ON  DEFAULT.  

 
Upon the happening of any Event of Default, the non-defaulting party may exercise remedies 

set forth below; provided, however, that notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, there shall be 
no right under any circumstances to accelerate the Sublease Payments or otherwise declare any 
Sublease Payments not then in default to be immediately due and payable.  
 



11 
 

A. In the event that the non-defaulting party does not elect to terminate this Sublease 
pursuant to subsection B., below, the parties shall remain responsible for the performance of all 
conditions herein. 

 
B. In the event of termination of this Sublease by Lessor at its option and in the manner 

hereinafter provided on account of default by District, District shall pay Lessor undisputed Sublease 
Payments then owing for past Sublease Payments due and not paid and undisputed compensation on 
the basis of time and materials for all labor, materials, and services provided up to the date of Lessor’s 
termination of the Sublease. In the event of termination of this Sublease by District at its option and in 
the manner hereinafter provided on account of default by Lessor, District shall not be responsible to 
pay Lessor future Sublease Payments or compensate Lessor for time and materials for labor, materials, 
and services provided after the date of District’s termination of the Sublease. 
 

No right or remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the parties is exclusive of any other 
right or remedy herein, but each shall be cumulative of every other right or remedy given hereunder or 
now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute or otherwise, and may be enforced 
concurrently therewith or from time to time; provided, however, that notwithstanding any provisions 
to the contrary herein, Lessor shall not under any circumstances have the right to accelerate the 
Sublease Payments that fall due in future Sublease periods or otherwise declare any Sublease Payments 
not then in default to be immediately due and payable. 
 
SECTION 22. NON-WAIVER. 
 

No covenant or condition to be performed by District or Lessor under this Sublease can be 
waived except by the written consent of both parties. Forbearance or indulgence by District or Lessor 
in any regard whatsoever shall not constitute a waiver of the covenant or condition in question. Until 
complete performance by District or Lessor of said covenant or condition, the other party shall be 
entitled to invoke any remedy available to it under this Sublease or by law or in equity despite said 
forbearance or indulgence. 

 
SECTION 23. ASSIGNMENT. 
 

Without the prior written consent of the other party, which consent shall not be unreasonably 
withheld, neither District nor Lessor shall (a) assign, transfer, pledge, or hypothecate this Sublease, the  
Project and the  Site, or any part thereof, or any interest therein, or (b) sublet or lend the use of the  Site 
or any part thereof, except as authorized by the provisions of the California Civic Center Act, Education 
Code section 38130 et seq. Consent to any of the foregoing prohibited acts applies only in the given 
instance and is not a consent to any subsequent like act by District or any other person. Lessor shall 
not assign its obligations under this Sublease with the exception of its obligation to issue default notices 
and to convey or reconvey its interest in the Project and the  Site to District upon full satisfaction of 
District’s obligations hereunder.  This Sublease inures to the benefit of, and is binding upon, the heirs, 
legatees, personal representatives, successors, and assigns of the parties hereto. Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary contained in this Sublease, no consent from the District shall be required in 
connection with any assignment by Lessor to a lender for purposes of financing the  Project as long as 
there are not additional costs to the District. 
 



12 
 

SECTION 24. OWNERSHIP. 
 

The District will obtain title to the Project from Lessor, and any and all additions, repairs, 
replacements, or modifications thereof, as construction progresses and Sublease Payments and Tenant 
Improvement Payments are made to Lessor, provided that full title will not vest in the District until all 
Sublease Payments have been paid in accordance with the terms of this Sublease. Title shall be 
transferred to and vested in District hereunder without the necessity for any further instrument of 
transfer.  At the termination of this Sublease, any improvements constructed thereon shall vest in 
District. 
 
SECTION 25. RELEASE OF LIENS. 
 

At the conclusion of the term of this Sublease, Lessor shall authorize, execute, and deliver 
to District all documents reasonably requested by District to evidence (i) the release of any and all 
liens created pursuant to the provisions of this Sublease and the Site Lease as they relate to the  
Project, the Sublease, and the Site Lease, and (ii) any other documents required to terminate the Site 
Lease and this Sublease. 
 
SECTION 26. TERMINATION OF CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT. 
 

In the event the Construction Services Agreement is terminated pursuant to the provisions 
contained therein, this Sublease shall immediately terminate. 
 
SECTION 27. SEVERABILITY. 
 

If any provision of this Sublease shall be held invalid or unenforceable by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any other provision 
of this Sublease, unless elimination of such provision materially alters the rights and obligations 
embodied in this Sublease. 
 
SECTION 28. INTEGRATION/MODIFICATION. 
 

This Sublease constitutes the entire agreement between Lessor and District as to those matters 
contained herein, and supersedes and cancels any prior oral or written understanding, promises or 
representations with respect to those matters covered herein, and it shall not be amended, altered, or 
changed except by a written agreement signed by the parties hereto. 
 
SECTION 29. NOTICES. 
 

Service of all notices under this Sublease shall be sufficient if given personally or mailed to the 
party involved at its respective address hereinafter set forth or at such address as such party may 
provide in writing from time to time. Any change in the addresses noted shall not be binding upon the 
other party unless preceded by no less than thirty (30) days prior written notice. Any such notices shall 
be deemed to have been received by the addressee if delivered to the person for whom they are intended 
or if sent by registered mail, return receipt requested, or fax followed by regular mail, addressed as 
follows: 



13 
 

 
                  If to Lessor: S+B James Construction California Inc. 
 1450 Halyard Drive, Suite #11A 
 West Sacramento, CA 95691 
 Attn:  Silas Nigam 
 

 
       If to District: Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
 1018 C Street, Suite 210 
 Galt, CA 95632 
 Attn: Lois Yount, Superintendent 
 

                With a copy to: Parker & Covert LLP 
 2520 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 190 
 Sacramento, CA 95833 
 Attn: Addison Covert 
 

 
SECTION 30. TITLES/RECITALS. 
 

The titles to the sections of this Sublease are solely for the convenience of the parties and are 
not an aid in the interpretation thereof.  The Recitals set forth at the beginning of this Sublease are 
hereby incorporated herein by this reference. 

 
SECTION 31. TIME. 
 

Time is of the essence in this Sublease and each and all of its provisions. 
 
SECTION 32. LAWS AND VENUE. 
 

The terms and provisions of this Sublease shall be construed in accordance with the laws of 
the State of California. If any action is brought in a court of law to enforce any term of this Sublease, 
the action shall be brought in a state court situated in the County of Sacramento, State of California, 
unless a court finds jurisdiction or venue is only proper in a federal court, or a court outside this county. 
 
SECTION 33.    EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS. 
  
 This Sublease may be simultaneously executed in multiple counterparts, each of which 
shall be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.  
 
 
SECTION 34.     TERMS NOT DEFINED. 
 
 Capitalized terms used in this Sublease that are not defined shall have the same meaning 
as in the Construction Services Agreement. 
 



14 
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Sublease by their 

authorized officers as of the day and year first written above. 
 

LESSOR: DISTRICT: 
 
                                    Galt Joint Union Elementary  
S+B James Construction 
California Inc.                                                                      School District 
 
By:   By:   
 
Its:   Its:   



 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF SACRAMENTO) 
 
 
 On ________________, 2023, before me, ____________________, a Notary Public in and 
for said County and State, personally appeared _________________, who proved to me on the 
basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within 
instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized 
capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity 
upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the  instrument. 
 
 I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 
 
 WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 
Signature _______________________ (Seal) 
 
 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the 
individual who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, 
accuracy, or validity of that document. 



 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF SACRAMENTO) 
 
 
 On ________________, 2023, before me, ____________________, a Notary Public in and 
for said County and State, personally appeared _________________, who proved to me on the 
basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within 
instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized 
capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity 
upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the  instrument. 
 
 I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 
 
 WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 
Signature _______________________ (Seal) 
 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual 
who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or 
validity of that document. 



 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

Description of Project 
 

Construction of a 60 ft. x 100 ft. (6,000 SF) pre-engineered metal building and site 
improvements to house the new school district Maintenance Shop. The scope will include two 
maintenance bays, shop area, office, and restroom. Site improvements include underground 
utilities, grading, and asphalt paving for vehicle circulation and parking.  Domestic water, 
sanitary sewer, and storm drain shall be extended from existing services.  A new water service 
from the main will be provided to serve the building’s automatic fire sprinkler system and the 
additional site fire hydrant. 

  



 
 

EXHIBIT “B” 
 

Map of Site 
 
 
  





 
 

EXHIBIT “C” 
 

GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE AND OTHER PROJECT 
COST, FUNDING, PAYMENT AND INSURANCE PROVISIONS 

 
1. Site Lease Payments.  As indicated in the Site Lease, Contractor shall pay One Dollar 
($1.00) to the District as consideration for the Sublease. 
 
2. Guaranteed Maximum Price.  Pursuant to the Sublease, Contractor will cause the Project 
to be constructed for $2,299,760 (“Guaranteed Maximum Price” or “GMP”).  Except as indicated 
herein for modifications to the Project set forth herein or in Section 4 of the Construction Services 
Agreement, Contractor will not seek additional compensation from District in excess of the GMP.  
District shall pay the GMP to Contractor in the form of Tenant Improvement Payments which 
comprise 95% of the GMP and Sublease Payments which comprise 5% of the GMP as indicated 
herein.  The GMP includes the following components and as further detailed herein: 
 
 (a) Cost to Perform Work. 
 
  (1) Subcontractor Costs.  Payments made by the Contractor to 
Subcontractors, which payments shall be made in accordance with the requirements of the Contract 
Documents. 
 
  (2) Contractor-Performed Work.  Costs incurred by the Contractor for self-
performed work. 
 
2. General Conditions.  The fixed amount to be paid for all costs of labor, equipment and 
materials for the items identified therein which are necessary for the proper management of the  
Project, and shall include all costs paid or incurred by the Contractor for insurance (except for 
general liability insurance), permits, taxes, and all contributions, assessments and benefits, 
holidays, vacations, retirement benefits, and incentives, whether required by law or collective 
bargaining agreements or otherwise paid or provided by Contractor to its employees.  The District 
reserves the right to request changes to the personnel, equipment, or facilities provided as General 
Conditions as may be necessary or appropriate for the proper management of the  Project, in which 
case, the cost of General Conditions shall be increased or reduced accordingly. 
 
2.3 Fees.  All fees, assessments and charges that are required to be paid to other agencies or 
entities to permit, authorize or entitle construction, reconstruction or completion of the  Project. 
 
2.4 Bonds and Insurance.  [Reserved] 
 
2.5 Overhead and Profit.   [Reserved] 
 
3.0 Payment of Guaranteed Maximum Price.  District shall pay the GMP to Contractor in 
the form of Tenant Improvement Payments and Sublease Payments as indicated herein. 
 



 
 

4.1 Tenant Improvement Payments.  Prior to the District’s taking delivery or occupancy of 
the Project, the District shall pay to Contractor two million, one hundred eighty-four thousand, 
seven hundred seventy-two dollars ($2,184,772) (“Tenant Improvement Payment(s)”), pursuant to 
Section 21 of the Construction Services Agreement. 
 
4.2 Sublease Payments.  After the parties execute the Memorandum of Commencement 
(“MOC”) Date, attached as Exhibit “D” of this Sublease, the District shall pay to Contractor one 
hundred fourteen thousand, nine hundred eighty-eight dollars and 0 Cents ($114,988) (“Sublease 
Payment(s)”), as indicated below. 
 
 (a) The Sublease Payments shall be consideration for the District’s rental, use, and 
occupancy of the Project and Site and shall be made in equal monthly installments for the duration 
of the Term. 
 
 (b) The District represents that the total annual Sublease Payment obligation does not 
surpass the District’s annual budget and will not require the District to increase or impose 
additional taxes or obligations on the public that did not exist prior to the execution of the Sublease. 
 
 (c) Fair Rental Value.  District and Contractor have agreed and determined that the 
total Sublease Payments constitute adequate consideration for the Construction Services 
Agreement and Sublease and are reasonably equivalent to the fair rental value of the  Project.  In 
making such determination, consideration has been given to the obligations of the Parties under 
the Construction Services Agreement, Site Lease and Sublease, the uses and purposes which may 
be served by the Project and the benefits therefrom which will accrue to the District and the general 
public. 
 
  (d) The Sublease Payment Amount shall be paid pursuant to the following 
structure and the annual interest rate shall be at Two and One Half percent (2.5%): 
Sublease 
Payment 
No. 

Date Amount Notes 

1 6/1/2024 $38,329  
2 7/1/2024 $38,329  
3 8/1/2024 $38,330  
4    
5    
6    
7    
8    
9    
10    
11    

 
The owner has the option to pay S+B James Construction California Inc. the balance of the lease 
payments on June 1, 2024. If the District selects to proceed with this option, a discount of 4% of 
the remaining balance will be deducted from the remaining lease payments.  



 
 

 
*The Prepayment Price shall be the Beginning Balance as of the date the Purchase Option is 
exercised pursuant to the Sublease Agreement. 
 
  (e) Financed Portion of Sublease Payments.  The District requires the 
Contractor to finance a portion of the Sublease Payments and that financing is reflected in the table 
above. 
 
5. Insurance and Bond Reimbursement.  At Project Completion of, Contractor shall require 
reimbursement from its insurance brokers and/or insurers and its bond brokers and/or sureties, all 
portions of Contractor’s bond premiums, either paid or to be paid, that are not at-risk due to a 
reduction in the GMP.  All amounts of premium reimbursement that Contractor receives from the 
Contractor’s insurance brokers and/or insurers and its bond brokers and or sureties, shall be 
withheld by District from Contractor’s Sublease Payment(s).  The District shall estimate this 
amount until Contractor indicates the total amount of this reimbursement. 
 
6. District Insurance.  In addition to the Contractor’s insurance requirements set forth in the 
Construction Services Agreement, the District shall carry and maintain in force the following 
insurance at all times from and after District's acceptance of the Project: 
 
 (a) Rental Interruption Insurance.  District shall carry and maintain in force for the 
benefit of District and Contractor, as their interests may appear, rental interruption insurance to 
cover loss, total or partial, of the use of the Project due to damage or destruction, in an amount at 
least equal to the maximum estimated Sublease Payments payable under this Sublease and for the 
entire term of the Sublease.  This insurance may be maintained as part of or in conjunction with 
any other insurance coverage carried by the District, and such insurance may be maintained in 
whole or in part in the form of participation by the District in a joint powers agency or other 
program providing pooled insurance.  This insurance may not be maintained in the form of self-
insurance.  The proceeds of this insurance shall be paid to the Contractor in lieu of the Sublease 
Payments that would otherwise be due and owing during this period. 
 
 (b) Property Insurance.  District shall carry and maintain a policy of property 
insurance for 100% of the insurable replacement value with no coinsurance penalty, on the Site 
and the Project, together with all improvements thereon, under a standard “all risk” contract 
insuring against loss or damage.  Contractor shall be named as additional insureds or co-insureds 
thereon by way of endorsement.  District shall not be relieved from the obligation of supplying 
any additional funds for replacement of the Project and the improvements thereon in the event of 
destruction or damage where insurance does not cover replacement costs.  District shall have the 
right to procure the required insurance through a joint powers agency or to self-insure against such 
losses or portion thereof as is deemed prudent by District. Notwithstanding any provision to the 
contrary in this Sublease or the Construction Services Agreement, the District shall, concurrent 
with any occupancy, use or possession of any portion of the  Project, furnish property and loss 
liability insurance to cover any such portion of the  Project or the  Site it occupies, uses or 
possesses.  At such time the District commences occupancy, use or possession, District’s insurance 
shall be primary and any coverage by Lessor be non-contributing excess over any other applicable 
insurance.  District shall provide certificates of insurance and additional insured endorsements 



 
 

naming Lessor, which shall include wording that the District's coverage is primary and coverage 
provided by Lessor, if any, is non-contributing. 
 
 (c) Commercial General Liability Insurance.  District shall carry and maintain a 
policy of commercial general liability insurance policy of $1,000,000.  Contractor shall be named 
as an additional insured or co-insured thereof by way of endorsement.  District shall have the right 
to procure the required insurance through a joint powers agency or to self-insure against such 
losses or portion thereof as is deemed prudent by District.  



 
 

EXHIBIT “D” 
 

SUBLEASE 
 

MEMORANDUM OF COMMENCEMENT DATE 
  Maintenance and Operations Shop Project  
 
[TO BE ENTERED INTO AFTER CONSTRUCTION IS SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETE 
TO COMMENCE THE SUBLEASE TERM – DO THIS AFTER NOC] 
 
 This MEMORANDUM OF COMMENCEMENT DATE is dated ________2023, and is 
made by and between S+B James Construction California Inc. (“Contractor”), as Lessor, and the 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District (“District”), as Lessee. 
 
1. Contractor and District have previously entered into a Sublease dated as of _______2023 
(the “Sublease”) for the leasing by Contractor to District of the Site and Project in Galt, California, 
referenced in the Sublease. 
 
2. District hereby confirms the following: 
 
 A. That all construction of the Project required to be performed pursuant to the 
Construction Services Agreement has been completed by Contractor in all respects; 
 
 B. The District has accepted and entered into possession of the Project and now 
occupies same; and 
 
 C. That the term of the Sublease commenced on _______ 2023, and will expire at 
11:59 p.m. on _______ 2024. 
 
THIS MEMORANDUM OF COMMENCEMENT DATE IS ACCEPTED AND AGREED 
on the date indicated below: 
 
Dated: _________________________  Dated:  _____________________________ 
 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District S+B James Construction California Inc. 
 
By: ____________________________  By: _______________________________ 
 
Print Name: _____________________  Print Name: ________________________ 
 
Print Title: ______________________  Print Title: _________________________ 

 



EXHIBIT “D” 

Construction Services Agreement 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

FOR 
 

 MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS SHOP PROJECT  
 

Dated as of  
 

________________ 

Between 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

and 

S+B James Construction California Inc. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

Maintenance and Operations Shop Project  
CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
This Construction Services Agreement (“Construction Services Agreement”) is dated as of ______, 
2023, by and between the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District, a school district duly organized 
and existing under the laws of the State of California (“District”), and S+B James Construction 
California Inc. (“Contractor”).  
 

RECITALS 
 
WHEREAS, District owns and operates the transportation, maintenance and operations yard, located 
at 1019 Beaver Park Way, Galt, California, 95632 (the “Property”);  
 
WHEREAS, District desires to construct certain improvements to the District’s transportation, 
maintenance and operation yard. Scope of work consists of construction of a 60 ft. x 100 ft. (6,000 
SF) pre-engineered metal building and site improvements to house the new school district 
Maintenance Shop. The scope will include two maintenance bays, shop area, office, and restroom. 
Site improvements include underground utilities, grading, and asphalt paving for vehicle 
circulation and parking.  Domestic water, sanitary sewer, and storm drain shall be extended from 
existing services.  A new water service from the main will be provided to serve the building’s 
automatic fire sprinkler system and the additional site fire hydrant (the “Project”); 
 
WHEREAS, District has determined that it is necessary to retain the services of a construction firm to 
construct the Project;  
 
WHEREAS, District has entered into an agreement with Derivi Castellanos Architects (DCA) as its 
architect (“Architect”) to prepare the plans and specifications for the Project (“Plans and 
Specifications”), with the Plans and Specifications pending approval by the Division of the State 
Architect (“DSA”) DSA No. 02-121503; 
 
WHEREAS, California Education Code section 17406 permits the governing board of a school 
district, following the completion of a competitive solicitation process, to lease to any person, firm, or 
corporation any real property owned by District if the instrument by which such property is leased 
requires the lessee to construct on the leased premises, or provide for the construction thereon, of a 
building for the use of the school district, during the term of the lease, and provides that title to that 
building shall vest in the school district at the expiration of the lease;  
 
WHEREAS, having received the highest best value score, Contractor was awarded the Project, 
including the Construction Services Agreement for the Project;  
 
WHEREAS, in connection with the approval of this Construction Services Agreement, District will 
enter into a site lease agreement with Contractor (“Site Lease”), under which it will lease to Contractor 
the Project site, and improvements thereon, as described in Exhibit “A” of the Site Lease (“Site”) in 
order for Contractor to construct improvements to the Site; 
 



3 
 

WHEREAS, Contractor will lease the Site and the Project back to District pursuant to a sublease 
agreement (“Sublease”), under which District will be required to make sublease payments and tenant 
improvement payments to Contractor for the use and occupancy of the Site and the Project;  
 
WHEREAS, at the expiration of the Site Lease and Sublease terms, title to the Project shall vest in 
District;  
 
WHEREAS, District and Contractor desire to enter into this Construction Services Agreement to 
ensure that the Project will meet District’s expectations;  
 
WHEREAS, Contractor is experienced in construction of the type of improvements included in the 
Project that are desired by District, is duly licensed as a contractor in the State of California, and is 
willing to perform construction work for District, all as more fully set forth herein;  
 
WHEREAS, Contractor has thoroughly investigated the Site conditions and reviewed the 
Construction Documents, as defined in Section 2.D., below, to establish that there are no known 
problems with respect to the Site conditions or the Construction Documents and that Contractor can 
and will construct the Project for the Guaranteed Maximum Price as set forth and defined in Section 4 
of this Construction Services Agreement, and Contractor will not seek any additional compensation 
whatsoever, including, without limitation, any requests based upon known Site conditions or any 
requests; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District acknowledges and agrees that it has entered into the Site Lease, Sublease 
and this Construction Services Agreement pursuant to Education Code Section 17406 as the best 
available and most expeditious means for the District to satisfy its substantial need for the facilities to 
be provided by the Project and to accommodate and educate District students and to utilize its facilities 
proceeds expeditiously. 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants hereinafter set forth, District and Contractor 
agree as follows: 
 
SECTION 1. CONTRACTOR’S DUTIES AND STATUS 
 
Contractor accepts the contractual relationship established between it and District by this Construction 
Services Agreement, and Contractor covenants with District to furnish its best skill and judgment in 
constructing the Project as set forth in the Construction Documents. Contractor agrees to furnish at all 
times efficient business administration and superintendence, an adequate supply of professionals, 
workers, and materials and to perform the work appropriately, expeditiously, economically, and 
consistent with this Construction Services Agreement and Construction Documents. 
 
SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS 
 
“Construction Services Agreement” means this Construction Services Agreement, together with 
any duly authorized and executed amendments hereto. 



4 
 

 
“Construction” or “Construction Services” means all labor and services necessary for the 
construction of the Project, and all materials, equipment, tools, supplies, and incidentals incorporated 
or to be incorporated in such construction as fully described in the Construction Scope of Work set 
forth in Section 8, below, and Exhibit “A.” Unless otherwise expressly stipulated, Contractor shall 
perform all work and provide and pay for all materials, labor, tools, equipment, and utilities 
necessary for the proper execution and completion of the Project. 
 
“Construction Costs” means any and all costs incurred by Contractor with respect to the 
construction and equipping, as the case may be, of the Project, whether paid or incurred prior to or 
after the date hereof, including, without limitation, costs for the: (i) Contractor’s and developers’ 
overhead, profit  and supervisors’ fees and costs directly allocable to the Project; and (ii) all costs and 
expenses, including any taxes or insurance premiums paid by Contractor with respect to the property, 
and administrative and other expenses necessary or incident to the Project. The term “Construction 
Costs” includes all Contractor’s costs associated with preparing or generating additional copies of any 
Construction Documents related to or required for the Project, including preparation or generation of 
additional plans and specifications for Contractor’s subcontractors. In no event shall Construction 
Costs exceed the Guaranteed Maximum Price. 
 
“Construction Documents” means the final drawings, profiles, cross sections, design development 
drawings, construction drawings, and supplemental drawings based on the plans and specifications 
developed for the Project, including any reference specifications or reproductions prepared by 
Architect and specifications approved by District, which show or describe the location, character, 
dimensions, or details of the Project and specifications for construction thereof. 
 
“Contract Documents” means those documents which form the entire contract by and between 
District and Contractor. The Contract Documents consist of this Construction Services Agreement, 
including all exhibits and attachments thereto, the Construction Documents, the Site Lease, and the 
Sublease. 
 
“Guaranteed Maximum Price” or “GMP” means the Guaranteed Maximum Price established 
pursuant to Section 4, below, to be paid to Contractor for Contractor’s construction of the Project 
hereunder, subject to any adjustments for Extra Work/Modifications as provided in Section 9, below. 
 
“Project” means the construction of improvements and equipment to be constructed and installed 
by Contractor on the Site, as more particularly shown and/or referenced in Exhibit “A” attached 
hereto. 
 
“Site” means that certain parcel of real property and improvements thereon (if any) more 
particularly described in Exhibit “B” of the Site Lease. 
 
“Site Lease” means the Site Lease dated as of _________2023 by and between District and 
Contractor together with any duly authorized and executed amendment thereto under which District 
leases the Site to Contractor. 
 
“Skilled and Trained Workforce” means a workforce that meets all of the conditions specified 



5 
 

in Public Contract Code section 2601(d), including, without limitation the requirements that: (i) all 
the workers on the Projects in an apprentice able occupation in the building and construction 
trades are either skilled journeypersons or apprentices registered in an apprenticeship program 
approved by the Chief of the Division of Apprenticeship Standards of the Department of Industrial 
Relations (the “Chief”), and (ii) for work performed on or after January 1, 2020, at least 60 
percent of the skilled journeypersons employed to perform work on the Project by Contractor and 
each of its subcontractors at every tier are graduates of an apprenticeship program for the 
applicable occupation. As specified in Public Contract code section 2601(d), this requirement 
shall not apply to the following occupations: acoustical installer, bricklayer, carpenter, cement 
mason, drywall installer or lather, marble mason, finisher, or setter, modular furniture or systems 
installer, operating engineer, pile driver, plasterer, roofer or waterproofer, stone mason, surveyor, 
teamster, terrazzo worker or finisher, and tile layer, setter, or finisher. 
 
“Special Conditions” means, to the extent applicable to the Project, that work which is peculiar to 
the Project, and does not fall under the general conditions or supplemental conditions.  Special 
conditions are used when the work contemplated is of such a character that the general conditions, 
which are consistent project to project, cannot adequately cover necessary and additional contractual 
matters.  Special conditions shall be read in conjunction with the general conditions, supplemental 
conditions, specifications of work, drawings, and any other document forming part of the Contract 
Documents.  Special conditions shall not weaken the character or intent of the general conditions, 
provided, however, that when the terms of the general conditions and the terms of the special 
conditions cannot be reconciled, the special conditions shall govern, unless a different intention 
appears. 
 
“Subcontractor” means any person or entity, including trade contractors, who have a contract with 
Contractor to perform any work on the improvements to the Site. 
 
“Sublease” means the Sublease dated as of  ______2023, by and between District and Contractor 
together with any duly authorized and executed amendment hereto under which District subleases the 
Site and the Project from Contractor. 
 
“Sublease Payment" means any payment required to be made by District pursuant to Section 7 of 
the Sublease. 
 
“Tenant Improvement Payments” means the payments required to be made by the District pursuant 
to Section 21 of the Construction Services Agreement and Exhibit “C” of the Sublease. 
 
SECTION 3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES; DISTRICT CONTINGENCY 
 
If District requests Contractor to perform additional services (“Additional Services”) not described in 
this Construction Services Agreement, Contractor shall provide a cost estimate and a written 
description of the Additional Services required to perform such work. The District shall set aside a 
contingency amount of five percent (5%) of the GMP for the Project (“District Contingency”), 
which District Contingency shall be used for such Additional Services. Compensation for such 
Additional Services shall be negotiated and agreed upon in writing, in advance of Contractor’s 
performing or contracting for such Additional Services and paid to Contractor in addition to the GMP 



6 
 

established pursuant to Section 4, below. In the absence of such written agreement, District will not 
compensate Contractor for such work, and Contractor will not be required to perform it. Nothing in 
this Construction Services Agreement shall be construed as limiting the valuation and amount to be 
paid to Contractor for such Additional Services or its implementation should a written agreement for 
such services be executed. Contractor shall not be entitled to compensation for Additional Services 
required as a result of Contractor’s acts, errors, or omissions. 
 
The District is in no way limited by the manner in which it decides to utilize the District 
Contingency.  Any funds remaining in the District Contingency at the completion of the Project 
shall remain unspent and remain allocated to District. 
 
SECTION 4. ESTABLISHMENT OF GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE (“GMP”) 
 
The GMP for the Project shall be two million, two hundred ninety-nine thousand, seven hundred sixty 
dollars ($2,299,760), as further described in Exhibit “C” of the Sublease. The GMP is based upon the 
approved plans and specifications existing and reviewed by Contractor at the time this Construction 
Services Agreement is entered into as more fully described and referenced in the Scope of Work set 
forth in Exhibit “A.”  Contractor’s detailed line item costing of the Project, or Master Budget, totaling 
the GMP is attached hereto as Exhibit “B.” Furthermore, District represents and warrants that the 
GMP consists of the Tenant Improvement Payments comprising ninety-five percent (95%) of the 
GMP, plus the Sublease Payments comprising ten percent (5%) of the GMP to be paid as a portion of 
the rental of the Project and Site under the terms of the Sublease. District represents and warrants that 
(1) the total amount of Sublease Payments includes the total rental for the Project, which total does 
not exceed the fair market value for the Project; (2) said rental amount has been incorporated into the 
GMP in consideration and inducement of this Construction Services Agreement, the Site Lease, the 
Sublease, the uses and purposes which may be served by the Project, and the benefits therefrom which 
will accrue to District and the general public; and (3) said rental amount shall be paid by District as a 
part of the GMP, with District non-local match contribution local funds. The GMP and Tenant 
Improvement Payments are subject to adjustments for Extra Work/Modifications in accordance with 
the provisions of Section 9, below, and adjustments for reductions in the Scope of Work pursuant to 
the provisions of Section 4, below. The GMP includes the cost of all labor, materials, equipment, 
general conditions, overhead, profit, and Contractor Contingency (as defined directly below), but shall 
specifically exclude the amount of the District Contingency. 
 
1. Contractor Contingency.  Within the GMP shall be a line item amount representing two and 
one-half percent (2.50%) of the GMP to cover the Contractor Contingency (“Contractor 
Contingency”). The Contractor Contingency is for the exclusive use of Contractor, as approved by 
District, to pay for miscellaneous work items, which are required to complete the Project.  Contractor 
shall not use the Contractor Contingency to pay for costs related to the following: (a) errors or 
omissions in the construction documents; (b) discrepancies with the plans and specifications as they 
pertain to applicable building code requirements; (c) and/or enhancements or additions to the Scope 
of Work desired by the District; or (d) unforeseen conditions. Costs related to (a) through (d) above 
will be paid for pursuant to the provisions of Section 9, below, the allowance set forth in this Section, 
or the District Contingency.  
 



7 
 

2. Errors and Omissions Allowance.  Within the GMP shall be a line item amount representing 
two and one-half percent (2.50%) of the GMP to cover errors and omissions in the Plans and 
Specifications (“Errors and Omissions Allowance”).  In the event errors or omissions are discovered 
in the plans and specifications which make strict compliance with the specifications impractical, 
Contractor shall notify District of the need for such work by placing the matter on the agenda of 
regularly scheduled construction meetings with District for discussion as soon as practicable after the 
need for such work is determined.  Additionally, Contractor shall submit to District for its 
consideration and approval or disapproval, a written request for the work before such work is 
performed.  If District approves such request in writing, the costs of the work, shall be added to or 
deducted from the Errors and Omissions Allowance within the GMP.  Any funds remaining in this 
Errors and Omissions Allowance at the completion of the Project shall remain unspent and allocated 
to District, except for any portion of savings added to the Errors and Omissions Allowance, which 
savings shall be returned to District at completion of the Project as provided in Section 6 below. 
 
District, at all times, shall have the right to reduce the scope of the Project.  If District reduces the 
scope of the Project, the GMP shall be reduced to contemplate the reduced Scope of Work pursuant 
to the provisions of Section 9, below. To the extent possible, it is the mutual goal of District and 
Contractor to maximize the Scope of Work as allowed by the GMP. 
 
SECTION 5. NOTICE TO PROCEED 
 
After execution of this Construction Services Agreement and the Site Lease and Sublease between 
the parties, the District shall issue a notice to Contractor to proceed with the Project (“Notice to 
Proceed”) conditioned upon the following: 
 
The District’s adopted Plans and Specifications for the Project comply with the Field Act and are 
pending approval by DSA, thereby allowing the District to issue a Notice to Proceed for 
construction. 
 
No challenge has been made to the validity of the Site Lease, Sublease, Construction Services or 
other agreement related to this transaction.  In the event that a third party files a challenge or 
proceeding to the validity of the documents or transaction the District will not to issue a Notice to 
Proceed and, in the event a Notice to Proceed has already been issued, either party may rescind the 
notice to proceed and may opt to terminate this Construction Services Agreement and in which 
event the District will pay the Contractor pursuant to the provisions of Section 11 herein. 
 
The Notice to Proceed shall include the date upon which the Project shall commence.  
 
SECTION 6. SAVINGS 
 
The purpose of savings is to minimize the expenditure of funds for the construction of the Project 
on items that exceed the minimum criteria required without a corresponding benefit to District.  
District and Contractor shall work cooperatively with each other, in good faith, to identify 
appropriate opportunities to reduce the Project costs and promote savings. 
 



8 
 

If Contractor realizes a savings on any aspect of the Project, such savings shall be added to the 
District Contingency, and shall be expended in a manner consistent with the District Contingency. 
Contractor shall document all savings on an ongoing Project budget tracking summary and present it 
to District at regularly scheduled construction meetings with District.  Any savings, including 
unspent Contractor Contingency, realized on the Project will be returned to District at completion of 
the Project. 
 
SECTION 7. SELECTION OF SUBCONTRACTORS 
 
Subcontractors. In the interest of minimizing the expenditure of funds for the construction of 
the Project, Contractor agrees to select appropriately State of California licensed subcontractors for 
each trade component of the Project consistent with Education Code Section 17406(a)(4) in a manner 
that fosters competition and complies with the requirements of paragraph B. of this Section 7. 
Contractor agrees that it will provide public notice of availability of work to be subcontracted in 
accordance with the publication requirements of Public Contract Code Section 20112, establish 
reasonable qualification criteria and standards, and award subcontracts either on a best value basis or 
to the lowest responsible bidder.  To be qualified to bid, all such subcontractors must currently be 
registered and qualified to perform public work pursuant to Section 1725.5 of the Labor Code. 
Regardless of the method Contractor employs, Contractor shall make a good faith effort to contact 
and utilize Disabled Veteran Business Enterprise (“DVBE”) contractors and suppliers in securing 
bids for performance of the Project in accordance with the provisions set forth below. District 
reserves the right to oversee the bidding process. Contractor shall inform all bidders that District will 
not be a party to any contract for construction services executed by Contractor and selected bidders. 
Contractor shall submit a listing of proposed subcontractors to District for District’s review. In no 
case will Contractor award any subcontract until District has concurred to the scope and price of the 
subcontracted services. In addition, Contractor shall provide District with full documentation 
regarding the bids or competitive quotes received by Contractor. In no event shall such 
documentation be redacted or obliterated. In the event Contractor does not comply with this 
provision, District may terminate this Construction Services Agreement in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 11, below. 
 
Skilled and Trained Workforce. Contractor covenants and agrees that a “Skilled and Trained 
Workforce” will be used to perform the Project which is either skilled journeypersons or apprentices 
registered in an apprenticeship program. On a monthly basis while the Project is being performed, 
Contractor shall provide a report to the District using the form attached as Exhibit “I” (“Monthly 
Skilled and Trained Workforce Report”) demonstrating that Contractor and its subcontractors at 
every tier are complying with the requirements of Public Contract Code section 2600 et seq. and 
Education Code section 17407.5.  If Contractor fails to provide District the monthly report, or 
provides a report that is incomplete, District shall withhold further payments to Contractor until a 
complete report is provided.  If a monthly report does not demonstrate compliance with Public 
Contract Code section 2600 et seq. and Education Code section 17407.5, District shall withhold 
further payments until Contractor provides a plan to achieve substantial compliance with respect to 
the relevant apprentice able occupation, prior to completion of the Project.  The monthly report 
provided to the District pursuant to this paragraph B. shall be a public record under the California 
Public Records Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1 of the 
Government Code), and shall be open to public inspection. 



9 
 

 
 
Prequalification Requirements. 
 
 Contractor and the electrical, mechanical, and plumbing subcontractors, if any, shall be 
subject to the same prequalification requirements for prospective bidders described in Public 
Contract Code section 20111.6 including the requirement for the completion and submission of a 
standardized prequalification questionnaire and financial statement which is certified under oath 
and not a public record. 
 
D. DVBE Requirements. 
 
Compliance with DVBE contracting goals is required under this Construction Services Agreement. In 
accordance with Education Code section 17076.11 District has a DVBE participation goal of 3% per 
year of the overall dollar amount of state funds allocated to District pursuant to the Leroy F. Greene 
School Facilities Act of 1998 and Kindergarten – University Public Education Facilities Bond Acts of 
2002, 2004, and 2006 and the Kindergarten Through Community College Public Education Facilities 
Bond Act of 2016 for construction and modernization projects, and expended each year by District. 
District is seeking DVBE participation under this Construction Services Agreement. 
 
Contractor must make a good faith effort to contact and utilize DVBE contractors and suppliers in 
securing bids for performance of the Project. Information regarding certified DVBE firms can be 
obtained from the Office of Small Business and DVBE Services (“OSBDVBES”) at (800) 559-5529 
or (916) 375-4940 as well as its website at www.pd.dgs.ca.gov/smbus/default.htm. Verification of 
DVBE status must be obtained from the OSBDVBES by receiving an approved certification letter 
and reference number from that office. Contractor is required, as a material condition of this 
Construction Services Agreement, to submit documentation of its good faith efforts to the District 
prior to commencement of the construction of the Project. Good faith efforts are demonstrated by 
evidence of the following: (a) Contact was made with District regarding the identification of DVBEs; 
(b) Contact was made with other state agencies and with local DVBE organizations to identify 
DVBEs; (c) Advertising was published in trade papers and papers focusing on DVBEs; 
(d) Invitations to bid were submitted to potential DVBE contractors; and (e) Available DVBEs were 
considered. 
 
Contractor shall provide to District no later than two (2) calendar days prior to the scheduled award 
of the Project, the appropriate documentation using DVBE Compliance Forms, including, but not 
limited to, proof of publication if satisfying the good faith effort requirement (unless goal is met), 
and identifying the amount to be paid to DVBE’s in conjunction with this Construction Services 
Agreement, so that District can assess its success in meeting the three percent (3%) goal. 
 
If the DVBE compliance forms specify that Contractor will meet the DVBE participation goal for 
the Project, prior to, and as a condition precedent for final payment under the agreement for the 
Project, Contractor shall certify to District, using the certification form included with the DVBE 
compliance forms, (1) the total amount Contractor received under the contract, (2) the name and 
address of the DVBE that participated in the performance of the contract, (3) the amount each DVBE 
received from Contractor, and (4) that all payments under the contract have been made to the DVBE. 



10 
 

 
SECTION 8. DSA OVERSIGHT PROCESS 
 
                     The Contractor must comply with the applicable requirements of the Division of State 
Architect  (“DSA”) Construction Oversight Process  (“DSA Oversight Process”), including but not 
limited to (a) notifying the Inspector of Record (“IOR”) upon commencement and completion of each 
aspect of the Work as required under DSA Form 156; (b) coordinating the work with the IOR’s 
inspection duties and requirements; (c) submitting verified reports under DSA Form 6-C; and (d) 
coordinating with the Owner’s Architect, any Construction Manager, any Laboratories, and the IOR 
to meet the DSA Oversight Process requirements without delay or added costs to the Project. 
 
                    Contractor shall be responsible for any additional DSA fees related to review of proposed 
changes to the DSA-approved construction documents, to the extent the proposed changes were caused 
by Contractor’s wrongful actions or omissions. If inspected Work is found to be in non-compliance 
with the DSA-approved construction documents or the DSA-approved testing and inspection program, 
then it must be removed and corrected. Any construction that covers unapproved or uninspected Work 
is subjects to removal and correction, at Contractor’s expense, in order to permit inspection and 
approval of the covered Work in accordance with the DSA oversight Process. 
 
 
SECTION 9. CONSTRUCTION SCOPE OF WORK 
 
Critical Path Method Master Schedule. Prior to commencing Construction, Contractor shall submit 
to District a reasonably detailed Critical Path Method (“CPM”) Master Schedule for the Construction, 
as set forth in Section 11, below. 
 
Pre-Construction Orientation/Construction Meetings. Contractor, in conjunction with Architect, 
shall conduct pre-construction orientation conferences for the benefit of Subcontractors to orient 
Subcontractors to the various reporting procedures and Site rules prior to the commencement of actual 
Construction. Contractor shall also conduct Construction and progress meetings with District 
Representatives and other interested parties, as requested by District, to discuss such matters as 
procedures, progress problems, and scheduling. Contractor shall prepare and promptly distribute 
official minutes of such meetings to all parties in attendance including Architect, District, and District 
Inspector (“Inspector”). 
 
Budget/Cash Flow Reports. Contractor shall incorporate approved changes as they occur and 
develop cash flow reports and forecasts for submittal to District on a monthly basis. Contractor shall 
provide regular monitoring of the approved estimates of Construction Costs, showing actual costs for 
activities in progress, and estimates for uncompleted tasks. Contractor shall identify variances 
between actual and budgeted or estimated costs, and advise District and Architect whenever the 
Project costs exceed budgets or estimates. Contractor shall maintain cost accounting records on 
authorized additional services or work performed under unit costs, additional work performed on the 
basis of actual costs of labor and materials, or other work requiring accounting records. 
 
Progress Reports. Contractor shall record the progress of the Project and shall submit monthly 
written progress reports to District and Architect including information on the entire Project, showing 



11 
 

percentages of completion and the number and amounts of proposed Extra Work/Modifications, as 
defined below, and their effect on the Construction Costs as of the date of the report. Contractor shall 
also keep a daily log containing a record of weather, contractors, work on the Site, number of workers, 
work accomplished, problems encountered, and other similar relevant data as District may require. 
Contractor shall make the log available to District and Architect. District shall be promptly informed 
of all anticipated delays. In the event that Contractor determines that a schedule modification is 
necessary, Contractor shall promptly submit a revised schedule for approval by District. 
 
Shop Drawings.  Contractor shall check and verify all field measurements and shall submit with such 
promptness as to cause no delay in the work or in that of any other contractor, subcontractor, Architect, 
other independent contractor, or worker on the Project, three (3) copies of all shop or setting drawings, 
schedules, and materials list, and all other submittals in accordance with other provisions of the 
Contract Documents required for the work of various trades.  Contractor shall sign all submittals 
affirming that the submittals have been reviewed and approved by Contractor prior to submission to 
Architect.  Each signed submittal shall affirm that the submittal meets all the requirements of the 
Contract Documents except as specifically and clearly noted and listed on the cover sheet of the 
submittal. 
 
Contractor shall advise District immediately, if Architect has not checked and approved with 
reasonable promptness, such schedules and drawings for conformance with the design concept of the 
Project and in compliance with all information included in the Contract Documents.  Contractor shall 
make any corrections required by Architect, file with Architect three (3) corrected copies, and furnish 
such other copies as may be needed for Construction.  Architect’s approval of such drawings or 
schedules shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for deviations in the drawings and/or 
specifications unless Contractor has called Architect’s attention to such deviations in writing at the 
time of submission and has secured Architect’s written approval.  Architect’s approval of such 
drawings and schedules shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for errors in the shop drawings 
or schedules.  For purposes of this Section “reasonable promptness” shall mean such reasonable 
promptness as to cause no delay in the work or in the activities of District, Contractor, or other 
contractors, while allowing sufficient time in Architect’s professional judgment to permit adequate 
review. 
 
Submittals.  Contractor shall promptly furnish for approval, within fourteen (14) days following the 
Project commencement date stated in the Notice to Proceed, or within any other time frame agreed to 
by the parties, a log of all samples, material lists and certifications, mix designs, schedules, and other 
submittals, as required in the specifications for the Project. Such log shall indicate whether samples 
will be provided as specified and in accordance with other provisions of this Construction Services 
Agreement.  Contractor shall provide samples and submittals, together with catalogs and supporting 
data required by Architect with reasonable promptness so as not to cause delays on the Project.  This 
provision shall not authorize any extension of time for performance of this Construction Services 
Agreement.  Architect will check and approve such samples, only for conformance with the design 
concept of the work and for compliance with the information provided in the Contract Documents.  
Work shall be in accordance with approved samples.  Architect’s action will be taken within fourteen 
(14) calendar days after receiving such samples and submittals.  If in Architect’s professional 
judgment fourteen (14) days is an insufficient amount of time to permit adequate review, Architect 
shall, within the initial fourteen (14) day period, notify Contractor, with a copy to Inspector and 



12 
 

District, of the amount of time that will be required to respond.  If Architect’s response results in a 
change in the Project, then such change shall be affected by a written change order. 
 
Scheduling. Contractor shall complete the Construction pursuant to the CPM Construction 
Documents, reduction in scope, shall perform all work set forth in the Scope of Work in Exhibit “A”, 
and shall make reasonable efforts in scheduling to prevent disruption to classes. 
 
District Permit and Other Obligations. District shall pay for the Inspector, soils testing, special 
testing, etc. If additional review or permits become necessary for reasons not due to Contractor’s fault 
after the date the GMP is established and not reasonably anticipated at the time the GMP is established, 
Contractor may seek additional compensation for the cost of that review as an additional cost. 
 
Contractor Permit and Other Obligations. District shall pay for all general building permits and 
ancillary permits and licenses not paid by District prior to the commencement of this Construction 
Services Agreement. District shall also be responsible for arranging and overseeing, all necessary 
inspections and tests, including, permits, and occupancy permits. All inspection fees and other 
municipal charges for permanent utilities including, but not limited to, sewer, electrical, phone, gas, 
water, and irrigation shall be paid by District. Contractor shall be responsible for arranging the 
payment of such fees, but the inspection fees and other municipal fees relating to permanent utilities 
shall be paid by District. Contractor may either request reimbursement from District for such fees, 
or obtain the funds from District prior to paying such fees. Contractor shall be responsible for 
arranging and overseeing safety procedures and requirements and Construction employee training 
programs which cover, among other items, hazardous chemicals and materials. 
 
Protection. Contractor shall establish procedures for the protection of all existing structures, 
equipment, utilities, and other existing improvements, both on-site and off-site. 
 
Nuisance Abatement. Contractor shall develop a mutually-agreed-upon program with District to 
abate and minimize noise, dust, and disruption to normal activities at the existing facilities on the Site, 
including procedures to control on-site noise, dust, and pollution during Construction. 
 
Site Mitigation and Remediation.  Except as provided below, District shall perform any required 
Site mitigation or remediation at its sole cost, unless such Site mitigation or remediation is 
necessitated by any of the conditions described in Section 33, below, in which event the provisions 
of that section shall govern. 
 
Utilities. District will provide for utilities to be used by the Contractor for a field office.  
 
Sanitary Facilities.  Contractor shall provide a sanitary temporary toilet building as directed by 
Inspector for the use of all workers.  The building shall be maintained in a sanitary condition at all 
times and shall be left at the Site until Inspector directs removal.  Use of toilet facilities in the work 
under Construction shall not be permitted except by approval of Inspector. 
 
Layout and Field Engineering.  All field engineering required for laying out this work and 
establishing grades for earthwork operations shall be furnished by Contractor at its expense.  Such 
work shall be accomplished by a qualified civil engineer or land surveyor licensed in California and 



13 
 

approved by Architect. Any required “as built” drawings of Site development shall be prepared by 
a qualified civil engineer or land surveyor licensed in California and approved by Architect. 
 
Cutting and Patching.  Contractor shall do all cutting, fitting, or patching of work as required to 
make its several parts come together properly and fit it to receive or be received by work of other 
contractors showing upon, or reasonably implied by, the drawings and specifications for the 
completed structure.  Contractor shall make good any such work as Architect may direct.  All cost 
caused by defective or ill-timed work shall be borne by the party responsible therefore. Contractor 
shall not endanger any work by cutting, excavating, or otherwise altering work and shall not cut or 
alter work of any other contractor save with the consent or at the direction of Architect. 
 
Close Out.  Contractor shall be responsible for the timely delivery of the technical manuals, 
warranties, and guarantees as required in the technical specifications at the completion of the 
Project.  Contractor shall coordinate the closeout procedures for the Project with the Inspector, as 
may be required, and promptly provide any requested documents that may be required for closeout 
of the Project. 
 
SECTION 10. EXTRA WORK/MODIFICATIONS 
 
District may prescribe extra work or modification or reduction of requirements or of methods of 
performing the Construction which differ from the work or requirements set forth in the 
Construction Documents (“Extra Work/Modifications”); and for such purposes, District may, at 
any time during the life of this Construction Services Agreement, by written order, make such 
changes as it shall find necessary in the design, line, grade, form, location, dimensions, plan, or 
material of any part of the work or equipment specified herein or in the Construction Documents, 
or in the quantity or character of the work or equipment to be furnished. In the event conditions 
develop which make strict compliance with the specifications impractical, Contractor shall notify 
District of the need for such Extra Work/Modification by placing the matter on the agenda of regularly 
scheduled Construction meetings with District for discussion as soon as practicable after the need 
for such Extra Work/Modification is determined. Additionally, Contractor shall submit to District 
for its consideration and approval or disapproval, a written request for Extra Work/Modifications 
before such work is performed. If District approves such request in writing, the costs of the Extra 
Work/Modifications, as established pursuant to this Section 10, shall be added to or deducted from 
the GMP and paid as Tenant Improvement Payments, as applicable. 
 
Value of any such Extra Work/Modification, change, or deduction shall be determined at the discretion 
of District, in consultation with Architect, in one or more of the following ways: 
 
By acceptable lump sum proposal from Contractor with itemization as required by District and/or 
Architect. 
 
By unit prices contained in Contractor’s cost estimates and incorporated in the Contract Documents 
or fixed by subsequent agreement between District and Contractor. 
 
By the cost of material and labor. The following form shall be followed as applicable for additions 
and deductions to the Construction Services Agreement: 



14 
 

 
 EXTRA/(CREDIT) 
Material (attach itemized quantity and 
unit cost plus sales tax) ____________ 
 
Subcontractor’s labor and profit/ overhead (profit/overhead not to 
exceed 10%) (attach itemized hours and base rates from identified 
prevailing wage rate schedules)  ____________ 
 
Commercial General Liability and Property Damage Insurance, 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance, Social Security and 
Unemployment  
taxes at actual and verified cost. ____________ 
 
Subtotal ____________ 
 
Contractor’s profit/overhead not to 
exceed 7% of Item (d) if applicable. ____________ 
  
Subtotal  ____________ 
 
Bond Premium, not to exceed 1% of Item (f) ____________ 
 
Total ____________ 
 
Regardless of whether the cost of the Extra Work/Modification is determined pursuant to the above, 
in addition to the cost of the material and labor for deleted items, Contractor shall credit back an 
appropriate and reasonable amount for the bonding mark-up for deleted items at the time of the request 
for the Extra Work/Modification. 
 
Should Contractor claim that any instruction, request, drawing, specification, action, condition, 
omission, default, or other situation (i) obligates District to pay additional compensation to Contractor; 
or (ii) obligates District to grant an extension of time for the completion of the Construction Services 
Agreement; or (iii) constitutes a waiver of any provision in this Construction Services Agreement, 
CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY DISTRICT, IN WRITING, OF SUCH CLAIM AS SOON AS 
POSSIBLE, BUT IN NO EVENT WITHIN MORE THAN TEN (10) BUSINESS DAYS FROM 
THE DATE CONTRACTOR HAS ACTUAL OR CONSTRUCTIVE NOTICE OF THE CLAIM. 
CONTRACTOR SHALL ALSO PROVIDE DISTRICT WITH SUFFICIENT WRITTEN 
DOCUMENTATION SUPPORTING THE FACTUAL BASIS OF THE CLAIM including the 
documentation for items described in this Section. Contractor shall be required to certify under penalty 
of perjury the validity and accuracy of any claim submitted. Contractor’s failure to notify District 
within such ten (10) business day period shall be deemed a waiver and relinquishment of the claim 
against District. If such notice is given within the specified time, the procedure for its consideration 
shall be as stated above in this Section. 
 



15 
 

In the event a mutual agreement cannot be reached on the cost of an Extra Work/Modification item, 
Contractor and District agree that an industry estimating guide, such as an estimating guide published 
by Means, shall be used to determine the cost of a disputed Extra Work/Modification item. 
 
All costs associated with the Extra Work/Modification may be in terms of time, money, or both. 
 
Expenses of reconstruction and/or costs to replace and/or repair damaged materials and supplies, 
provided that Contractor is not fully compensated for such expenses and/or costs by insurance or 
otherwise, may be added to the GMP, if said expenses are the result of the sole established negligent 
acts or omissions, or willful misconduct of District, or its subcontractors, principals, agents, or 
employees. 
 
The term “profit/overhead” for any Subcontractor shall be considered to include insurance other than 
mentioned in Section 10, above, field and office supervisors and assistants, watchmen, use of small 
tools, consumables, and general field and home office expenses, and no separate allowance will be 
made therefor. 
 
SECTION 11. TIME OF COMPLETION 
 
ONCE DISTRICT HAS ISSUED A NOTICE TO PROCEED, CONTRACTOR SHALL 
PROCEED WITH THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE PROJECT WITH REASONABLE 
DILIGENCE. CONTRACTOR AGREES THAT THE PROJECT WILL BE SUBSTANTIALLY 
COMPLETED BY MAY 31, 2024 AS SAID DATE MAY BE EXTENDED FOR SUCH 
PERIODS OF TIME AS CONTRACTOR IS PREVENTED FROM PROCEEDING WITH OR 
COMPLETING THE PROJECT FOR ANY CAUSE DESCRIBED IN THIS SECTION 11, OR 
AS OTHERWISE AGREED TO IN WRITING BY DISTRICT AND CONTRACTOR.  IF THE 
WORK IS NOT COMPLETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FOREGOING, IT IS 
UNDERSTOOD THAT DISTRICT WILL SUFFER DAMAGE.  IT BEING IMPRACTICAL 
AND INFEASIBLE TO DETERMINE THE AMOUNT OF ACTUAL DAMAGE, IT IS 
AGREED THAT CONTRACTOR SHALL PAY TO DISTRICT AS FIXED AND 
LIQUIDATED DAMAGES, AND NOT AS A PENALTY, THE SUM OF ONE THOUSAND 
DOLLARS ($1,000) PER DAY FOR EACH CALENDAR DAY OF DELAY UNTIL WORK IS 
SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED AND ACCEPTED. CONTRACTOR AND ITS SURETY 
SHALL BE LIABLE FOR THE AMOUNT THEREOF. ANY MONEY DUE OR TO BECOME 
DUE CONTRACTOR MAY BE RETAINED BY DISTRICT TO COVER SAID LIQUIDATED 
DAMAGES. SHOULD SUCH MONEY NOT BE SUFFICIENT TO COVER SAID 
LIQUIDATED DAMAGES, DISTRICT SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT TO RECOVER THE 
BALANCE FROM CONTRACTOR OR ITS SURETIES, WHO WILL PAY SAID BALANCE 
FORTHWITH. 
 
This Section 11 and the liquidated damages referred to directly above are expressly understood 
and agreed to by the parties hereto: 
 
__________ Contractor’s Initials __________ District’s Initials 
 



16 
 

In the event that the performance and/or completion of the Project is delayed at any time by any 
act or omission of District or of any employee, agent, or tenant of District, by any separate 
contractor employed by District, by changes or alterations in the Project not caused by any fault 
or omission by Contractor, by strikes, lockouts, fire, embargoes, windstorm, flood, earthquake, 
acts of war or God, the results of viral pandemics such as shelter-in-place orders, quarantines, 
government shutdowns, substantial interruption to air travel, substantial interruptions in supply 
chains, equipment, materials and/or personnel shortages, and other economic by-products caused 
by the response to an epidemic or pandemic, by changes in public laws, regulations or ordinances 
enacted after the date of execution of this Construction Services Agreement, by acts of public 
officials not caused by any fault or omission of Contractor, by an inability to obtain materials or 
equipment not caused by any act or omission of Contractor, or by any other cause beyond the 
reasonable control of Contractor, the aforesaid date for substantial completion of the Project shall 
be extended for a period commensurate with the delay. Contractor shall not be charged liquidated 
damages because of such delays in completion of work or delays otherwise due to unforeseeable 
causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of Contractor. 
 
Contractor will only be allowed a time extension for unusually severe weather if it results in 
precipitation or other conditions which in the amount, frequency, or duration is in excess of the norm 
at the location and time of year in question as established by NOAA weather data.  A ten (10) year 
average of the normal seasonal rainfall for the Stanislaus County area, as determined by the National 
Weather Service, and any resulting “dry-out” time shall not be considered unusually severe weather 
and therefore will not constitute a reason for a time extension. 

  
No less than 22 calendar days will be allotted for in Contractor’s schedule for each winter weather 
period which is defined as the months, in aggregate of October, November, December, January, 
February and March.  The weather days shall be shown on the Time Schedule and if not used will 
become float for the Projects’ use.  Contractor will not be allowed a day-for-day weather delay when 
the Contract is bid for construction during a period that normally includes inclement weather.  A day-
for-day extension will only be allowed for those Days in excess of the norm.  Contractor is expected 
to work seven (7) Days per week (if necessary, irrespective of inclement weather), to maintain access, 
and to protect the Work under construction from the effects of inclement weather. 
If the weather is unusually severe in excess of the NOAA data norm and prevents Contractor from 
beginning work at the usual daily starting time, or prevents Contractor from proceeding with seventy-
five percent (75%) of the normal labor and equipment force towards completion of the Day’s current 
controlling item on the accepted schedule for a period of at least five hours, and the crew is dismissed 
as a result thereof, Architect/Construction Manager will designate such time as unavoidable delay and 
grant one (1) calendar-day extension. 
 
Contractor shall within ten (10) calendar days of beginning of any such delay notify District in writing 
of causes of delay.  If Contractor submits a request for an extension of time, Contractor shall also 
submit an analysis of the Time Schedule, which demonstrates the cause for the delay, the length of 
the delay, and an explanation of why Contractor believes it is entitled to the time extension. Contractor 
shall also submit documentation, data and a delay analysis showing that the delay could not be avoided 
or mitigated by revising the Time Schedule.  Thereupon District shall ascertain the facts and extent of 
delay and grant extension of time for completing work when, in its judgment, the findings of fact 
justify such an extension.  District’s findings of fact thereon shall be final and conclusive on the parties 



17 
 

hereto.  Failure to submit such analysis will result in Contractor waiving his/her right to obtain any 
extension of time.  Extension of time shall apply only to that portion of work affected by the delay, 
and shall not apply to other portions of work not so affected.  Contractor agrees that the extension of 
time granted under this Article shall be its sole and exclusive remedy for the consequences of any 
delay described above. 
 
The term “substantially completed” or “substantial completion” as used herein shall mean 
completed in such fashion as to enable District, upon performance of any separate work to be done by 
District under separate contract or by day labor, beneficially to occupy the Project and to 
commence operation therein, provided such occupancy and use does not substantially interfere 
with Contractor’s performance of the remainder of the work, as agreed upon between Contractor and 
District, which may be accomplished prior to the completion of the work. 
 
The term “Fully Completed and Accepted,” as used herein, shall mean that all remaining work has 
been completed in accordance with the Construction Documents and that successful testing, startup, 
and satisfactory operation of the Project as a total unit has been accomplished in substantial 
conformance with the Construction Documents. 
 
Within five (5) business days after District’s delivery of a Notice to Proceed for the Project, 
Contractor shall furnish District with a reasonably detailed CPM Master Schedule, setting forth the 
expected dates for commencement and completion of each of the various stages of Construction to be 
performed by Contractor pursuant to this Construction Services Agreement (“Time Schedule”). 
Contractor shall submit the Time Schedule to District for acceptance and update the Time Schedule 
as appropriate on at least a monthly basis. Contractor shall incorporate the activities of contractors on 
the Project and delivery of products requiring long lead time procurement. Contractor shall also 
include District’s occupancy requirements showing portions of the Project having occupancy priority. 
Contractor shall be responsible for providing District with a Schedule of Values within ten (10) 
working days of District’s issuance of a Notice to Proceed, which will be updated as needed. It is 
specifically understood that District will utilize said Time Schedule as it is revised from time to time 
to determine completion dates of various aspects of the Project. Tenant Improvement Payments shall 
be conditioned upon completion of various aspects of the Project as determined by the Inspector 
pursuant to the Time Schedule and the Schedule of Values. 
 
Contractor shall not be assessed liquidated damages for this Construction Services Agreement 
and shall not be subject to any damages for delay in completion of the Project, when such delay was 
caused by the failure of District or the owner of the utility to provide for removal or relocation of 
the existing main or trunk line utility facilities; however, when Contractor is aware that removal 
or relocation of an existing utility has not been provided for, Contractor shall promptly notify District 
and the utility in writing, so that provision for such removal or relocation may be made to avoid and 
minimize any delay which might be caused by the failure to remove or relocate the main or trunk 
line utility facilities, or to provide for its removal or relocation. In accordance with Section 4215 
of the Government Code, if Contractor, while performing the work on of the Project, discovers any 
existing main or trunk line utility facilities not identified by the District in the contract plans or 
specifications, Contractor shall immediately notify the public agency and utility in writing. The 
public utility, where it is the owner, shall have the sole discretion to perform repairs or relocation work 
or permit Contractor to do such repairs or relocation work at a reasonable price. Contractor shall 



18 
 

be compensated for the costs of locating, repairing damage not due to the failure of Contractor to 
exercise reasonable care, and removing or relocating such utility facilities not indicated in the plans 
and specifications with reasonable accuracy, and for equipment on the Project necessarily idled during 
such work. Such compensation shall be in accordance with the extra work provisions set out in Section 
9, above. 
 
SECTION 12. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 
 
Termination for Breach. 
 
Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Construction Services Agreement, this Construction 
Services Agreement shall not terminate, nor shall District have any right to terminate this Construction 
Services Agreement or be entitled to the abatement of any or all necessary payments pursuant to the 
GMP provisions indicated in Exhibit “C” of the Sublease or any reduction thereof.  The obligations 
hereunder of District shall not be otherwise affected by reason of any damage to or destruction of all 
or any part of the Project; the taking of the Project or any portion thereof by condemnation or otherwise; 
the prohibition, limitation or restriction of District's use of the Project; the interference with such use 
by any private person or Contractor; the District's acquisition of the ownership of the Project (other 
than pursuant to an express provision of the Construction Services Agreement or Sublease); any 
present or future law to the contrary notwithstanding.  It is the intention of the parties that all necessary 
payments pursuant to the GMP indicated in Exhibit “C” of the Sublease shall continue to be payable 
in all events, and the obligations of the District hereunder shall continue unaffected unless the 
requirement to pay or perform the same shall be terminated or modified pursuant to an express 
provision of this Construction Services Agreement.  
 
Nothing contained herein shall be deemed a waiver by the District of any rights that it may have to 
bring a separate action with respect to any Event of Default by Contractor hereunder or under any other 
agreement to recover the costs and expenses associated with that action.  The District covenants and 
agrees that it will remain obligated under the Construction Services Agreement and Sublease in 
accordance with their terms. 
 
Following the Project Completion, that the District will not take any action to terminate, rescind or 
avoid this Construction Services Agreement or Sublease, notwithstanding the bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, winding-up or other proceeding, 
and notwithstanding any action with respect to this Construction Services Agreement or Sublease 
which may be taken by any trustee or receiver of Contractor or of any assignee of Contractor in any 
such proceeding or by any court in any such proceeding.  Following the Project Completion, except as 
otherwise expressly provided in this Construction Services Agreement or Sublease, District waives all 
rights now or hereafter conferred by law to quit, terminate or surrender this Construction Services 
Agreement or Sublease or the Project or any part thereof. 
 
District acknowledges that Contractor may assign an interest in some or all of the necessary payments 
pursuant to the GMP provisions indicated in Exhibit “C” of the Sublease to a lender in order to obtain 
financing for the cost of constructing the Project and that the lender may rely on the foregoing 
covenants and provisions in connection with such financing. 



19 
 

If Contractor refuses or fails to prosecute the construction of the Project or any separable part thereof 
with such diligence as will insure its completion within the time specified by this Construction Services 
Agreement or any extension thereof, or fails to complete the Project within such time, or if Contractor 
should be adjudged bankrupt, or if it should make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors, 
or if a receiver should be appointed on account of its insolvency, or Contractor or any of its 
Subcontractors should violate any of the provisions of this Construction Services Agreement, District 
may serve written notice upon Contractor and its Surety of District’s intention to terminate this 
Construction Services Agreement. This notice of intent to terminate shall contain the reasons for such 
intention to terminate this Construction Services Agreement and a statement to the effect that 
Contractor’s right to perform work on the Project shall cease and terminate upon the expiration of ten 
(10) days from receipt of the notice unless such violations have ceased and arrangements satisfactory 
to District have been made for correction of said violations. 
 
In the event that District serves such written notice of termination upon Contractor and the Surety, the 
Surety shall have the right to take over and perform this Construction Services Agreement. If the Surety 
does not: (1) give District written notice of Surety’s intention to take over and commence performance 
of this Construction Services Agreement within fifteen (15) days of District’s service of said notice of 
intent to terminate upon Surety; and (2) actually commence performance of this Construction Services 
Agreement within thirty (30) days of District’s service of said notice upon Surety; then District may 
take over the Project and prosecute the same to completion by separate contract or by any other method 
it may deem advisable for the account and at the expense of Contractor. 
 
In the event that District elects to obtain an alternative performance of the Construction Services 
Agreement as specified above: (1) District may, without liability for so doing, take possession of and 
utilize in completion of the Project such materials, appliances, plants, and other property belonging to 
Contractor that are on the Site and reasonably necessary for such completion; and (2) Surety shall be 
liable to District for any cost or other damage to District necessitated by District securing an alternate 
performance pursuant to this Section 11. 
 
Termination for Convenience. 
 
District may terminate performance of the Project called for by the Contract Documents, in whole or 
in part, if District determines that a termination is in District’s interest. 
 
Contractor shall terminate all or any part of the Project upon delivery to Contractor of a “Notice of 
Termination” specifying that the termination is for the convenience of District, the extent of 
termination, and the effective date of such termination. 
 
After receipt of Notice of Termination, and except as directed by District’s Representative, Contractor 
shall, regardless of any delay in determining or adjusting any amount due under this Termination for 
Convenience clause, immediately proceed with the following obligations: 
 
Stop work as specified in the Notice of Termination. 
 
Complete any work specified in the Notice of Termination in a least cost/shortest time manner while 
still maintaining the quality called for under the Contract Documents. 



20 
 

 
Leave the Property upon which Contractor was working and upon which the facility (or facilities) 
forming the basis of the Contract Documents is situated in a safe and sanitary manner such that it 
does not pose any threat to the public health or safety. 
 
Terminate all subcontracts to the extent that they relate to the portions of the work terminated. 
 
Place no further subcontracts or orders, except as necessary to complete the continued portion of the 
Construction Services Agreement. 
 
Submit to District’s Representative, within thirty (30) days from the effective date of the Notice of 
Termination, all of the usual documentation called for by the Contract Documents to substantiate all 
costs incurred by Contractor for labor, materials, and equipment through the effective date of the 
Notice of Termination.  Any documentation substantiating costs incurred by Contractor solely as a 
result of District’s exercise of its right to terminate this Construction Services Agreement pursuant to 
this clause, which costs Contractor is authorized under the Construction Services Agreement to incur, 
shall: (i) be submitted to and received by District no later than thirty (30) days after the effective date 
of the Notice of Termination; (ii) describe the costs incurred with particularity; and (iii) be 
conspicuously identified as “Termination Costs Occasioned by District’s Termination for 
Convenience.” 
 
Termination of the Construction Services Agreement shall not relieve the Surety of its obligation for 
any just claim arising out of or relating to the work performed on the Project. 
 
In the event that District exercises its right to terminate this Construction Services Agreement 
pursuant to this clause, District shall pay Contractor, upon Contractor’s submission of the 
documentation required by this provision, and other applicable provisions of the Construction 
Services Agreement, the following amounts: 
 
All actual costs incurred according to the provisions of this Construction Services Agreement, 
including, but not limited to, insurance costs incurred in connection with the Project. 
 
A reasonable allowance for profit on the cost of the work on the Project performed, provided 
Contractor establishes to the satisfaction of District, that it is reasonably probable that Contractor 
would have made a profit had the Construction Services Agreement been completed, and provided 
further, that the overhead and profit allowed shall in no event exceed 10%. In no event shall the total 
amount exceed the GMP, exclusive of Sublease Payment finance charges. 
 
A reasonable allowance for Contractor’s administrative costs in determining the amount payable due 
to termination of the Construction Services Agreement under this Section 11. 
 
Termination of Agreement by Contractor. 
 
Contractor may terminate the Construction Services Agreement upon ten (10) days written notice to 
District, whenever: (1) the entire Project has been suspended for ninety (90) consecutive days 
through no fault or negligence of Contractor and notice to resume the Construction Services 



21 
 

Agreement or to terminate the Construction Services Agreement has not been received from District 
within this time period; or (2) District should fail to pay Contractor any substantial sum due it in 
accordance with the terms of the Construction Services Agreement and within the time limits 
prescribed; or (3) District shall elect not to appropriate funds and/or elect not to make two (2) 
successive Tenant Improvement Payments following the receipt by District of a request from 
Contractor. In the event of such termination, Contractor shall have no claims against District except 
for work performed on the Project as of the date of termination.  Further, in the event that District 
fails to make any undisputed Tenant Improvement Payment within seven (7) days of its due date, 
Contractor shall be entitled to stop work upon seven (7) days written notice to the District, until such 
amounts are paid. Upon payment, Contractor shall resume work and the Contract Time shall be 
extended for the period of Contractor’s cessation of work. 
 
SECTION 13. PERSONNEL ASSIGNMENT 
 
Contractor shall assign Hayden Meyers as the Project Manager, and George Whitfield as the Project 
Superintendent for the Project. So long as the Project Manager/Superintendent remain in the employ 
of Contractor, such persons shall not be changed or substituted from the Project, or cease to be fully 
committed to the Project except as provided in this Section. In the event Contractor deems it 
necessary, Contractor shall replace the Project Manager/Superintendent for the Project with a 
replacement with like qualifications and experience, subject to the prior written consent of District, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Any violation of the terms and provisions of this 
Section 13 shall entitle District to terminate this Construction Services Agreement for breach, 
pursuant to the provisions of Section 12, above. 
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of Section 13, above, if the Project 
Manager/Superintendent proves not to be satisfactory to District, upon written notice from District 
to Contractor such person shall be promptly replaced by a person who is acceptable to District in 
accordance with the following procedures: 
 
Within five (5) business days after receipt of a notice from District requesting the replacement of the 
Project Manager/Superintendent or promptly following the discovery by Contractor that the Project 
Manager/Superintendent is leaving the employ of Contractor, as the case maybe, Contractor shall 
provide District with the name of an acceptable replacement/substitution (together with such person’s 
resume and other information regarding such person’s experience and qualifications). The 
replacement/substitution shall commence work on the Project no later than five (5) business days 
following District’s approval of such replacement, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. 
In the event that District and Contractor cannot agree as to the substitution or replacement of the Project 
Manager/Superintendent, as applicable, District shall be entitled to terminate this Construction 
Services Agreement for breach, pursuant to the provisions of Section 12, above. 
 
SECTION 14. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS; AUDIT 
 
Contractor, and Subcontractors, shall keep or cause to be kept true and complete books, records, and 
accounts of all financial transactions in the course of its activities and operations related to the Project. 
These documents may include sales slips, invoices, payrolls, personnel records, requests for 
Subcontractor payment, and other data relating to all matters covered by the Contract Documents. At 



22 
 

all times during the Construction of the Project, and for four (4) years following the termination of the 
term of the last document, Contractor and Subcontractors shall retain such data and records. During 
Construction of the Project, Contractor shall make available all requested data and records at 
reasonable locations within the County of Sacramento at any time during normal business hours, and 
as often as District deems necessary. If records are not made available within the County of Sacramento 
during the Construction of the Project, Contractor shall pay District’s travel costs to the location where 
the records are maintained. Failure to make requested records available for audit by the date requested 
will result in immediate termination of this Construction Services Agreement. 
 
At its own cost, District shall have the right to review and audit, upon reasonable notice, the books and 
records of Contractor concerning any monies associated with the Project. Any such audit shall be 
performed by an independent auditor, having no direct or indirect relationship with the functions or 
activities being audited or with the business conducted by Contractor or District. In the event the 
independent auditor determines that savings realized during the prosecution and progress of the Project 
were not added to the Contractor Contingency portion of the GMP, as provided for in Section 6 of this 
Construction Services Agreement, District shall be entitled to deduct the amount of such savings from 
the next requested Tenant Improvement Payment. If Contractor disputes the findings of the 
independent auditor, such dispute shall be handled in accordance with the provisions of Section 35 of 
this Construction Services Agreement. 
 
Ownership of Drawings.  Notwithstanding any provision of this Construction Services Agreement, all 
drawings, specifications, and copies thereof furnished by District are its property.  Such drawings and 
specifications are not to be used on other work and, with exception of signed contract sets, are to be 
returned to District on request at completion of work. 
 
SECTION 15. LABOR COMPLIANCE PROGRAM 
 
Contractor acknowledges that the Project shall be subject to compliance monitoring and 
enforcement by DIR in accordance with the provisions of Sections 1725.5, 1771.1, 1771.3. 1771.4, 
1771.5, and 1771.7 of the Labor Code.  Contractor agrees to comply with any such laws and 
regulations at no additional cost to District.  No contractor or subcontractor shall be qualified to 
bid, listed on a bid proposal or awarded a contract for public work on a public works contract 
unless currently registered with the Department of Industrial Relations ("DIR") pursuant to Labor 
Code section 1725.5.   
 
The labor compliance requirements include, but are not limited to, provisions requiring compliance 
with the prevailing rates of wages as set forth in Section 16 of this Construction Services 
Agreement, employment of apprentices as set forth in Section 18 of this Construction Services 
Agreement, compliance with legal hours of work as set forth in Section 19 of this Construction 
Services Agreement, and maintenance and inspection of payroll records as set forth in Section 19 
of this Construction Services Agreement. In addition, the labor compliance requirements require 
on-site interviews of workers to ensure that prevailing wages are being paid. Failure to comply 
with these provisions shall result in the withholding of contract payments by District. Contractor 
expressly acknowledges these provisions and agrees to comply with these provisions and any 
provisions implemented by District, and any subsequent legislation related thereto. 
 



23 
 

Contractor shall include provisions of this Section in all subcontracts and require Subcontractors 
to comply with these provisions at no additional cost to District. 
 
SECTION 16. PREVAILING RATES OF WAGES 
 
Contractor is aware of the requirements of California Labor Code sections 1720 et seq. and 1770 et 
seq., as well as California Code of Regulations, Title 8, section 16000 et seq. (“Prevailing Wage 
Laws”), which require the payment of prevailing wage rates and the performance of other requirements 
on certain “public works” and “maintenance” projects. Since this Construction Services Agreement 
involves an applicable “public works” or “maintenance” project, as defined by the Prevailing Wage 
Laws, and since the total compensation is $1,000 or more, Contractor agrees to fully comply with such 
Prevailing Wage Laws. Contractor shall obtain a copy of the prevailing rates of per diem wages 
applicable to the work to be performed by Subcontractors from the website of the Division of Labor 
Statistics and Research of the Department of Industrial Relations located at www.dir.ca.gov/dlsr/.  
Contractor shall make copies of the prevailing rates of per diem wages for each craft, classification, or 
type of worker needed to perform work on the Project available to interested parties upon request, and 
shall post copies at Contractor’s principal place of business and at the Site. Contractor shall defend, 
indemnify, and hold District, its elected officials, officers, employees, and agents free and harmless 
from any claims, liabilities, costs, penalties, or interest arising out of any failure, or alleged failure, to 
comply with the Prevailing Wage Laws and regulations. When determining the GMP, Contractor shall 
include, to the extent possible, anticipated general prevailing wage rates for the time when work on the 
Project will actually be performed. 
 
Contractor and each Subcontractor shall forfeit as a penalty to District not more than two hundred 
dollars ($200) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, for each worker paid less than the stipulated 
prevailing rate for any work done by him, or by any subcontract under him, in violation of the 
provisions of the California Labor Code. The difference between such stipulated prevailing wage rate 
and the amount paid to each worker for each calendar day or portion thereof for which each worker 
was paid less than the stipulated prevailing wage rate shall be paid to each worker by Contractor. 
 
As a further material part of this Construction Services Agreement, Contractor agrees to hold harmless 
and indemnify District, its Board, and each member of the Board, its officers, employees, and agents 
from any and all claims, liability, loss, costs, damages, expenses, fines, and penalties, of whatever kind 
or nature, including all costs of defense and attorneys’ fees, arising from any alleged failure of 
Contractor or its Subcontractors to comply with the Prevailing Wage Laws of the State of California. 
If District or any of the indemnified parties are named as a party in any dispute arising from the failure 
of Contractor or its Subcontractors to pay prevailing wages, Contractor agrees that District and the 
other indemnified parties may appoint their own independent counsel, and Contractor agrees to pay all 
attorneys’ fees and defense costs of District and the other indemnified parties as billed, in addition to 
all other damages, fines, penalties, and losses incurred by District and the other indemnified parties as 
a result of the action. 
 
SECTION 17. DEBARMENT OF CONTRACTOR AND SUBCONTRACTORS 
 
Contractor, or any Subcontractor working under Contractor, may not perform work on a public 
works project with a subcontractor who is ineligible to perform work on a public project pursuant to 



24 
 

Section 1777.1 or Section 1777.7 of the California Labor Code. Any contract on a public works 
project entered into between Contractor and a debarred subcontractor is void as a matter of law. 
A debarred subcontractor may not receive any public money for performing work as a 
subcontractor on a public works contract. Any public money that is paid, or may have been paid to a 
debarred subcontractor by Contractor on the project shall be returned to District. Contractor shall be 
responsible for the payment of wages to workers of a debarred subcontractor who has been 
allowed to work on the project. 
 
SECTION 18. EMPLOYMENT OF APPRENTICES 
 
In addition to the requirement that Contractor provide a Skilled and Trained Workforce as provided 
for in Section 7.B. above, Contractor’s attention is directed to the provisions of Sections 1777.5, 
1777.6, and 1777.7 of the California Labor Code concerning employment of apprentices by Contractor 
or any Subcontractor under him.  In addition, Contractor shall obtain a certificate of apprenticeship 
before employing any apprentice pursuant to Sections 1777.5, 1777.6 and 1777.7 of the California 
Labor Code. 
 
Information relative to apprenticeship standards, wage schedules, and other requirements may be 
obtained from the Director of Industrial Relations, ex officio the Administrator of Apprenticeship, or 
from the Division of Apprenticeship Standards and its branch offices. 
 
Knowing violations of Section 1777.5 will result in forfeiture not to exceed $100 for each calendar day 
of non-compliance pursuant to Section 1777.7. 
 
SECTION 19. HOURS OF WORK 
 
Eight (8) hours of work shall constitute a legal day’s work. Contractor and each Subcontractor shall 
forfeit, as penalty to District, twenty-five dollars ($25) for each worker employed in the execution of 
work on the Project by Contractor or any Subcontractor under him for each calendar day during which 
such worker is required or permitted to work more than eight (8) hours in any one calendar day and 
forty (40) hours in any calendar week in violation of the provisions of the Labor Code, and in particular, 
Section 1810 to Section 1815, thereof, inclusive, except that work performed by employees of 
Contractor and his Subcontractors in excess of eight hours per day at not less than one and one-half 
times the basic rate of pay, as provided in Labor Code section 1815. 
 
Generally, Construction work on the Project shall be accomplished on a regularly scheduled eight (8) 
hour per day work shift basis, Monday through Friday, between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., 
however nothing herein shall prevent Contractor from working weekends and after school hours in 
order to complete the Project so long as not otherwise prohibited by law or local ordinances or 
regulations. 
 
Any work necessary to be performed after regular working hours, or on Sundays or other holidays 
shall be performed and included within the GMP, unless otherwise agreed to in writing before the work 
in question is commenced pursuant to Section 10, above, Extra Work/Modifications. 
 



25 
 

SECTION 20. PAYROLL RECORDS 
 
Pursuant to Labor Code section 1776, as amended from time to time, Contractor and each 
Subcontractor shall keep records showing the name, address, social security number, work 
classification, straight time and overtime hours paid each day and week, and the actual per diem 
wages paid to each journeyman, apprentice, worker, or other employee employed by it in connection 
with the work. 
 
The payroll records enumerated herein, shall be certified and shall be available for inspection at all 
reasonable hours at the principal office of Contractor on the following basis: 
 
A certified copy of the employee’s payroll records shall be made available for inspection or furnished 
to such employee or his or her authorized representative on request. 
 
A certified copy of all payroll records enumerated herein, shall be made available for inspection or 
furnished upon request, or as required, by District or the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement. 
 
A certified copy of all payroll records enumerated herein, shall be made available upon request to the 
public for inspection or for copies thereof; provided, however, that requests by the public shall be 
made through either District, or the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, and provided further 
that if the requested payroll records have not been provided pursuant to paragraph 2., above, the 
requesting party shall, prior to being provided the records, reimburse the cost of preparation by 
Contractor, Subcontractors, and the entity through which the request was made. The public shall not 
be given access to such records at the principal office of Contractor. 
 
Unless required to be furnished to the Labor Commissioner in accordance with Labor Code section 
1771.4(a)(3), the certified payroll records shall be on forms provided by the Division of Labor 
Standards Enforcement or shall contain the same information as the forms provided by the Division. 
 
Each Contractor shall file a certified copy of the records enumerated herein, with the entity that 
requested such records within ten (10) days after receipt of a written request. 
 
Except as provided in Labor Code section 1776(f), any copy of records made available for inspection 
as copies and furnished upon request to the public or any public agency by District, or the Division 
of Labor Standards Enforcement, shall be marked or obliterated in such a manner as to prevent 
disclosure of an individual’s name, address, and social security number. The name and address of 
Contractor or any Subcontractor performing work on the Project shall not be marked or obliterated. 
 
Contractor shall inform District of the location of the records enumerated herein, including the street 
address, city and county, and shall, within five (5) business days, provide a notice of a change of 
location and address. 
 
Contractor shall have ten (10) days in which to comply subsequent to receipt of a written notice 
requesting the records specified in Labor Code section 1776(a). Should Contractor fail to comply 
within the ten (10) day period, Contractor shall, as a penalty to District, forfeit One Hundred Dollars 
($100.00) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, for each worker until strict compliance is 



26 
 

effectuated. Upon the request of the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, such penalties shall 
be withheld from any Tenant Improvement Payment then due. 
 
SECTION 21. BONDING REQUIREMENTS 
 
Contractor shall provide the following bonds: 
 
A “Payment Bond” (material and labor bond) from a California admitted surety and in the form 
attached hereto as Exhibit “C,” shall be provided by Contractor for the Project prior to execution of 
this Construction Services Agreement. The Payment Bond shall be for One Hundred Percent (100%) 
of the GMP of the Project, to satisfy claims of materials suppliers and of mechanics and laborers 
employed on the Project. The Payment Bond shall be maintained by Contractor in full force and effect 
for the Project until the Project is fully completed and accepted and until all claims for materials and 
labor are paid, and shall otherwise comply with California law. The Payment Bond, once obtained, 
shall be attached to this Construction Services Agreement as Exhibit “C.” In the event the GMP is 
increased in accordance with the provisions set forth in Section 10, above, Contractor must increase 
the Payment Bond to equal the revised GMP. The Payment Bond must be executed by an admitted 
Surety approved to conduct business in the State of California, pursuant to California Code of Civil 
Procedure section 995.120. In addition, to the extent required by law, the Payment Bond must be 
accompanied by a certified copy of the certificate of authority of the insurer issued by the Insurance 
Commissioner of the State of California, a certificate from the Clerk of the County of Sacramento that 
the certificate of authority of the insurer has not been surrendered, revoked, cancelled, annulled, or 
suspended, or if it has, that it has been renewed, and four copies of the insurer’s most recent annual 
statement and quarterly statement filed with the Department of Insurance of the State of California. 
 
A “Faithful Performance Bond” from a California admitted surety and in the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit “D” shall be provided by Contractor for the Project prior to execution of this Construction 
Services Agreement. The Faithful Performance Bond shall be for One Hundred Percent (100%) of 
the GMP for the Project to guarantee faithful performance of all work, within the time prescribed, in 
a manner satisfactory to District, and that all materials and workmanship shall be free from original 
or developed defects. The Faithful Performance Bond shall be maintained by Contractor in full force 
and effect until the Project is fully completed and accepted and until all claims for materials and labor 
are paid, and shall otherwise comply with California law. The Faithful Performance Bond shall name 
District as the entity to which the Principal and Surety, as defined in the Faithful Performance Bond, 
are bound. The Faithful Performance Bond, once obtained, shall be attached to this Construction 
Services Agreement as Exhibit “D.” In the event the GMP is increased in accordance with the 
provisions set forth in Section 10, above, Contractor must increase the Faithful Performance Bonds to 
equal the revised GMP. The Faithful Performance Bond must be executed by an admitted Surety 
approved to conduct business in the State of California, pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure 
section 995.120. In addition, to the extent required by law, the Faithful Performance Bond must be 
accompanied by a certified copy of the certificate of authority of the insurer issued by the Insurance 
Commissioner of the State of California, a certificate from the Clerk of the County of Sacramento that 
the certificate of authority of the insurer has not been surrendered, revoked, cancelled, annulled, or 
suspended, or if it has, that it has been renewed, and four copies of the insurer’s most recent annual 
statement and quarterly statement have been filed with the Department of Insurance of the State of 
California. 



27 
 

 
The bonds required by this Section shall meet the following criteria: 
 
Each bond shall be signed by both Contractor and a notary and the signature of the authorized agent 
of the surety shall be notarized. 
 
Should any bond become insufficient, Contractor shall renew or amend the bond within ten (10) days 
after receiving notice from District. 
 
Should any surety at any time not be a California admitted surety, notice shall be given to District to 
that effect. No further payments shall be deemed due or shall be made under this Construction Services 
Agreement until a new surety shall qualify and be accepted by District. 
 
Changes in the work, or extensions of time, made pursuant to the Construction Services Agreement 
shall in no way release Contractor or the surety from its obligations. Notice of such changes or 
extensions shall be waived by the surety. 
 
Contractor is hereby authorized to obtain a Performance and Payment Bond from Subcontractors 
selected by Contractor at its discretion. Any bond required by this subsection shall comply with the 
requirements set forth above in Section 20.A. - C. 
 
SECTION 22. TENANT IMPROVEMENT PAYMENTS  
 
The District shall pay the Contractor monthly Tenant Improvement Payments in a sum equal to ninety 
percent (95%) on the scheduled value of the Tenant Improvements performed up to the last day of the 
previous month.  If all the necessary information is submitted and accurate (including the schedule of 
values), District shall approve the Tenant Improvement Payments within fifteen (15) days after 
District’s receipt of the periodic estimate for partial payment and District shall pay such payments 
within thirty (30) days after District’s approval of the periodic estimate for the partial payment.  
Sublease Payments pursuant to the Sublease, including finance charges, are an independent payment 
obligation of the District from Tenant Improvement Payments.  Tenant Improvement Payments shall 
be made on the basis of monthly estimates which shall be prepared by Contractor on a form approved 
by District and certified by Architect and Project Inspector, or any other approved representative of 
District, and filed before the fifth day of the month during which payment is to be made. Work 
completed as estimated shall be an estimate only and no inaccuracy or error in said estimate shall 
release Contractor or any bondsman from such work or from enforcing each and every provision of 
this Construction Services Agreement and District shall have the right subsequently to correct any error 
made in any estimate for payment. Contractor shall not be entitled to have any payment estimates 
processed or be entitled to have any payment made for work performed so long as any lawful or proper 
direction concerning non-complying work or any portion thereof given by District lacks correction by 
Contractor.  District shall withhold from the Tenant Improvement Payments one hundred fifty percent 
(150%) of the estimated value of non-complying work unless satisfactorily corrected or remedied. 
 
In no event shall the cumulative total of the Sublease Payments (excluding finance charges), and 
Tenant Improvement Payments (including the balance of any anticipated retention), ever exceed the 



28 
 

GMP as defined herein, unless modified pursuant to Section 10 of this Construction Services 
Agreement. 
 
Title to new materials and/or equipment shall vest in District on a continuous basis as payment for the 
work is made; provided, however, full title shall not vest in the District until full payment under the 
terms of the Sublease.  Responsibility for such new materials and/or equipment shall remain with 
Contractor until incorporated into the Project and accepted by District. No part of said materials and/or 
equipment shall be removed from its place of storage except for immediate installation in the work of 
this Construction Services Agreement.  Contractor shall keep an accurate inventory of all said materials 
and/or equipment in a manner satisfactory to District or its authorized representatives. 
 
District will pay Contractor Tenant Improvement Payments pursuant to the terms and conditions of 
this Section 21, which terms and conditions include five percent (5%) retention of each Tenant 
Improvement Payment ("Retention").  District shall retain and release such Retention pursuant to 
Public Contract Code sections 7107 and 9203, as those sections may be amended from time to time. 
 
SECTION 23. CORRECTION OF WORK: WARRANTY 
 
Neither final payment nor any provision in the Contract Documents shall relieve Contractor of 
responsibility for faulty materials or workmanship incorporated in the Project. Contractor warrants 
that all work under this Construction Services Agreement will be free of faulty materials or 
workmanship and hereby agrees, within ten (10) days of receiving notification from District, to 
remedy, repair, or replace, without cost to District, all defects which may appear as a result of faulty 
materials or workmanship in the Project, at any time, or from time to time, during a period beginning 
with commencement of the Project and ending one (1) year after the date of substantial completion of 
the Project, as defined in Section 11, above. The foregoing warranty of Contractor also applies to the 
remedy, repair, or replacement of defects which may appear as a result of faulty designs prepared by 
Contractor and/or any party retained by, through or under Contractor in connection with the Project, 
but the foregoing warranty of Contractor does not guarantee against damage to the Project sustained 
by use, wear, intentional acts, accidents, or lack of normal maintenance or as a result of changes or 
additions to the Project made or done by parties not directly responsible to Contractor, except where 
such changes or additions to the Project are made in accordance with Contractor’s directions. No 
guarantee furnished by a party other than Contractor with respect to equipment manufactured or 
supplied by such party shall relieve Contractor from the foregoing warranty obligation of Contractor. 
The warranty period set forth herein above shall not apply to latent defects appearing in the Project, 
and with respect to such defects, the applicable statute of limitations shall apply. Contractor agrees to 
provide District with all equipment and materials warranties provided by manufacturers to District, 
but have no obligation to assist in processing such warranty claims after said one (1) year warranty 
period. 
 
SECTION 24. ASSIGNMENT OF ANTI TRUST CLAIMS 
 
Contractor offers and agrees to assign to District all rights, title and interest in and to all causes of 
action it may have under Section 4 of the Clayton Act (15 USC Sec. 15) or under the Cartwright Act 
(Chapter 2 (commencing with section 16700) of Part 2 of Division 7 of the Business and Professions 
Code), arising from purchase of goods, services, or materials pursuant to the Construction Services 



29 
 

Agreement. This assignment shall become effective at the time District tenders the final Sublease 
Payment to Contractor, without further acknowledgment by the parties. 
 
SECTION 25. PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 
 
By execution of this Construction Services Agreement, Contractor acknowledges that Contractor, 
its employees and Subcontractors are required to comply with the fingerprinting requirements set 
forth in Education Code section 45125.1. 
 
In the event District determines, based on the totality of the circumstances, that Contractor, 
Contractor’s employees, and Subcontractors will have only limited contact with pupils, Contractor 
shall, at its own expense be subject to the following preventative measures: (1) Contractor, 
Contractor’s employees, and Subcontractors shall check in with the office each day immediately 
upon arriving at the Site; (2) Contractor, Contractor’s employees, and Subcontractors shall inform 
office staff of their proposed activities and location at the Site; (3) Once at such location, Contractor 
and/or Contractor’s employees, and Subcontractors shall not change locations without contacting 
the office; (4) Contractor, Contractor’s employees, and Subcontractors shall not use student 
restroom facilities; and (5) If Contractor, Contractor’s employees, and Subcontractors find 
themselves alone with a student, Contractor, Contractor’s employees, and Subcontractors shall 
immediately contact the office and request that a member of the staff be assigned to the work 
location. 
 
Prior to, and as a condition to commencement of Contractor’s performance under this Construction 
Services Agreement, Contractor shall complete the Fingerprint Certification attached hereto as 
Exhibit “E,” and by this reference incorporated herein, and the Drug-Free Workplace Certification 
attached hereto as Exhibit “F,” and by this reference incorporated herein. 
 
Contractor shall, at all times, enforce orderly and disciplined conduct among those performing work 
on the Project and shall not employ on the work any unfit person not skilled in the task assigned to 
him, except as provided in Section 18, above. 
 
Contractor, in performing the work, shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, 
regulations, and lawful orders of any public authority having jurisdiction for the safety of persons 
or property or for their protection from damage, injury, or loss. Contractor shall erect and maintain, 
as required by existing conditions and progress of the Project, all reasonable safeguards for safety 
and protection, including posting danger signs and other warnings against hazards, and shall 
promulgate safety regulations and notify owners and users of adjacent utilities. Contractor shall 
designate a responsible member of Contractor’s organization employed at the Site of the Project 
whose duty shall be the prevention of accidents. Such person shall be Contractor’s Senior Project 
Manager/Project Manager/Superintendent unless otherwise designated in writing by Contractor to 
District. 
 
In any emergency affecting the safety of persons or property, Contractor shall act at its discretion to 
prevent threatened damage, injury, or loss. Any additional compensation or extension of time 
claimed by Contractor on account of such emergency shall be determined by mutual agreement 
between District and Contractor. 



30 
 

 
SECTION 26. INSPECTION OF WORK 
 
Inspection of Work/Inspector.  District shall hire its own Inspector as required by law. District, 
District’s Representatives, and the Inspector shall at all times have access to the work, whether it is 
in preparation or progress, and Contractor shall provide proper facilities for such access and for 
inspection. 
 
If the specifications, District’s timely instructions, any public authority shall require the Site or the 
Project to be specially tested or approved, Contractor shall give District forty-eight (48) hour notice 
of its readiness for inspection and, if the inspection is to be performed by a party other than District, 
of the date fixed for such inspection. Inspections by District shall be promptly made, and, where 
practicable, shall be at the source of supply. If any work required to be inspected by the 
specifications, District’s timely instruction, or by a public authority should be covered up without 
the approval or consent of District, it must be uncovered for examination at Contractor’s expense. 
 
Re-examination of questioned work may be ordered by District and if so ordered, such work shall 
be uncovered by Contractor. If such work is found to be in accordance with the Contract Documents, 
District shall pay the cost of re-examination and replacement. If such work is not in accordance with 
the Contract Documents, Contractor shall pay such costs, unless Contractor can demonstrate to the 
reasonable satisfaction of District that the defects in such work were caused by persons or entities 
other than Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or employees. 
 
Inspector’s Field Office.  Contractor shall provide for the use of Inspector a separate trailer or 
temporary private office of not less than seventy-five (75) square feet of floor area to be located as 
directed by Inspector and to be maintained until removal is authorized by District.  
 
Architect’s Status.  In general and where appropriate and applicable, Architect shall observe the 
progress and quality of the work on behalf of District.  Architect shall have the authority to act on 
behalf of District only to the extent expressly provided in this Construction Services Agreement.  
After consultation with Inspector and after using his/her best efforts to consult with District, 
Architect shall have authority to stop work whenever such stoppage may be necessary in his/her 
reasonable opinion to insure the proper execution of the Construction Services Agreement.  
Contractor further acknowledges that Architect shall be, in the first instance, the judge of the 
performance of this Construction Services Agreement. 
 
Architect’s Decisions.  Contractor shall promptly notify District in writing if Architect fails within 
a reasonable time, to make decisions on all claims of District or Contractor and on all other matters 
relating to the execution and progress of the Project. 
 
SECTION 27. SUPERVISION 
 
Contractor shall maintain on-site a competent Senior Project Manager/Superintendent and necessary 
assistants during the performance of the work. The Senior Project Manager/Superintendent shall 
represent Contractor and all directions given to the Senior Project Manager/Superintendent shall be 



31 
 

deemed to have been given to Contractor. Important directions shall be confirmed in writing to 
Contractor, and other direction shall be so confirmed to Contractor upon the written request of 
Contractor, below and the address listed therein. Replacement of the Senior Project 
Manager/Superintendent shall be subject to the provisions of Section 13, above. 
 
Contractor shall give efficient supervision to the work, using its best skill and attention and shall 
cause working drawings and specifications to be prepared and submitted to District. Following 
agreement by Contractor and District with respect to said working drawings and specifications, it 
shall be Contractor’s responsibility to perform the work described in said working drawings and 
specifications in substantial compliance with the Construction Documents. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, Contractor may from time to time make minor and insignificant changes in said working 
drawings and specifications and perform the Construction in accordance with such changed 
drawings and specifications without the consent of District, provided that any such work performed 
by Contractor in accordance with such changed drawings and specifications shall be consistent with 
that specifically required to be performed by Contractor under the Construction Documents. For 
purposes of this Section, the term “minor and insignificant” shall mean changes which result in no 
change in quality, aesthetics, or integrity of the original specifications of the Project. All changes, 
including minor and insignificant changes should be placed on the agenda for regularly scheduled 
construction meetings between Contractor and District to ensure that District is aware of such 
changes. District agrees to promptly respond to Contractor’s requests for information and approvals; 
and if it fails to do so, the completion dates in this Construction Services Agreement may be 
extended. 
 
SECTION 28. SEPARATE CONTRACTS 
 
District reserves the right to let other contracts in connection with the construction of portions of the 
Project which are not being performed by Contractor hereunder. Any such contracts entered into by 
District, and the work they provide, shall in no event interfere with the activities of Contractor on 
the Project, but if they do, District shall be liable to Contractor for its damages in connection with 
such interference. Contractor shall afford other contractors reasonable opportunity for the 
introduction and storage of their materials and the execution of their work and shall properly connect 
and coordinate the Project with the work of such contractors. Such contractors shall comply with all 
applicable State safety laws and regulations. 
 
If the proper execution of any part of Contractor’s work on the Project depends upon the work of 
any such contractors, Contractor shall inspect and promptly report to District any patent defects or 
other problems it identifies in such work that render it unsuitable for such proper execution and 
results. Contractor is only required to inspect the work of such other contractors prior to commencing 
its own further work in connection with or in relation to that other work. Further, Contractor is only 
expected to identify patent defects or other problems, and is not required to do any destructive testing 
or to monitor the progress of such work by other contractors prior to its completion. 
 
SECTION 29. USE OF PREMISES 
 
Contractor shall confine operations at the Site to areas permitted by law, ordinances, permits, and the 
Construction Documents and shall not unreasonably encumber the Site or existing facilities on the 



32 
 

Site with any material or equipment. Contractor shall not load or permit any part of the work to be 
loaded with a weight so as to endanger the safety of persons or property at the Site. Contractor shall 
maintain emergency first aid treatment for its employees which complies with the Federal 
Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (29 USC, section 651 et seq.). 
 
SECTION 30. CLEANING UP 
 
Contractor shall, at all times, keep the Site of the Construction free from accumulations of waste 
material or rubbish caused by the performance of the Construction by Contractor, and at the 
completion of the Construction, Contractor shall remove from the Site of the Construction all such 
waste material and rubbish and all tools, scaffolding, and surplus materials belonging to Contractor 
and/or Contractor’s Subcontractors, laborers, or materialmen, it being specifically understood that at 
the close of Construction and prior to turning over the premises to District for beneficial use and 
occupancy, Contractor shall leave the Site “broom clean,” or its equivalent, unless more exactly 
specified. 
 
SECTION 31. SITE REPRESENTATIONS 
 
District warrants and represents that District has, and will continue to retain at all times during the 
course of Construction, legal title to the Site and that said land is properly subdivided and zoned so as 
to permit the Construction and use of said Site. District further warrants and represents that title to 
said land is free of any easements, conditions, limitation, special permits, variances, agreements, or 
restrictions which would prevent, limit, or otherwise restrict the Construction or use of said facility. 
Reference is made to the fact that District has provided information on the Site to Contractor. Such 
information shall not relieve Contractor of its responsibility; and the interpretation of such data 
regarding the Site, as disclosed by any borings or other preliminary investigations, is not warranted or 
guaranteed, either expressly or impliedly, by District. Contractor shall be responsible for having 
ascertained pertinent local conditions such as location, accessibility, and general character of the Site 
and for having satisfied itself as to the conditions under which the work is to be performed.  No claim 
for any allowance because of Contractor’s error or negligence in acquainting himself with the 
conditions at the Site will be recognized. 
 
SECTION 32. TRENCH SHORING 
 
Contractor shall submit to District, in advance of excavation, a detailed plan showing the design of 
shoring, bracing, sloping, or other provisions to be made for worker protection from the hazard of 
caving ground during the excavation of any trench or trenches five (5) feet or more in depth. 
Contractor shall also submit a copy of its annual trench/excavation permit approved by CAL-OSHA. 
The plan shall be prepared by a registered civil or structural engineer. As part of the plan, a note shall 
be included stating that the registered civil or structural engineer certifies that the plan complies with 
CAL-OSHA Construction Safety Orders, or stating that the registered civil or structural engineer 
certifies that the plan is not less effective than the shoring, bracing, sloping, or other provisions of the 
CAL-OSHA Construction Safety Orders. 
 



33 
 

All shoring submittal shall include surcharge loads from adjacent embankments, construction loads, 
and spoil bank. Submittal shall indicate minimum horizontal distance from top of trench to edge of all 
surcharge loads for all cases of shoring and side slopes. 
 
Nothing in this Section shall relieve Contractor of the full responsibility for providing shoring, 
bracing sloping, or other provisions adequate for worker protection. If such plan varies from the 
shoring system standards established by the CAL-OSHA Construction Safety Orders, the plan shall 
be prepared by a registered civil or structural engineer and shall be approved by CAL-OSHA. No 
excavation of such trench or trenches shall be commenced until said plan has been accepted by 
District or the person to whom authority to accept has been delegated by District. 
 
SECTION 33. HAZARDOUS WASTE AND UNKNOWN PHYSICAL CONDITIONS 
 
Except as provided in Section 9 of this Construction Services Agreement, Contractor shall promptly, 
and before the following conditions are disturbed, notify District, in writing, of any: 
 
Material that Contractor believes may be material that is hazardous waste, as defined in Section 
25117 of the Health and Safety Code, is required to be removed to a Class I, Class II, or Class III 
disposal site in accordance with provisions of existing law. 
 
Subsurface or latent physical conditions at the Site differing from those indicated, including 
geological, soils, and/or water table issues which impede Construction or increase Construction 
Costs. 
 
Unknown physical conditions at the Site of any unusual nature, different materially from those 
ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for 
in this Construction Services Agreement. 
 
District shall promptly investigate the conditions, and if it finds that the conditions materially so differ, 
and cause a decrease or increase in Contractor’s cost of, or the time required for, performance of any 
part of the work may approve use of funds from District’s Contingency pursuant to the procedures 
described in this Construction Services Agreement. If asbestos-related work or hazardous substance 
removal is discovered which is not disclosed in the Construction Documents, such work shall be 
performed pursuant to a contract separate from any other work to be performed as required by Section 
25914.2 of the Health and Safety Code, as may from time to time be amended. 
 
In the event that a dispute arises between District and Contractor whether the conditions set forth 
above materially differ, or involve hazardous waste, or cause a decrease or increase in Contractor’s 
cost of, or time required for, performance of any part of the work, Contractor shall not be excused from 
any scheduled completion date provided for by this Construction Services Agreement, but shall 
proceed with all work to be performed under this Construction Services Agreement. Contractor shall 
retain any and all rights provided either by contract or by law which pertain to the resolution of 
disputes and protests between the contracting parties. 
 



34 
 

The Provisions of Section 32, above, shall also apply to this Construction Services Agreement if this 
Construction Services Agreement involves digging trenches or other excavations that extend deeper 
than four feet below the surface. 
 
SECTION 34. INSURANCE 
 
Contractor’s Insurance Requirements 
 
Contractor shall purchase and maintain, during the performance of all work under this Construction 
Services Agreement, insurance in amounts as specified below. 
 
Commercial General Liability 
 
Coverage for Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be at least as broad as the following: 
 
Insurance Services Office Commercial General Liability coverage (Occurrence Form CG 0001) 
 
Commercial General Liability Insurance must include coverage for the following: 
 
(1) Bodily Injury and Property Damage 
(2) Personal Injury/Advertising Injury 
(3) Premises/Operations Liability 
(4) Products/Completed Operations Liability 
(5) Aggregate Limits that Apply per Project  
(6) Explosion, Collapse, and Underground (UCX) exclusion deleted 
(7) Contractual Liability with respect to this Construction Services Agreement 
(8) Broad Form Property Damage 
(9) Independent Contractor’s Coverage 
 
All such policies shall name District, the Board, and each member of the Board, its officers, 
employees, agents, and authorized volunteers as Additional Insureds under the policies. 
 
The general liability program may utilize either deductibles or provide coverage excess of a self-
insured retention, subject to written approval by District. 
 
Automobile Liability 
 
At all times during the performance of the work under this Construction Services Agreement, 
Contractor shall maintain Automobile Liability Insurance for bodily injury and property damage 
including coverage for owned, non-owned, and hired vehicles, in a form and with insurance companies 
acceptable to District, in the amount specified below. 
 
Coverage for automobile liability insurance shall be at least as broad as Insurance Services Office 
Form Number CA 0001 (ed. 6/92) covering automobile liability, Code 1 (any auto). 
 



35 
 

The automobile liability program may utilize deductibles, but not a self-insured retention, subject to 
written approval by District. 
 
All such policies shall name District, the Board, and each member of the Board, its officers, 
employees, agents, and volunteers as Additional Insureds under the policies. 
 
Workers’ Compensation/Employer’s Liability 
 
At all times during the performance of the work under this Construction Services Agreement, 
Contractor shall maintain Workers’ Compensation Insurance in compliance with applicable statutory 
requirements and Employer’s Liability Coverage in amounts not less than the limits specified below 
for all its employees engaged in work under this Construction Services Agreement, on or at the Site 
of the Project, and, in case the work is sublet, Contractor shall require the Subcontractor similarly to 
provide Workers’ Compensation Insurance for all the latter’s employees. Any class of employee or 
employees not covered by a Subcontractor’s insurance shall be covered by Contractor’s insurance. 
In case any class of employees engaged in work under this Construction Services Agreement, on or 
at the Site of the Project, is not protected under the Workers’ Compensation Statutes, Contractor 
shall provide or shall cause a Subcontractor to provide, adequate insurance coverage for the 
protection of such employees not otherwise protected.  Contractor shall file with District certificates 
of its insurance protecting workers. 
 
Company or companies providing insurance coverage shall be acceptable to District, and in the 
following form and coverage:  Statutory Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability 
Coverage: Contractor shall maintain insurance to afford protection for all claims under California 
Workers’ Compensation Act and other employee benefit acts, and, in addition, shall maintain 
Employer’s Liability Insurance for a minimum limit of $1,000,000. The Workers’ Compensation 
Policy shall include the following endorsements, copies of which shall be provided to District: 
 
The Voluntary Compensation Endorsement; and 
Broad Form All States Endorsement; and 
The Longshoremen’s and Harbor Workers endorsement, where applicable to the work under this 
Construction Services Agreement; and 
Waiver of Subrogation Endorsement. 
 
If insurance is maintained, the workers’ compensation and employer’s liability program may utilize 
either deductibles or provide coverage excess of a self-insured retention, subject to written approval 
by District. 
 
Before beginning work, Contractor shall furnish to District satisfactory proof that it has taken out, 
for the period covered by the work under this Construction Services Agreement, full compensation 
insurance for all persons employed directly by it or through Subcontractors in carrying out the work 
contemplated under this Construction Services Agreement all in accordance with the “Workers’ 
Compensation and Insurance Act,” Division 4 of the Labor Code of the State of California and any 
acts amendatory thereof. 
 



36 
 

Contractor shall sign a Certificate Regarding Workers’ Compensation Insurance which is attached 
to this Construction Services Agreement as Exhibit “G” incorporated herein by this reference. 
 
Builder’s Risk “All Risk” Insurance 
 
In addition to the requirement that the District carry property insurance for any portion of the Project 
occupied by the District as set forth in the Sublease, at all times during the performance of the work, 
Contractor shall maintain builder’s risk insurance on an “all risk” completed value basis (including 
flood) upon the entire project which is the subject of this Construction Services Agreement. Coverage 
shall include completed work as well as work in progress. Such insurance shall include District as 
Loss Payee. 
 
Such insurance may have a deductible clause but not to exceed the smaller of: five percent (5%) of the 
total amount of the contract; or $10,000.00 for all risks, except flood. The deductible for flood shall not 
exceed five percent (5%) of the total amount of this Construction Services Agreement. 
 
Such policies shall name District as Additional Insured. 
 
The making of Sublease Payments or Tenant Improvement Payments to Contractor shall not be 
construed as creating an insurable risk interest by or for District or be construed as relieving Contractor 
or his Subcontractors of responsibility for loss from any direct physical loss, damage, or destruction 
occurring prior to final acceptance of the work by District. 
 
The insurer shall waive all rights of subrogation against District and shall provide District with a 
Certificate of Insurance for Builder’s Risk insurance coverage and evidence of waiver of rights of 
subrogation against District. 
 
Minimum Policy Limits Required 
 
The following insurance limits are required for the Construction Services Agreement:  

Combined Single Limit 
 
Commercial General Liability $1,000,000 per occurrence/$3,000,000 aggregate for bodily injury, 
personal injury and property damage 
 
Automobile Liability  $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage 
  
Employer’s Liability $1,000,000 per occurrence 

Builder’s Risk Completed value or replacement cost 
 
 
Evidence Required  
 
Prior to execution of this Construction Services Agreement, Contractor shall file with District evidence 
of insurance from an insurer or insurers certifying to the coverage of all insurance required herein. 
Such evidence shall include original copies of the ISO CG 2010 (ed. 11/85) (or insurer’s equivalent) 



37 
 

signed by the insurer’s representative and Certificate of Insurance (ACORD Form 25 S or equivalent). 
All evidence of insurance shall be certified by a properly authorized officer, agent, or qualified 
representative of the insurer and shall certify the names of the insured, any additional primary insureds, 
where appropriate, the type and amount of the insurance, the location and operations to which the 
insurance applies, and the expiration date of such insurance. 
 
Policy Provisions Required 
 
All policies of Contractor shall contain a provision for 30 days’ advance written notice by the 
insurer(s) to District of any cancellation. Statements that the carrier “will endeavor” and “that failure 
to mail such notice shall impose no obligation and liability upon the company, its agents, or 
representatives,” will not be acceptable on certificates. 
 
All policies shall contain a provision stating that Contractor’s policies are primary insurance and that 
the insurance of District or any named insureds shall not be called upon to contribute to any loss. 
 
Qualifying Insurers 
 
All policies required shall be issued by acceptable insurance companies, as determined by District, 
which satisfy the following minimum requirements: 
 
Insurance carriers shall be qualified to do business in California and maintain an agent for service of 
process within the state. Such insurance carrier shall have not less than an “A” policyholder’s rating 
and a financial rating of not less than “Class X” according to the latest Best Key Rating Guide. 
 
Additional Insurance Provisions 
 
The foregoing requirements as to the types and limits of insurance coverage to be maintained by 
Contractor and any approval of said insurance by District is not intended to and shall not in any manner 
limit or qualify the liabilities and obligations otherwise assumed by Contractor pursuant to this 
Construction Services Agreement, including but not limited to, the provisions concerning 
indemnification. 
 
If at any time during the life of the Construction Services Agreement Contractor fails to maintain in 
full force any insurance required by the Construction Services Agreement, including required limits, 
District may acquire the necessary insurance for Contractor and deduct the cost thereof from the Tenant 
Improvement Payments made by District. 
 
Contractor shall include all Subcontractors as insureds under its policies or shall furnish separate 
certificates and endorsements for each Subcontractor. Contractor shall make certain that any and all 
Subcontractors hired by Contractor are insured in accordance with this Construction Services 
Agreement. If any Subcontractor’s coverage does not comply with the foregoing provisions, 
Contractor shall indemnify and hold District harmless from any damage, loss, cost, or expense, 
including attorneys’ fees, incurred by District as a result thereof. 
 



38 
 

If coverage is written on a “claims made” basis, the Certificate of Insurance shall clearly so state. In 
addition to the coverage requirements specified above, such policy shall provide that: 
 
a. The policy retroactive date coincides with or precedes Contractor’s commencement of work 
under this Construction Services Agreement (including subsequent policies purchased as renewals or 
replacements). 
 
Contractor will make every effort to maintain similar insurance during the required extended period of 
coverage following expiration of this Construction Services Agreement, including the requirement of 
adding all additional insureds. 
 
If insurance is terminated for any reason, Contractor shall purchase an extended reporting provision of 
at least two years to report claims arising in connection with the Construction Services Agreement. 
 
The policy allows for reporting of circumstances or incidents that might give rise to future claims. 
 
District may require Contractor to provide complete copies of all insurance policies in effect for the 
duration of the Project. 
 
Neither District nor the Board, nor any member of the Board, nor any of the directors, officers, 
employees, agents, or volunteers shall be personally responsible for any liability arising under or by 
virtue of the Construction Services Agreement. 
 
SECTION 35. HOLD HARMLESS 
 
District, its Board, and each member of the Board, its officers, employees, and agents shall not be 
liable for, and Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless District, its Board, and each 
member of the Board, its officers, employees, and agents from and against any and all claims, 
demands, liability, judgments, awards, fines, mechanics’ liens or other liens, labor disputes, losses, 
damages, injuries to property or persons (including death), expenses, charges or costs of any kind or 
character, including attorneys’ fees and court costs (herein collectively referred to as “Claims”), which 
arise out of or are in any way connected to the work covered by this Construction Services Agreement 
arising either directly or indirectly from any act, error, omission, or negligence of Contractor or its 
contractors, consultants, architects, engineers, licensees, agents, servants, or employees, including, 
without limitation, Claims caused by the concurrent act, error, omission, or negligence of District or 
its agents or employees. However, Contractor shall have no obligation to defend or indemnify District 
from a Claim to the extent that such Claim was caused by the active or sole negligence or willful 
misconduct of District or its agents or employees. 
 
SECTION 36. RESOLUTION OF AGREEMENT CLAIMS 
 
All public works claims, as defined below, that arise out of or relate to this Construction Services 
Agreement, or a breach thereof, shall include a statement as to whether Contractor elects to proceed 
pursuant to Claim Resolution Process 1 or Claim Resolution Process 2, as identified below.  Contractor 
must follow the requirements of its selected Claim Resolution Process throughout its entire claim. 
 



39 
 

Claim Resolution Process 1 
 
Claim Resolution Process 1 is set forth in Public Contract Code Section 9204, as that section may be 
amended from time to time, and applies to any claim between Contractor and District, without regard 
to the claim’s dollar amount. 
 
For purposes of Claim Resolution Process 1, the term “claim” has the meaning set forth in Public 
Contract Code Section 9204(c)(1), as that section may be amended from time to time.  Section 
9204(c)(1) currently defines “claim” to mean a separate demand by Contractor sent by registered mail 
or certified mail with return receipt requested for one or more of the following:  (a) A time extension, 
including, without limitation, for relief from damages or penalties for delay assessed by District under 
this Construction Services Agreement; (b) Payment by District of money or damages arising from 
work done by, or on behalf of, Contractor pursuant to this Construction Services Agreement and 
payment for which is not otherwise expressly provided or to which the claimant is not otherwise 
entitled; and/or (c) Payment of an amount that is disputed by District. 
 
C. Claim Resolution Process 2 
 
1. Claim Resolution Process 2 is set forth in Public Contract Code Section 20104 et seq., as those 
sections may be amended from time to time, and applies only to claims between Contractor and District 
valued at Three Hundred Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars ($375,000) or less.   
 
2. For purposes of Claim Resolution Process 2, the term “claim” has the meaning set forth in 
Public Contract Code Section 20104(b)(2), as that section may be amended from time to time.  Section 
20104(b)(2) currently defines “claim” to mean a separate demand by Contractor for (a) a time 
extension, (b) payment of money or damages arising from work done by, or on behalf of, Contractor 
pursuant to the Construction Services Agreement and payment of which is not otherwise expressly 
provided for or the claimant is not otherwise entitled to, or (c) an amount the payment of which is 
disputed by District. 
 
SECTION 37. SUBSTITUTION OF SECURITY 
 
In accordance with Public Contract Code Section 22300, District will permit the substitution of 
securities for any moneys withheld by District to ensure performance under the Construction Services 
Agreement. At the request and expense of Contractor, securities equivalent to the amount withheld 
shall be deposited with District, or with a state or federally chartered bank as the escrow agent. Upon 
satisfactory completion of the Construction Services Agreement the securities shall be returned to 
Contractor. 
 
SECTION 38. TITLE TO WORK 
 
Title to all work completed and in the course of Construction paid for by District and title to all 
materials on account of which payment has been made by District to Contractor shall vest in District 
pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Site Lease and Sublease. 
 



40 
 

SECTION 39. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
 
The Contract Documents shall be executed, and/or initialed as appropriate, in duplicate by District and 
Contractor. The Contract Documents are complementary, and what is required by any one shall be as 
binding as if required by all. The intention of the Contract Documents is to include all labor, services, 
and materials reasonably necessary for the proper execution of the work. 
 
It is not intended that work and/or services not covered under any heading, section, branch, class, or 
trade of the specifications shall be supplied, unless it is required elsewhere in the Contract Documents 
or is reasonably inferable therefrom as being necessary to produce the intended results, in which case 
such work and/or services shall be supplied by Contractor. Words which have well-known technical 
or trade meanings are used herein in accordance with such recognized meanings. Mutual agreement 
shall be reached with respect to words which do not have a well-known technical or trade meaning and 
the definition of which come into question. 
 
Drawings and specifications are intended to be fully cooperative and to agree. All drawing and 
specification changes shall be dated and sequentially recorded. All modifications to drawings and 
specifications shall be interpreted in conformity with the Contract Documents, which shall govern, 
unless otherwise specified. 
 
Documents on the Project Site.   Contractor shall keep one copy of all Contract Documents, including 
addenda, change orders, Division 1, Title 21 of the California Code of Regulations, Parts 1-5 and 12 
of Title 24, and Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations, and the prevailing wage documents 
shall be kept in good order and shall be available to District’s Representative, Architect and its 
representatives.  Contractor shall be acquainted with and comply with the provisions of said Titles 21, 
22 and 24 as they relate to this Project.  (See particularly Duties of Contractor, Title 24 California Code 
of Regulations, section 4-343.) Contractor shall also be acquainted with and comply with all California 
Code of Regulations provisions relating to this Project, particularly Titles 17, 19, 21, 22 and 24.)  
Contractor shall also make available all books, records, accounts, contracts, bids, etc. upon request by 
District. 
 
Record “As Built” Drawings.  Contractor shall maintain a clean, undamaged set of contract drawings 
and shop drawings.  In addition to maintaining one complete set of record drawings (herein referred to 
as “as-builts”), Contractor shall require each trade contractor/subcontractor to do its own as-builts.  The 
trade contractor/subcontractor as-builts shall contain information showing clean and clear drawings 
with horizontal and vertical controls suitable for conversion to electronic media. Graphic quality must 
be equal to clean and clear original drawings; adequacy of the drawings shall be determined by District 
or Architect. Contractor shall mark the set to show the actual installation where the installation varies 
from the work as originally shown.  Contractor shall mark whichever drawings are most capable of 
showing conditions fully and accurately where shop drawings are used, and shall record a cross-
reference at the corresponding location on the contract drawings. Contractor shall give particular 
attention to concealed elements that would be difficult to measure and record at a later date.  Contractor 
shall use colors to distinguish variations in separate categories of the work.  Contractor shall organize 
record drawings sheets into manageable sets, bound with durable paper cover sheets and shall print 
suitable title, dates, and other identification on the cover of each set.  At the end of the Project, 
Contractor shall provide District with a complete set of as-built drawings.  The complete set shall 



41 
 

contain information showing clean and clear drawings with horizontal and vertical controls suitable 
for conversion to electronic media.  Graphic quality must be equal to clean and clear original drawings; 
adequacy of the drawings shall be determined by District or Architect.  The as-builts must show the 
entire site for each major trade, including but not limited to water, sewer, electrical, data, telephone, 
cable, fire, alarm, gas, and plumbing. 
 
SECTION 40. REQUEST FOR SUBSTITUTIONS 
 
For purposes of this provision, the term “substitution” shall mean the substitution of any material, 
process, or article that is substantially equal or better in every respect to that indicated or specified in 
the Construction Documents. 
 
Pursuant to Public Contract Code section 3400(b), District may make a finding designating certain 
products, things, or services by specific brand or trade name for the statutorily enumerated purposes.  
These findings if made, as well as the products and their specific brand or trade names that must be 
used for the Project may be found in Exhibit “A” of this Construction Services Agreements. 
 
Unless specifically designated in Exhibit “A” of this Construction Services Agreement, whenever in 
specifications any material, process, or article is indicated or specified by grade, patent, or proprietary 
name or by name of manufacturer, such specifications shall be deemed to be used for the purpose of 
facilitating the description of the material, process, or article desired and shall be deemed to be followed 
by the words “or equal.” Contractor may, unless otherwise stated, offer for substitution any material, 
process or article which shall be substantially equal or better in every respect to that so indicated or 
specified.  However, District has adopted certain uniform standards for certain materials, processes 
and articles. Except as otherwise provided in paragraph D. below, if any material, process or article 
offered for substitution by Contractor is not, in the opinion of District and Architect, substantially equal 
or better in every respect to that specified, Contractor shall furnish the material, process, or article 
specified. The burden of proof as to the equality of any material, process or article shall rest with 
Contractor. 
 
Contractor shall submit requests together with substantiating data for substitution of any “or equal” 
material, process or article no later than 35 days after the Project commencement date in the Notice to 
Proceed for the Project.  Provisions authorizing submission of “or equal” substitution justification data 
shall not in any way authorize an extension of time for performance of this Construction Services 
Agreement.  Furthermore, if a proposed “or equal” substitution request is rejected, Contractor shall be 
responsible for including the specified material, process or article for the Project.  District shall not be 
responsible for any costs of Contractor associated with “or equal” substitution requests.  District has 
the complete and sole discretion to determine if a material, process or article is an “or equal” material, 
process, or article that may be substituted. 
 
For purposes of the above, data required to substantiate requests for substitution of an “or equal” 
material, process, or article shall include a signed affidavit from Contractor stating that the substituted 
“or equal” material, process, or article is equivalent to that specified in the specification in every way 
except as listed on the affidavit.  Substantiating data shall also include any and all illustrations, 
specifications, and other relevant data including catalogue information which describes the requested 
substituted “or equal” material, process, or article and substantiates that it is an “or equal” to the 



42 
 

material, process, or article specified. In addition, the submittal documentation must also include a 
statement of the cost implications of the substitution being requested stating whether and why the 
substitution of the “or equal” material, process, or article will reduce or increase the GMP.  The 
substantiating data must also include information regarding the durability and lifecycle cost of the 
requested substituted “or equal” material, process or article.  Failure to submit all the needed 
substantiating data, including the signed affidavit, to Architect in a timely fashion so that the 
substitution can be adequately reviewed may result in the rejection of the proposed substitution.  
District is not obligated to review multiple substitution submittals for the same product or item due to 
Contractor’s failure to submit a complete package initially. 
 
Time limitations in this Section must be complied with strictly and in no case will an extension of time 
for completion be granted because of Contractor’s failure to request the substitution of an alternative 
item at the times and manner set forth in the above paragraph. Further, Contractor shall bear the costs 
of all engineering work associated with the review of submittals for substitution of equals. 
 
In the event Contractor furnishes a material, process, or article which is more expensive than that 
specified, the difference in cost of such material, process, or article so furnished shall be borne by 
Contractor. 
 
Contractor agrees to include the provisions of this Section in all subcontractor bid documents. 
 
SECTION 41. COMPLIANCE WITH STATE STORM WATER PERMIT FOR 
CONSTRUCTION 
 
The Project is subject to the State Water Resources Control Board (State Water Board) National 
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System General Permit for Waste Discharge Requirements for 
Discharges of Storm Water Runoff Associated with Construction Activity (“Permit”).  Such 
requirements include the preparation and implementation of a Storm Water Pollution Prevention 
Plan (“SWPPP”) and/or implementation of local storm water requirements, which prohibit the 
discharge of pollutants from the construction site into the receiving waters of the United States 
(collectively herein, the “Storm Water Requirements”).  The District shall be responsible for the 
(1) preparation of the SWPPP, (2) filing of the Notice of Intent, (3) obtaining the Permit, and (4) 
periodic oversight of the SWPPP. 
Contractor shall be responsible for implementing and complying with the provisions of the Permit 
and the SWPPP, removing SWPPP controls that are not needed, and complying with the standard 
provisions, monitoring and reporting requirements as required by the Permit. Contractor shall 
provide copies of all reports and monitoring information to the District, Architect and the District's 
third party SWPPP consultant. 
 
Contractor shall comply with the lawful requirements of any applicable municipality, the County, 
drainage district, and other local agencies regarding discharges of storm water to separate storm 
drain system or other watercourses under their jurisdiction, including applicable requirements in 
municipal storm water management programs. 
 
Failure to comply with the Permit is in violation of federal and state law.  Contractor hereby agrees 
to indemnify and hold harmless the District, its Board members, officers, agents, employees and 



43 
 

authorized volunteers from and against any and all claims, demands, losses or liabilities of any 
kind or nature which the District, its Board members, officers, agents, employees and authorized 
volunteers may sustain or incur for noncompliance with the Permit arising out of or in connection 
with the Project, except for liability resulting from the sole negligence, willful misconduct or active 
negligence of the District, its Board members, officers, agents, employees or authorized 
volunteers.  The District may seek damages from Contractor for delay in completing the Project 
caused by Contractor’s failure to comply with the Permit. 
 
SECTION 42. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY CLAUSE 
 
Contractor herein agrees not to discriminate in its recruiting, hiring, promotion, demotion, or 
termination practices on the basis of race, religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, age, 
physical handicap, or other protected class in the performance of this Construction Services Agreement 
and to comply with the provisions of the following laws: 
 
California Fair Employment and Housing Act (Government Code section 12900 et seq.), and any 
amendments thereto, prohibiting discrimination or harassment of an employee or applicant because 
of race, religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical disability, mental disability, medical 
condition, genetic information, marital status, age, sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, 
sexual orientation, or military or veteran status; 
 
Federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 USC 2000e et seq.), and any amendments thereto, prohibiting 
discrimination in employment on the basis of race, color, national origin, religion, or sex; Title I of 
the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 USC 12101 et seq.) prohibiting discrimination against 
qualified individuals with a disability in hiring and employment practices; 
 
The Age Discrimination in Employment Act (29 USC 621 et seq.), and any amendments thereto, 
prohibiting age discrimination in employment against individuals who are at least forty years of age; 
 
California Labor Code prohibiting discrimination in any aspect of employment or opportunity for 
employment based on actual or perceived sexual orientation; and 
 
Any other laws or regulations prohibiting discrimination as may be applicable to Contractor. 
 
SECTION 43. COMPLIANCE WITH DTSC GUIDELINES – IMPORTED SOIL/SOILS 
INSPECTION 
 
If the Project requires the use of imported soils, Contractor shall be responsible to use and shall certify 
that the imported material it uses is free of any hazardous and/or toxic substance or material of any 
nature or type as defined in California Law and the California Health and Safety Code. District 
reserves the right to reject any imported material that has come from agricultural or commercial land 
uses. Contractor must notify District of the source of material and comply with all applicable Regional 
Water Quality Control Board rules, regulations, and resolutions and when applicable, with the 
guidelines of the Department of Toxic Substances Control (“DTSC”). 
 



44 
 

Unless otherwise provided, when a soils investigation report obtained from test holes at the site is 
available, such report shall not be a part of this Construction Services Agreement.  Nevertheless, 
with respect to any such soils investigation and/or geotechnical report regarding the Site, it shall be 
the responsibility of Contractor to review and be familiar with such report.  Any information 
obtained from such report or any information given on drawings as to subsurface soil condition or 
to elevations of existing grades or elevations of underlying rock is approximate only, is not 
guaranteed, and does not form a part of this Construction Services Agreement, unless otherwise 
specifically provided.  Contractor is required to make a visual examination of the Site and must 
make whatever tests it deems appropriate to determine the underground condition of the soil.  
Limited soil tests and subsurface investigations, if any, are available for review and consideration 
by Contractor and were conducted for the purpose solely as a matter of convenience and general 
information for Contractor and Contractor is expected to review and be familiar with such 
information.  No representation is made by District or Architect that the information provided is 
completely representative of all conditions and materials which may be encountered.  If such a 
report is referenced in the Contract Documents for performance of the Project, such reference shall 
be to establish minimum requirements only.  Further, no representation is made by District or 
Architect that information provided is solely adequate for the purposes of construction.  District 
disclaims responsibility for interpretations by Contractor of soil and subsurface investigation, such 
as in protecting soil-bearing values, rock profiles, presence and scope of boulders and cobbles, soil 
stability and the presence, level, and extent of underground water.  Contractor shall determine 
means, methods, techniques, and sequences necessary to achieve the required characteristics of 
completed work.  Conditions found after execution of the Construction Services Agreement to be 
materially different from those reported and which are not customarily encountered in the 
geographic area of the Project shall be governed by the provisions of this Construction Services 
Agreement for unforeseen conditions. 
 
SECTION 44. PATENTS; ROYALTIES, AND INDEMNITIES 
 
Contractor shall hold and save District and its officers, agents, and employees harmless from 
liability of any nature or kind, including cost and expense, for or on account of any patented or 
unpatented invention, process, article, or appliance manufactured or used in the performance of this 
Construction Services Agreement, including its use by District, unless otherwise specifically 
stipulated in this Construction Services Agreement. 
 
SECTION 45. EXCISE TAX 
 
If under federal excise tax law any transaction hereunder constitutes a sale on which a federal excise 
tax is imposed and the sale is exempt from such excise tax because it is a sale to a state or local 
government for its exclusive use, District, upon request, will execute a certificate of exemption 
which will certify (a) that District is a political subdivision of the state for the purposes of such 
exemption and (b) that the sale is for the exclusive use of District.  No excise tax for such materials 
shall be included in the GMP. 
 



45 
 

SECTION 46. PROHIBITED INTERESTS 
 
No official of District and no District representative who is authorized in such capacity and on behalf 
of District to negotiate, make, accept, or approve, or to take part in negotiating, making, accepting, 
or approving any architectural, engineering, inspection, construction, or material supply contract or 
any subcontract in connection with the construction of the Project, shall be or become directly or 
indirectly interested financially in this Construction Services Agreement or any part thereof.  No 
officer, employee, architect, attorney, engineer, or inspector of or for District who is authorized in 
such capacity and on behalf of District to exercise any executive, supervisory, or other similar 
functions in connection with construction of the Project, shall become directly or indirectly 
interested financially in this Construction Services Agreement or in any part thereof. 
 
SECTION 47. DRUG-FREE WORK PLACE, NO ASBESTOS AND HAZARDOUS 
MATERIALS CERTIFICATION 
 
Drug-Free Workplace Certification 
 
Contractor shall, for all contracts involving state funds, submit a “Drug-Free Workplace 
Certification.”  This form is attached hereto as Exhibit “F” and must be signed under penalty of 
perjury and dated prior to commencing work on the Project. 
 
Asbestos and Other Hazardous Materials Certification 
 
Contractor shall execute and submit an “Asbestos and Other Hazardous Materials Certification.”  This 
form is attached hereto as Exhibit “H” and must be signed under penalty of perjury and dated prior to 
commencing work on the Project. 
 
Contractor, further, is aware that should asbestos-containing materials be installed by Contractor in 
violation of this certification, or if removal of asbestos-containing-materials is part of the Project, 
decontamination and removal will be performed in accordance with the requirements of all applicable 
laws and will meet the following criteria: 
 
Decontamination and removal of work found to contain asbestos or work installed with asbestos-
containing equipment shall be done only under the supervision of a qualified consultant, 
knowledgeable in the field of asbestos abatement and accredited by the Environmental Protection 
Agency (“EPA”). 
 
The asbestos removal contractor shall be an EPA accredited contractor qualified in the removal of 
asbestos and shall be chosen and approved by the asbestos consultant who shall have sole discretion 
and final determination in this matter. 
 
The asbestos consultant shall be chosen and approved by District which shall have sole discretion 
and final determination in this matter. 
 
The work will not be accepted until asbestos contamination is reduced to levels deemed acceptable 
by the asbestos consultant. 



46 
 

 
If removal of asbestos-containing materials is part of the Project, the cost of all asbestos removal, 
including, but not necessarily limited to, the cost of the asbestos removal contractor, the cost of the 
asbestos consultant, analytical and laboratory fees, time delays, and additional costs that may be 
incurred by District shall be borne entirely by Contractor. 
 
Hold Harmless: Interface of work for the Project with work containing asbestos shall be executed by 
Contractor at its risk and at its discretion with full knowledge of the currently accepted standards, 
hazards, risks, and liabilities associated with asbestos work and asbestos-containing products. By 
execution of the Construction Services Agreement, Contractor acknowledges the above and agrees to 
the fullest extent permitted by law to hold harmless District, its Board, and each member of the Board, 
its officers, employees, agents, representatives, including its Architect and assigns, for all asbestos 
liability which may be associated with this work. Contractor further agrees to instruct its employees 
with respect to the above-mentioned standards, hazards, risk, and liabilities. 
 
SECTION 48. LAWS AND REGULATIONS 
 
Contractor shall give all notices and comply with all laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations bearing 
on the conduct of work as indicated and specified.  If Contractor observes that drawings and 
specifications are at variance therewith, it shall promptly notify Architect in writing and any 
necessary changes shall be adjusted as provided in this Construction Services Agreement for 
changes in work.  If Contractor performs any work knowing it to be contrary to such laws, 
ordinances, rules, and regulations, and without such notice to District’s Architect, it shall bear all 
costs arising therefrom. 
 
Contractor shall be responsible for familiarity with the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) 
(42 USC Section 12101 et seq.). Installations of equipment and other devices shall be in compliance 
with ADA regulations. 
 
SECTION 49. EXECUTION OF OTHER DOCUMENTS 
 
The Parties to this Agreement shall cooperate fully in the execution of any and all other documents 
in the completion of any additional actions that may be necessary or appropriate to give full force 
and effect to the terms and intent of the Contract.  
 
SECTION 50. EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS 
 
This Agreement must be executed in counterparts such that the signatures may appear on separate 
signature pages. A copy, or an original, with all signatures appended together, shall be deemed a 
fully executed Agreement. 
 
SECTION 51. AGREEMENT MODIFICATIONS 
 
No waiver, alteration, or modification of any of the provisions of this Construction Services Agreement 
shall be binding upon either District or Contractor unless the same shall be in writing and signed by 
both District and Contractor. 



47 
 

 
SECTION 52. NOTICES 
 
All communications in writing between District and Contractor, including, without limitation, 
applications for payment, shall be deemed to have been received by the addressee if delivered to the 
person for whom they are intended or if sent by registered mail, return receipt requested, or by fax 
followed by regular mail, addressed as follows: 
 
If to Contractor: 
 
S+B James Construction California Inc.  
1450 Halyard Drive, Suite 11A 
West Sacramento, CA 95691 
 
If to District: 
 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
1018 C Street, Suite 210 
Galt, CA 95632 
Attn: Lois Yount, Superintendent 
 
With a Copy to: 
 
Parker & Covert LLP 
2520 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 190 
Sacramento, CA 95833 
Attn:  Addison Covert 
 
For the purpose of directions, the representative from Contractor shall be Brian McCarthy and 
Hayden Meyers, and District’s representative shall be Lois Yount, unless otherwise specified in 
writing. 
 
SECTION 53. THIRD-PARTY CLAIMS 
 
Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 9201, District shall provide Contractor with timely 
notification of the receipt of any third-party claim, relating to the Construction Services Agreement. 
District is entitled to recover its reasonable costs incurred in providing such notification. 
 
SECTION 54. ASSIGNMENT 
 
Neither party to this Construction Services Agreement shall assign this Construction Services 
Agreement or sublet it as a whole without the written consent of the other, nor shall Contractor assign 
any monies due or to become due to it hereunder without the prior written consent of District. 
 



48 
 

SECTION 55. HEADINGS/RECITALS 
 
The headings herein contained are inserted only as a matter of convenience and reference and are not 
meant to define, limit, or describe the scope or intent of the Contract Documents or in any way to 
affect the terms and provisions set forth herein.  The Recitals set forth at the beginning of this 
Construction Services Agreement are hereby incorporated herein by this reference. 
 
SECTION 56. INTEGRATION/MODIFICATION 
 
This Construction Services Agreement represents the entire understanding of District and Contractor 
as to those matters contained herein; it supersedes and cancels any prior oral or written 
understanding, promises, or representations with respect to those matters covered herein; and it shall 
not be amended, altered, or changed except by a written agreement signed by the parties hereto.  
The Contract is intended as the complete and exclusive statement of the Parties’ agreement pursuant 
to California Code of Civil Procedure section 1856. 
 
SECTION 57. APPLICABLE LAW/PROVISIONS REQUIRED BY LAW DEEMED 
INSERTED; SEVERABILITY 
 
The terms and provisions of this Construction Services Agreement shall be construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of California. If any action is brought in a court of law to enforce any term 
of this Construction Services Agreement, the action shall be brought in a state court situated in the 
County of Sacramento, State of California, unless a court finds jurisdiction or venue is only proper in 
a federal court or a court outside this county. 
 
Each and every provision of law and clause required by law to be inserted in this Construction 
Services Agreement shall be deemed to be inserted herein and the Construction Services Agreement 
shall be read and enforced as though it were included herein.  If through mistake or otherwise any 
such provision is not inserted, or is not correctly inserted, then upon application of either party, the 
Construction Services Agreement shall forthwith be physically amended to make such insertion or 
correction. 
 
If a court of competent jurisdiction shall hold any provision of the Contract invalid or unenforceable, 
then such holding is not invalidate or render unenforceable any other provision hereof. 
 
SECTION 58. SUCCESSION OF RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 
 
Contractor, by execution of this Agreement, acknowledges that Contractor has read this Agreement 
and the other Contract Documents, understands them, and agrees to be bound by their terms and 
conditions. All rights and obligations under this Construction Services Agreement shall inure to and 
be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties hereto. 
 



49 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have, by their duly authorized representatives, executed 
this Construction Services Agreement, in duplicate, as of the day and year first above written. 

CONTRACTOR: DISTRICT: 
 
S+B James Construction California Inc. Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
 
By: _______________________________  By: _______________________________ 
 
Its: _______________________________  Its: ________________________________ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

Scope of Work 
 

 
The Scope of Work depicted in the Plans and Specifications for the Project, which are on file at 
District’s office, are incorporated herein as if set out in full. 

  
Construction of a 60 ft. x 100 ft. (6,000 SF) pre-engineered metal building and site improvements to 
house the new school district Maintenance Shop. The scope will include two maintenance bays, shop 
area, office, and restroom. Site improvements include underground utilities, grading, and asphalt 
paving for vehicle circulation and parking.  Domestic water, sanitary sewer, and storm drain shall be 
extended from existing services.  A new water service from the main will be provided to serve the 
building’s automatic fire sprinkler system and the additional site fire hydrant. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

EXHIBIT “B” 
 
 

Master Budget 
 

See Attached  
 

 









 

EXHIBIT “C” 
 

Payment Bond 
 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS:  That 

WHEREAS, the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District (“District”), by Board action 
on October 18, 2023, has awarded to S+B James Construction California Inc., designated as the 
“Principal,” a contract for the work described as follows: 

Construction Services for the Maintenance and Operations Shop Project; 

WHEREAS, said Principal is required by Division 4, Part 6, Title 3, Chapter 5 
(commencing at section 9550) of the California Civil Code to furnish a bond in connection with 
said contract; 

NOW THEREFORE, we the Principal and _____________________________________ 
as Surety, an admitted Surety insurer pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure, section 995.120, are 
held and firmly bound unto the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District in the penal sum of 
_____________________________________ (this amount being not less than one hundred 
percent (100%) of the total bid price of the contract awarded by the District to the Principal), lawful 
money of the United States of America for the payment of which sum well and truly to be made, 
we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns, jointly and 
severally, firmly by these presents. 

THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH that if said Principal or its heirs, 
executors, administrators, successors, assigns, or subcontractors shall fail to pay any person or 
persons named in Civil Code section 9100 or fail to pay for any materials, provisions, or other 
supplies, used in, upon, for, or about the performance of the work contracted to be done, or for any 
work or labor thereon of any kind, or for amounts due under the Unemployment Insurance Code, 
with respect to work or labor thereon of any kind, or shall fail to deduct, withhold, and pay over 
to the Employment Development Department, any amounts required to be deducted, withheld, and 
paid over by section 13020 of the Unemployment Insurance Code with respect to work and labor 
thereon of any kind, or for amounts due as withholding tax pursuant to Section 18663 of the 
Revenue and Taxation Code, then said Surety will pay for the same, in or to an amount not 
exceeding the amount hereinabove set forth, and also will pay in case suit is brought upon this 
bond, such reasonable attorney’s fees as shall be fixed by the court, awarded and taxed as provided 
in Division 4, Part 6, Title 3, Chapter 5 (commencing at section 9550) of the California Civil Code. 

This bond shall inure to the benefit of any of the persons, companies, and corporations 
named in section 9100 of the California Civil Code, so as to give a right of action to them or their 
assigns in any suit brought upon this bond. 

It is further stipulated and agreed that the Surety of this bond shall not be exonerated or 
released from the obligation of this bond by any change, extension of time for performance, 
addition, alteration or modification in, to, or of any contract, plans, specifications, or agreement 



 

pertaining or relating to any scheme or work of improvement hereinabove described or pertaining 
or relating to the furnishing of labor, materials, or equipment therefore, nor by any change or 
modification of any terms of payment or extension of the time for any payment pertaining or 
relating to any scheme or work of improvement hereinabove described, nor by any rescission or 
attempted rescission of the contract, agreement or bond, nor by any conditions precedent or 
subsequent in the bond attempting to limit the right of recovery of claimants otherwise entitled to 
recover under any such contract or agreement or under the bond, nor by any fraud practiced by 
any person other than the claimant seeking to recover on the bond and that this bond be construed 
most strongly against the Surety and in favor of all persons for whose benefit such bond is given, 
and under no circumstances shall Surety be released from liability to those for whose benefit such 
bond has been given, by reason of any breach of contract between the District and original 
contractor or on the part of any obligee named in such bond, but the sole conditions of recovery 
shall be that claimant is a person described in sections 8400 and 8402 of the California Civil Code, 
and has not been paid the full amount of his or its claim and that Surety does hereby waive notice 
of any such change, extension of time, addition, alteration or modification herein mentioned. 

Surety companies executing bonds must possess a certificate of authority from the 
California Insurance Commissioner authorizing them to write surety insurance defined in 
California Insurance Code section 105, and if the work or project is financed, in whole or in part, 
with federal, grant or loan funds, Surety’s name must also appear on the Treasury Department’s 
most current list (Circular 570 as amended). 

Any claims under this bond may be addressed to: 
__________________________________ (Name and Address of Surety) 
__________________________________ 
__________________________________ 
 
__________________________________ (Name and Address of agent or representative 
__________________________________ for service of process in California, 
__________________________________ if different from above) 
 
__________________________________ (Telephone Number of Surety and agent or 
__________________________________ representative for service of process in 

California) 
  



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this instrument under their several 
seals this ____ day of ___________, 2023, the name and corporate seal of each corporate party 
being hereto affixed and these presents duly signed by its undersigned representative, pursuant to 
authority of its governing body. 

(Corporate Seal of     ______________________________ 
Principal, if Corporation)    Principal (Proper Name of Corporation) 
 

By: ___________________________________ 
 
______________________________________ 
Signature 

______________________________________ 
Title 

 
 

By: ___________________________________ 
 
______________________________________ 
Signature 
______________________________________ 
Title 

(Corporate Seal of Surety)    ______________________________________ 
Surety 
 
By: ___________________________________ 

Attorney-in-Fact 

(Attach Attorney-in-Fact 
Certificate and Required 
Acknowledgments 



 

EXHIBIT “D” 
 

Performance Bond 
 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS:  That 

WHEREAS, the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District (hereinafter referred to as 
“District”), by Board action on October 18, 2023 has awarded to S+B James Construction 
California Inc.as Principal, hereinafter designated as “Principal,” a contract for the work described 
as follows: 

Construction Services for the Maintenance and Operations Shop Project 

AND WHEREAS, said Principal is required under the terms of said contract to furnish a 
bond for the faithful performance and guaranty of said contract. 

NOW, THEREFORE, we the Principal and the undersigned Surety, an admitted Surety 
insurer pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 995.120 are held and firmly bound to the 
District, in the sum of _____________________________________ Dollars ($__________) (this 
amount being not less than one hundred percent (100%) of the total bid price of the contract 
awarded by the District to the Principal), lawful money of the United States of America, for 
payment of which sum well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors and 
administrators, successors or assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. 

THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH THAT if the hereby bounded 
Principal, its heirs, executors, administrators, successors or assigns, shall in all things stand to and 
abide by and will and truly keep and perform all the undertakings, terms, covenants, conditions 
and agreements in the said contract and any alteration thereof made as therein provided, including, 
but not limited to the provisions regarding contract duration and liquidated damages, all within the 
time and in the manner therein designated in all respects according to their true intent and meaning; 
and shall faithfully fulfill guarantees of all materials and workmanship; and indemnify, defend and 
save harmless the District, its officers and agents, as stipulated in said contract, then this obligation 
shall become null and void; otherwise, it shall be and remain in full force and effect. 

As a condition precedent to the satisfactory completion of the contract, the above obligation 
shall hold good for a period of one (1) year after the acceptance of the work by District, during 
which time if Principal shall fail to make full, complete, and satisfactory repair and replacements 
and totally protect the District from loss or damage made evident during the period of one (1) year 
from the date of acceptance of the work, and resulting from or caused by defective materials or 
faulty workmanship, the above obligation in penal sum thereof shall remain in full force and effect.  
However, anything in this paragraph to the contrary notwithstanding, the obligation of Surety 
hereunder shall continue so long as any obligation of Principal remains. 

Whenever Principal shall be, and is declared by the District to be, in default under the 
contract, the District having performed the District’s obligations thereunder unless excused by 



 

Principal’s breach or default, the Surety shall promptly either remedy the default, or shall 
promptly: 

1. Complete the contract in accordance with its terms and conditions; or 

2. Obtain a bid or bids for completing the contract in accordance with its terms and 
conditions, and upon determination by Surety of the lowest responsible bidder, 
arrange for a contract between such bidder and the District, and make available as 
work progresses (even though there should be a default or succession of defaults 
under the contract or contracts of completion arranged under this paragraph) 
sufficient funds to pay the cost of completion less the balance of the contract price, 
but not exceeding, including other costs and damages for which Surety may be 
liable hereunder, the amount set forth in the first executory paragraph hereof.  The 
term “balance of the contract price” as used in this paragraph shall mean the total 
amount payable to Principal by the District under the contract and any 
modifications thereto, less the amount previously properly paid by the District to 
the Principal. 

Surety expressly agrees that the District may reject any contractor or subcontractor which 
may be proposed by Surety in fulfillment of its obligations in the event of default by the Principal. 

Surety shall not utilize Principal in completing the contract nor shall Surety accept a bid 
from Principal for completion of the work if the District, when declaring the Principal in default, 
notifies Surety of the District’s objection to Principal’s further participation in the completion of 
the work. 

No right of action shall accrue on this bond to or for the use of any person or corporation 
other than the District named herein or the successors or assigns of the District.  Any suit under 
this bond must be instituted before the expiration of two (2) years from the date on which final 
payment under the contract falls due or is made, whichever occurs later. 

FURTHER, the said Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that no change, 
extension of time, alteration or modification of the contract documents as defined in the 
Construction Services Agreement (“Contract Documents”), or of the work to be performed 
thereunder, or the specifications accompanying the same shall in any way affect its obligations on 
this bond; and it does hereby waive notice of any change, extension of time, alteration or 
modification of the Contract Documents, or of work to be performed thereunder, or of the 
specifications. 

Principal and Surety agree that if the District is required to engage the services of an 
attorney in connection with enforcement of the bond, Principal and Surety shall pay District’s 
reasonable attorney’s fees incurred, with or without suit, in addition to the above sum. 

FURTHER, the said Surety hereby agrees that in the event suit is brought upon this bond 
by the District and judgment is recovered, the Surety shall pay all costs incurred by the District in 
such suit, including a reasonable attorney’s fees to be fixed by the court. 



 

Surety companies executing bonds must possess a certificate of authority from the 
California Insurance Commissioner authorizing them to write surety insurance defined in 
California Insurance Code section 105, and if the work or project is financed, in whole or in part, 
with federal, grant or loan funds, Surety’s name must also appear on the Treasury Department’s 
most current list (Circular 570 as amended). 

Any claims under this bond may be addressed to: 
__________________________________ (Name and Address of Surety) 
__________________________________ 
__________________________________ 
 
__________________________________ (Name and Address of agent or representative 
__________________________________ for service of process in California, 
__________________________________ if different from above) 
 
__________________________________ (Telephone Number of Surety and agent or 
__________________________________ representative for service of process in 

California) 

[Signatures follow on next page] 



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this instrument under their several 
seals this ____ day of ___________, 2023, the name and corporate seal of each corporate party 
being hereto affixed and these presents duly signed by its undersigned representative, pursuant to 
authority of its governing body. 
 

(Corporate Seal of     ________________________________ 
Principal, if Corporation)    Principal (Proper Name of Corporation) 
 

By: ___________________________________ 
 
______________________________________ 
Signature 

______________________________________ 
Title 

 
 

By: ___________________________________ 
 
______________________________________ 
Signature 
______________________________________ 
Title 

 
 

(Corporate Seal of Surety)    ______________________________________ 
Surety 
 
By: ___________________________________ 

Attorney-in-Fact 

(Attach Attorney-in-Fact 
Certificate and Required 
Acknowledgments)



 

EXHIBIT “E” 
 

 Fingerprint Certification 
 
 
 CONTRACTOR CERTIFICATION 
 

With respect to the Construction Services Agreement dated ___________ __, 2023 by and 
between Galt Joint Union Elementary School District (“District”) and 
______________________________. (“Contractor”) for the provision of construction services, 
Contractor hereby certifies to the District’s governing board that it has completed the criminal 
background check requirements of Education Code section 45125.1 and that none of its employees 
that may come in contact with District pupils have been convicted of a violent felony listed in 
Penal Code section 667.5(c) or a serious felony listed in Penal Code section 1192.7(c). 
 

____________________________  ____________________________  
Contractor’s Representative Date 

 

  
 
 CONTRACTOR EXEMPTION 
 

Pursuant to Education Code section 45125.1, the Galt Joint Union Elementary School 
District (“District”) has determined that ___________________ (“Contractor”) is exempt from the 
criminal background check certification requirements for the Construction Services Agreement 
dated __________ __, 2023 by and between the District and Contractor (“Contract”) because: 
 

[   ] The Contractor’s employees will have limited contact with District students 
during the course of the Contract; or 

 
[   ] Emergency or exceptional circumstances exist. 

 
 

____________________________  ___________________________ 
District Official Date 

 
 
 
 
 



 

SUBCONTRACTOR’S CERTIFICATION 
 

The Galt Joint Union Elementary School District (“District”) entered into a contract for 
construction services with__________________________ Company (“Contractor”) on or about 
___________ __, 2023 (“Contract”).  This certification is submitted by 
_________________________, a subcontractor or consultant to the Contractor for purposes of 
that Contract (“Subcontractor”).  Subcontractor hereby certifies to the District’s governing board 
that it has completed the criminal background check requirements of Education Code section 
45125.1 and that none of its employees that may come in contact with District pupils have been 
convicted of a violent felony listed in Penal Code section 667.5(c) or a serious felony listed in 
Penal Code section 1192.7(c). 
 
 

____________________________  ________________________ 
Subcontractor’s Representative  Date 

 
  

 
 SUBCONTRACTOR’S EXEMPTION 

The Galt Joint Union Elementary School District (“District”) entered into a contract for 
construction services with ______________________________Company (“Contractor”) on or 
about ____________ __, 2023 (“Contract”).  Pursuant to Education Code section 45125.1, the 
District has determined that ______________________________________, a subcontractor or 
consultant to the Contractor for purposes of that Contract (“Subcontractor”), is exempt from the 
criminal background check certification requirements for the Contract because: 
 

[   ] The Subcontractor’s employees will have limited contact with District 
students during the course of the Contract; or 

 
[   ] Emergency or exceptional circumstances exist. 

 
 

____________________________  _____________________________ 
District Official Date



 

EXHIBIT “F” 
 

Drug-Free Workplace Certification 
 
 

This Drug-Free Workplace Certification form is part of the Construction Services Agreement 
made by and between the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District (“District”) and 
_______________________________(“Contractor”) for the __________________Elementary 
School _________________________ (“Project”) pursuant to the requirements mandated by 
Government Code section 8350 et seq., the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1990.  The Drug-Free 
Workplace Act of 1990 requires that every person or organization awarded a contract or grant for 
the procurement of any property or service from any State agency must certify that it will provide 
a drug-free workplace by doing certain specified acts.  In addition, the Act provides that each 
contract or grant awarded by a State agency may be subject to suspension of payments or 
termination of the contract or grant, and the contractor or grantee may be subject to debarment 
from future contracting, if the contracting agency determines that specified acts have occurred. 

Pursuant to Government Code section 8355, every person or organization awarded a contract or 
grant from a State agency shall certify that it will provide a drug-free workplace by doing all of 
the following: 

a) Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, 
dispensation, possession or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the person’s or 
organization’s workplace and specifying actions which will be taken against employees for 
violations of the prohibition; 

b) Establishing a drug-free awareness program to inform employees about all of the 
following: 

1) The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace; 

2) The person’s or organization’s policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace; 

3) The availability of drug counseling, rehabilitation and employee-assistance 
programs; 

4) The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations; 

c) Requiring that each employee engaged in the performance of the contract or grant be given 
a copy of the statement required by subdivision (a) and that, as a condition of employment 
on the contract or grant, the employee agrees to abide by the terms of the statement. 

I, the undersigned, agree to fulfill the terms and requirements of Government Code section 8355 
listed above and will (a) publish a statement notifying employees concerning the prohibition of 
controlled substance at the workplace, (b) establish a drug-free awareness program, and (c) require 
that each employee engaged in the performance of the Contract be given a copy of the statement 



 

required by section 8355(a) and requiring that the employee agree to abide by the terms of that 
statement. 

I also understand that if the District determines that I have either (a) made a false certification 
herein, or (b) violated this certification by failing to carry out the requirements of section 8355, 
that the contract awarded herein is subject to termination, suspension of payments, or both.  I 
further understand that, should I violate the terms of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1990, I may 
be subject to debarment in accordance with the requirements of section 8350 et seq. 

I acknowledge that I am aware of the provisions of Government Code section 8350 et seq. and 
hereby certify that I will adhere to the requirements of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1990. 
 

CONTRACTOR 
      ________________________________ 
 
Date:____________________ By:    
 
  Its:   
 
Date:____________________ By:    
 
  Its:   
 



 

EXHIBIT “G” 
 

Contractor’s Certificate Regarding Workers’ Compensation 
 

Labor Code section 3700 states that 

“Every employer except the state shall secure the payment of compensation in one or more 
of the following ways: 

(a) By being insured against liability to pay compensation by one or more insurers duly 
authorized to write compensation insurance in this state. 

(b) By securing from the Director of Industrial Relations a certificate of consent to self-
insure either as an individual employer, or as one employer in a group of employers, which may 
be given upon furnishing proof satisfactory to the Director of Industrial Relations of ability to self-
insure and to pay any compensation that may become due to his or her employees. 

(c) For any county, city, city and county, municipal corporation, public district, public 
agency, or any political subdivision of the state, including each member of a pooling arrangement 
under a joint exercise of powers agreement (but not the state itself), by securing from the Director 
of Industrial Relations a certificate of consent to self-insure against workers’ compensation claims, 
which certificate may be given upon furnishing proof satisfactory to the director of ability to 
administer workers’ compensation claims properly, and to pay workers’ compensation claims that 
may become due to its employees.  On or before March 31, 1979, a political subdivision of the 
state which, on December 31, 1978, was uninsured for its liability to pay compensation, shall file 
a properly completed and executed application for a certificate of consent to self-insure against 
workers’ compensation claims.  The certificate shall be issued and be subject to the provisions of 
section 3702.” 

I am aware of the provisions of section 3700 of the Labor Code which require every 
employer to be insured against liability for workers’ compensation or to undertake self-insurance 
in accordance with the provisions of the code, and I will comply with such provisions before 
commencing the performance of the work of this contract. 

If contractor is a corporation, this Certification shall be executed by either the chairman of 
the board, president, or vice president, and if a different individual, also by the secretary, chief 
financial officer, or assistant treasurer. 
 
 [Signatures follow on next page] 



 

 
________________________________ 
(Proper Name of Contractor) 

 
By: ________________________________ 

 
____________________________________ 
(Signature of Authorized Signor) 

 
____________________________________ 
(Title of Signor) 

 
By: 

_________________________________ 
 
 

____________________________________ 
(Signature of Authorized Signor) 

 
____________________________________ 
(Title of Signor) 

 

(In accordance with Article 5 (commencing at section 1860), Chapter 1, Part 7, Division 2 
of the Labor Code, the above certificate must be signed and filed with the awarding body prior to 
performing any work under this contract.) 
  



 

EXHIBIT “H” 
 

ASBESTOS AND OTHER HAZARDOUS MATERIALS CERTIFICATION 
 
This Asbestos and Other Hazardous Materials Certification form is part of the Construction 

Services Agreement made by and between the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
(hereinafter referred to as the “District”) and ____________________________(the “Contractor”) 
for the ______________________________ (hereinafter referred to as the “Project”). 
 

To the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, in completing the Contractor’s work 
for the Project, no material furnished, installed, or incorporated into the Project will contain, or in 
itself be composed of, any asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), any material listed by the 
federal or state EPA or federal or state health agencies as a hazardous material, or any other 
material defined as being hazardous under federal or state laws, rules, or regulations. 
 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing is true and correct.   
 

Executed on this ____ day of ______________, 2023 at _________________________ 
 

 
_____________________________ 
Name of Contractor (Print or Type) 

 
 
By:  _________________________________ By:  ________________________________ 
 Signature Signature 
 

__________________________________ ________________________________ 
  Print Name Print Name 

 
__________________________________ ________________________________ 
Title  Title 

 
 
Subscribed and sworn before me 
this ____ day of ______________, 202__ 
 
_____________________________________ 
Notary Public in and for 
the State of California 
 
My Commission Expires:  ________________ 
  



 

 
EXHIBIT “I” 

 
 

Monthly Skilled and Trained Workforce Report 
 

Public Contract Code section 2600 et seq. and Education Code § 17407.5 
 
Unless the Lease-Leaseback Entity is exempt, the following report must be provided to the District 
monthly while the Project is being performed. Receipt of this complete report is a condition of 
Tenant Improvement Payments under the Construction Services Agreement, and, as mandated by 
Public Contract Code section 2602(b) and (c), the District must withhold further payments until a 
complete report is provided.  Further, if a monthly report does not demonstrate compliance with 
Public Contract Code section 2601(d), District shall withhold further payments until Contractor 
provides a plan to achieve substantial compliance with respect to the relevant apprenticeable 
occupation prior to completion of the Project. 
 
Please note the following when completing the chart:  
 

- Skilled Journeypersons are workers who have either graduated from an apprenticeship 
program or have sufficient “on-the-job experience.”  
 

- 60% of Skilled Journeypersons must be graduates of an apprenticeship program. 
 

- 30% of Skilled Journeypersons in the following trade categories must be graduates of an 
apprentice ship program:  

o acoustical installer, bricklayer, carpenter, cement mason, drywall installer or lather, 
marble mason, finisher, or setter, modular furniture or systems installer, operating 
engineer, pile driver, plasterer, roofer or waterproofer, stone mason, surveyor, 
teamster, terrazzo worker or finisher, and tile layer, setter, or finisher.  
 

- Skilled Journeyperson requirements do not apply to Teamsters.  
 

- If workers were in an occupation prior to 1995 when DSA did not offer an apprenticeship 
program, those workers can count for up to ½ of the required percentage of Skilled 
Journeypersons that have graduated from an apprenticeship program.  

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
I certify that only a skilled and trained workforce has been present on the project and that the 
information shown above is accurate and complete to the best of my knowledge and belief. Further, 
I am duly authorized to certify the report on behalf of the company identified below and 
acknowledge that submission of this report is an express condition of payment. 
 
 
 
 
 
Dated:                             Name ____________________________ 
 

Signature      
 
Title       

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This report if a public record under the California Public Records Act, Government Code 
sections 6250 et seq., and is open to public inspection.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Trade Number 
of 

Workers  

Number of 
Registered 

Apprentices 

Number of 
Skilled 

Journeypersons 

Required 
Percentage 

of 
Graduate 

Apprentices  

Number of 
Graduates 

from an 
Apprentice 
Program 

Percentage 
of 

Graduates 
from an 

Apprentice 
Program 

Number of 
Workers 

with on the 
Job 

Experience  

        

        

        

        



 

EXHIBIT “J” 
 

NON-COLLUSION DECLARATION  
(Public Contract Code § 7106)  

  
  

Owner:  GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT  
  
Project:   ___________________________ 
  ___________________________  
 Galt, Sacramento County, CA  
    
The undersigned declares:  
  
I am the ___________ [TITLE] of___________________, the party making a bid 
proposal  (“bid”) on the above referenced Project. The bid is not made in the interest of, or 
on behalf of, any undisclosed person, partnership, company, association, organization, or 
corporation.  The bid is genuine and not collusive or sham.  The bidder has not directly or 
indirectly induced or solicited any other bidder to put in a false or sham bid.  The bidder 
has not directly or indirectly colluded, conspired, connived, or agreed with any bidder or 
anyone else to put in a sham bid, or to refrain from bidding.  The bidder has not in any 
manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement, communication, or conference with 
anyone to fix the bid price of the bidder or any other bidder, or to fix any overhead, profit, 
or cost element of the bid price, or of that of any other bidder.  All statements contained in 
the bid are true.  The bidder has not, directly or indirectly, submitted his or her bid price or 
any breakdown thereof, or the contents thereof, or divulged information or data relative 
thereto, to any corporation, partnership, company, association, organization, bid 
depository, or to any member or agent thereof to effectuate a collusive or sham bid, and 
has not paid, and will not pay, any person or entity for such purpose.  

  
Any person executing this declaration on behalf of a bidder that is a corporation, 
partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, or any 
other entity, hereby represents that he or she has full power to execute, and does execute, 
this declaration on behalf of the bidder.  
  
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing is true and correct and that this declaration is executed on _____________, 
2023, at _____________[CITY], California.  
  
             
             
                [Name] 



 

Exhibit “K” 
 

IRAN CONTRACTING ACT OF 2010 CERTIFICATION 
(Public Contract Code sections 2202‐2208) 

  
As required by California Public Contract Code (“PCC”) section 2204 for contracts of 
$1,000,000 or more, please insert your bidder or proposer name and Federal ID Number 
and complete one of the options below.  Please note that California law establishes 
penalties for providing false certifications, including civil penalties equal to the greater of 
$250,000 or twice the amount of the contract for which the false certification was made; 
contract termination; and three‐year ineligibility to bid on contracts. (PCC §2205.)  

OPTION #1 ‐ CERTIFICATION   
I, the official named below, certify I am duly authorized to execute this certification on 
behalf of the bidder or  proposer identified below, and the bidder or proposer identified 
below is not on the current list of persons engaged in investment activities in Iran created 
by California Department of General Services (“DGS”)  and is not a financial institution 
extending twenty million dollars ($20,000,000) or more in credit to another 
person/vendor, for 45 days or more, if that other person/vendor will use the credit to 
provide goods or services in the energy sector in Iran and is identified on the current list 
of persons engaged in investment activities in Iran created by DGS. (PCC §2204(a).)  
  

Bidder or Proposer Name (Printed):  
             

Federal ID 
Number :  
      
   
   

  
       
     
By (Authorized Signature)        

 

  
       
     
Printed Name and Title of Person Signing         

 

  
Date Executed:      ,2023 

  
Executed in       

     
     



 

OPTION #2 – EXEMPTION   
Pursuant to Public Contract Code sections 2203(c) and (d), a public entity may permit a 
bidder or proposer engaged in investment activities in Iran, on a case‐by‐case basis, to be 
eligible for, or to bid on, submit a proposal for, or enter into or renew, a contract for 
goods and services.  If you have obtained an exemption from the District from the 
certification requirement under the Iran Contracting Act of 2010, please fill out the 
information below, and attach documentation demonstrating the exemption approval.    
  

Bidder or Proposer Name (Printed):  
                  

Federal ID Number:  
        

  
 
                 
By (Authorized Signature)  

Executed in      
        
        

  
                  
Printed Name and Title of Person Signing  

  
 Date Executed:       , 2023  

  
 



 

EXHIBIT “L” 
 

SUFFICIENT FUNDS DECLARATION  
(Labor Code Section 2810)   

  
   

To:   Galt Joint Union Elementary School District  
  
Project:   _________________________  
               _________________________ 
 Galt, Sacramento County, CA  
  
 I, ______________[NAME], declare that I am the [TITLE] of 
___________________________, the entity making a Guaranteed Maximum Price 
(“GMP”) cost proposal for the above-referenced Project, and that the GMP cost proposal 
submitted by ____________________. includes sufficient funds to permit 
________________________. and all approved subcontractors to comply with all local, 
state or federal labor laws or regulations during the Project, including payment of 
prevailing wages.  
  
 I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing is true and correct.  
  
  
  
Date: __________________ , 2023                  
          Signature  
  
  Print Name:        
       
    
      Print Title:          
      



 

EXHIBIT “M” 
 

WITHHOLD LOG  
  

Instructions  
  
When grounds for withholding from a sublease payment arise, enter the date on the next blank 
line and fill in the third through fifth columns.  
  
When some or all of a previously withheld amount may be released due to the reason for the 
withholding being fully or partially resolved, enter the date on the next blank line and fill in the 
sixth through eighth columns.  In the seventh column, be sure to refer to the line that describes 
the initial withholding.  
  

  Date  Amount 
Withheld  

Reason for 
Withholding  

Number of 
the Sublease  

Payment 
from which  
Funds Were  

Withheld  

Portion of  
Withhold  

Amount that  
Has Been  
Released  

Reason for Release  Number of 
the Sublease  
Payment to 
which Funds 
Were Added  

1    $       $       
2    $       $       
3    $       $       
4    $       $       
5    $       $       
6    $       $       
7    $       $       
8    $       $       
9    $       $       

10    $       $       
11    $       $       
12    $       $       
13    $       $       
14    $       $       
15    $       $       
16    $       $       
17    $       $       
18    $       $       
19    $       $       
20    $       $       



 

EXHIBIT “N” 
 

PRIME BIDDER GOOD FAITH EFFORT WORKSHEET 
  
  This worksheet is to be used to assist the Prime Bidder in meeting the 3% DVBE participation goal              

 
  

BIDDER’S NAME  
  

  

BUSINESS ADDRESS  CONTACT PERSON  

TELEPHONE NUMBER  
  
  

OWNER  COUNTY  

 
GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS:  

This worksheet is to be used to assist you in meeting the 3 percent DVBE participation goal.  If specific 
information is not provided for Parts I through III, you do not meet the test of the “Good Faith Effort” 
and cannot so certify.  If you are qualifying based on a “Good Faith Effort” you must include this form 
with your bid/proposal to the Owner.    

 

PART I – CONTACTS  
To identify DVBE subcontractors/suppliers for participation in your bid/proposal, contact must be made with 
each of the following categories.  It is recommended that you contact several DVBE organizations.  

 
  

CATEGORY  TELEPHONE NUMBER  DATE CONTACTED  PERSON CONTACTED  
  
1.   Owner  

      

         
2.   Office of Small Business and DVBE 

Services (OSDS).  OSDS publishes a 
searchable list of Disabled Veteran 
Business Enterprises   

  Internet address – 
http://www.bidsync.com/DPXBisCASB  

  
(916) 375-4940  
  
  

    

         
  
3.  DVBE Organizations (List):  

      

         
          
         
         
         
         



 

         
         
         
         
         
  
4.   Write “recorded message” in this 

column, if applicable.  

      

  
PRIME BIDDER GOOD FAITH EFFORT WORKSHEET         
              PAGE 2 OF 2  
  
PART II – ADVERTISEMENTS You must make at least two (2) advertisements, one (1) in a paper that 

focuses on DVBE and one (1) in a trade paper. Advertisements should be published at least 14 days prior to 
bid/proposal opening; if you cannot advertise 14 days prior, advertise as soon as possible and provide an 
explanation. (Advertisements must be published in time to allow for a reasonable response). Advertisements 
must include that your firm is seeking DVBE participation, the project name and location, your firm’s name, 
your firm’s contact person, and phone number.  

  
Attach copies of advertisements to this form.  

FOCUS/TRADE PAPER NAME  
CHECK ONE     

DATE OF ADVERTISEMENT  TRADE         FOCUS  

        

        

        

        

        
  
PART III – DVBE SOLICITATIONS List DVBE subcontractors/suppliers that were invited to bid.  Use the following 

instructions to complete the remainder of this section (read the three columns as a sentence from left to right). If you 
need additional space to list DVBE solicitations, please use a separate page and attach to this form.  

  
IF THE DVBE…..  THEN…..   AND…..  
 Was selected to participate  Check "yes" in the "SELECTED" column, i the 

applicable dollar amount in Part III  
Prime Bidder Certification  
  

nclude 
of the  

 Include a copy of their DVBE 
letter  from OSBCR.  

 Was not selected to participate    Check "no" in the "SELECTED" colum n  State why in the "REASON  
NOT SELECTED" column.  
  

 Did not respond to your solicitation    Check the "NO RESPONSE" column     

      DISABLED VETERANS BUSINESS ENTERPRISES CONTACTED  

SELE CTED  
REASON NOT SELECTED 

This section must be 
completed  

NO   
RESPONSE       NO  



 

YES    

          

          

          

          

          

          

          
 

IMPORTANT NOTE:  
Please be aware that certification of the "Good Faith Effort" may only be made if you fully complete Parts I, II, and 
III on              both sides of this form.  A copy of this form must be retained by you and may be subject to a future 
audit.  
  

CERTIFICATION  
I, _______________________________________________________ certify that I am the bidder's Chief Executive                      
Officer and that I have made a diligent effort to ascertain the facts with regard to the representations made herein.  In 
making              this certification, I am aware of Section 12650 et seq. of the Government Code providing for the 
imposition of treble damages for making false claims.  
  
                           
     

 
  
 
  

SIGNATURE OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  DATE  

                            



 

PRIME BIDDER CERTIFICATION OF DISABLED 
VETERAN BUSINESS ENTERPRISE PARTICIPATION  

      To be completed by the Prime Bidder                                      
PART I – IDENTIFICATION INFORMATION  
BIDDER’S NAME  
  
  

BUSINESS ADDRESS  TELEPHONE NUMBER  

SCHOOL DISTRICT  
  
  

COUNTY  APPLICATION NO.  

  
PART II – METHOD OF COMPLIANCE WITH DVBE PARTICIPATION GOALS – Include this form 
and    
any other applicable documents listed in this table with your bid/proposal.  Read the three 
columns in the table below as sentences from left to right.  Check the appropriate box to 
indicate your method of committing the contract dollar amount.  
  
NOTE:  Architectural, engineering, environmental, land surveying or construction 
management firms must indicate their method of compliance by marking the appropriate box 
A, B, C, or D after selection by the District and before the contract is signed.    
  

YOUR BUSINESS  
ENTERPRISE  

  

AND YOU  AND YOU  

A.  is Disabled Veteran 
owned and your 
forces, will perform at 
least 3 percent of this 
contract  

  

will include a copy of 
your DVBE letter from 
the Office of Small 
Business and  
DVBE Services (OSDS).  

  

B.  is Disabled Veteran 
owned but is unable 
to perform the 3 
percent of this 
contract with your 
forces  

  

will use DVBE 
subcontractors/ 
suppliers to bring the 
contract participation 
to at least 3 percent  

will include a copy of each DVBE’s 
letter from OSDS (including yours, 
if applicable).  
  

C.  is not Disabled 
Veteran owned  

  

will use DVBE 
subcontractors/ 
suppliers for at least 
3 percent of this 
contract  

  



 

D.  is unable to meet 
the required 
participation goals   

  

will complete a Good 
Faith Effort to obtain 
DVBE participation  

will include the Prime Bidder’s 
Good Faith Effort Worksheet.  

  
Note:  An Office of Small Business and DVBE Services (OSDS) letter must be attached for 
each DVBE participating in the contract.  The DVBE letter is obtained by application through 
the OSDS and must be provided at the time of bid opening.  If the letter is not provided, the 
bid may be deemed nonresponsive and may be ineligible for award of the contract.    

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

PRIME BIDDER CERTIFICATION OF DISABLED VETERAN 
BUSINESS ENTERPRISE PARTICIPATION  
 
PART III – DVBE DOLLAR PARTICIPATION OF BID/PROPOSAL – Architectural, engineering, 
land surveying or construction management firms complete this part after selection by the district and 
before the contract is signed. 
 
Show deductive alternate(s) in parenthesis. For more alternates/base bids, use a separate page to show 
items. 
 

A. If your business enterprise is a DVBE, list in the 
appropriate column the total dollar amount of your 
bid to be performed by your own participation. 

D. Enter the dollar amount of the bid/proposal to be 
performed by non-DVBE firms. Note: The line is 
the sum of the prime and subcontractor(s) non-
DVBE dollar participation. 

 
B.  List all your DVBE subcontractors/suppliers. Enter 

in the appropriate column the dollar amount for 
each of your subcontractor/suppliers. 

E. Enter the sum of the column totals from Line C and 
Line D. Note: Please be aware that the final 
determination of DVBE compliance is made based 
on the contract amount resulting from the district’s 
acceptance or rejection of alternates.  

C. Enter the total of Lines A and B for each column.  
 
 
 BASE 

BID/PROPOSAL 
ALTERNATE 
# 1 

ALTERNATE 
# 2 

ALTERNATE 
# 3 OR BASE 
BID B 

ALTERNATE 
# 4 OR BASE 
BID C 

ALTERNATE # 5 
(Modernization or 
Reconstruction Only) 

A. Prime Bidder, 
if DVBE (own 
participation) 

$ $ $ $ $ $ 

B. DVBE 
Subcontractor or 
Supplier 

      

1.       

2.       

3.       

4.       

C. Subtotal (A & 
B) 

      

D. Non-DVBE       

E. Total Bid       

 
 



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: October 18, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.433 
Board Consideration of Approval of Resolution 
No. 8; Authorizing Continued Funding 
Application to the California Department of 
Education 

Presenter: Kuljeet Nijjar Action Item: XX 
  Information Item:      
 
 

California State Preschool Program (CSPP) Contractors who intend to continue services into the 
next contract year must complete and submit a Continued Funding Application (CFA). A copy of the 
Board of Trustee’s resolution authorizing a person(s) to sign the fiscal year 2024-2025 CFA and all 
related contract documents for the Governing Board must be included in the submission to the 
California Department of Education (CDE). 
 
Board approval is recommended. 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

Resolution No. 8 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONTINUED FUNDING APPLICATION 

 

This resolution is adopted to certify approval of the Governing Board to submit the Continued 
Funding Application (CFA) to the California Department of Education (CDE). If the CFA is 
approved by the CDE, the agency’s current California State Preschool Program contract and 
Prekindergarten and Family Literacy Support contract, if applicable, will be automatically 
renewed for fiscal year (FY) 2024–2025. This resolution further authorizes the designated 
representative(s) below to sign the CFA and all related FY 2024–2025 contract documents. 

NAME/S OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE/S TITLE/S 
Lois Yount Superintendent 

Kuljeet Nijjar Director of Educational Services 
Alejandra Garibay Chief Business Official 

 

Passed and adopted this 18th day of October 2023 by the Governing Board of the Galt Joint 
Union Elementary School District, Sacramento County, California. 

 

I, Casey Raboy, Clerk of the Governing Board of the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District, 
Sacramento County, in the State of California, certify that the foregoing is a complete, accurate 
and correct copy of a Resolution adopted by the said Board at a regular meeting thereof held at 
Galt City Hall Chamber, 380 Civic Drive, Galt.  The Resolution is on file in the office of said 
Board. 

 

        ______________________________ 
                                                                                                              Clerk 
 
Vote: 

Ayes:  ______ 

Noes:  ______ 

Abstain: ______ 

Absent: ______ 



1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632
209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information
Meeting Date: October 18, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.434

Board Consideration of Approval to 
Apply for the Bus Rebate Program 
through the US Environmental 
Protection Agency.

Presenter: Alejandra Garibay Action Item: XX
Information Item:

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has opened up the application
process for the Clean School Bus (CSB) Rebates program, as authorized by the
Bipartisan Infrastructure Law of 2021. The 2023 CSB Rebates program involves
several steps, including SAM.gov account registration, rebate application
submission, EPA review and selection, purchase order submission, payment
receipt, new bus delivery, existing bus replacement, and project closure. To begin
this process, the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District is required to provide
a signed School Board Awareness Certification. Participation in this program
allows the district to further its efforts in implementing and enforcing air pollution
strategies, clean fuel programs, and motor vehicle use reduction measures
outlined in Health and Safety Code Section 40961.




	Agenda
	Board Meeting Protocol
	Presentations & Recognitions
	Communication
	Reports
	232.427 Consent Calendar
	232.428 CC Items Removed
	232.429 Student Matter
	232.430 Public Hearing Resolution 6 School Facilites Needs Analysis
	232.431 Resolution 6 School Facilities Needs Analysis
	232.432 Resolution 7 Maintenance & Operations Shop Project
	232.433 Resolution 8 Auth Continued Funding App
	232.434 Bus Rebate Program 

	Name: Lois Yount
	Job Title: Superintendent
	Phone Number: 209-744-4545
	E-mail Address: superintendent@galt.k12.ca.us
	School District: [Galt Joint Union S.D.]
	Quarter: [Quarter 1 (Jul.–Sept.)]
	Year: 2023
	Total Number of Textbook Complaints: 0
	Number of Textbook Complaints Resolved: 0
	Number of Textbook Complaints Unresolved: 0
	Total Number of Emergency Facilities Complaints: 0
	Number of Emergency Facilities Complaints Resolved: 0
	Number of Emergency Facilities Complaints Unresolved: 0
	Total Number of VacancyMisassignment Complaints: 0
	Number of Vacancy/Misassignment Complaints Resolved: 0
	Number of Vacancy/Misassignment Complaints Unresolved: 0
	Resolution of Complaints: N/A
	Includes All UCP Complaints: On


